MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND SCIENCE OF UKRAINE SUMY NATIONAL AGRARIAN UNIVERSITY

Qualifying scientific work on the rights of the manuscript

GUO LIPING

UDC 637.5.04/.07

DISSERTATION

FORMATION OF FUNCTIONAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF PORK BY THE INFLUENCE OF VITAMIN D₃ ON THE DIFFERENTIAL MATERNAL LEVEL OF PIGS

Specialty 181 - Food Technology Field of study - Food Science and Technology

Submitted for a scientific degree of doctor of philosophy The dissertation contains the results of own research. The use of ideas, results and texts of other authors have references to the relevant source ______Liping Guo

Scientific supervisor: Sergiy Melnychuk,

Professor

A copy of the dissertation identical in content with other copies

ANNOTATION

Guo Liping Formation of functional and technological properties of pork by the influence of Vitamin D3 on the differential maternal level of pigs. - Qualifying scientific work on the rights of the manuscript.

The dissertation on competition of scientific degree of the candidate of food science (doctor of philosophy) in a specialty 181 "Food technology" – Sumy National Agrarian University, Sumy, 2022.

The thesis is devoted to providing development and scientific justification of meat production technology with improved functional and technological properties at the stage of embryonic development (or at the stage of formation of pig offspring). Pork quality is related to human health and is affected by many factors. The distribution and deposition of adipose tissue are the key factors affecting pork quality, and the fat content can affect the meat quality of pigs by changing the juiciness, tenderness, flavor and palatability of pork.

The first part introduces the factors that affect the formation of meat quality from the aspects of fat formation and its regulation, VD_3 physiological function and lipid metabolism, maternal nutrition level affecting the development of adipose tissue and skeletal muscle, animal meat quality characteristics and its influencing factors.

The study was conducted to investigate the effects of maternal VD₃ status during pregnancy on meat quality attributes, technological properties, and processing performance in offspring pigs by feeding trials, slaughter experiment, and meat quality analysis technology. The objective of this study was meat production technology with given functional and technological properties, the level of VD₃ in sows during pregnancy, lipid metabolism and the quality of offspring meat, and to supply scientific basis and implementation plan for early nutritional regulation technology of pork quality characteristics in offspring pigs.

The second part expounds the scientific problems, clarifies the selection of research objects and directions, and puts forward the scientific methods of applied research. According to the research purpose of the experiment, a complete work plan

was formulated, including feeding experiment, slaughtering experiment, analysis technology of potential factors related to meat quality characteristics, physical and chemical indexes of meat quality and relevant methods of storage capacity, in order to determine the best test scheme and implementation conditions. In order to achieve this test task, the research method and technical route were confirmed and described in detail.

The third part presents the results of the effect of VD₃ on the potential food factor of pork. It was found that at the age of 28 days, the concentrations of serum FT3, IGF-I and FT4 and the expression of *PPAR* γ in LD group were higher than those in ND group and HD group, while the expression of *ZFP423* and *VDR*, serum 25 (OH) D, leptin and insulin levels in LD group were significantly lower than those in ND group (*P*<0.05). In addition, the *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression ratio and *FAS* expression of piglets in HD group were higher than those in LD group and ND group (*P*<0.05).

At 150 days of age, compared with the offspring of ND and HD groups, the LD offspring had higher *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression ratio and *FAS mRNA* expression in subcutaneous adipose tissue, higher *HSL mRNA* expression in the *longissimus dorsal* muscle, and lower *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression ratio in the *longissimus dorsal* muscle. In addition, the average back fat thickness (**ABFT**), carcass fat, serum leptin and insulin levels of LD group were higher than those of ND or HD groups, while the levels of serum triglycerides (**TG**), free fatty acids (**FFA**) and intramuscular fat (**IMF**) were lower. Additionally, IMF content in offspring was negatively correlated with *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression ratio. At the same time, the carcass fat content of offspring pigs was positively correlated with *FAS* mRNA expression.

Maternal high-dose VD₃ supplementation decreased drip loss, shear force, total saturated fatty acids (**SFA**) content and n-6:n-3 ratio, while increased marbling score, subjective color score, *longissimus* muscle area, total monounsaturated fatty acids (**MUFA**) content, polyunsaturated fatty acids (**PUFA**) content, and the PUFA: SFA ratio.

2

Maternal high-dose VD₃ can significantly reduce the shear force, drip loss, total n-6: n-3 ratio and total saturated fatty acid (SFA) content of offspring pigs, and significantly increase the subjective color score, marbling score, total polyunsaturated fatty acids (**PUFA**) content, total monounsaturated fatty acids (**MUFA**) content, *longissimus dorsi* muscle area and the total PUFA: SFA ratio.

Through the study of potential food factors affecting pork quality, we found that Maternal VD₃ status during pregnancy have long-lasting impact on meat quality function and technological properties in offspring pigs. High-dose VD₃ maternal feeding can improve the pork quality function and technological properties of offspring by regulating key genes and serum hormones related to adipose tissue deposition. By adjusting the maternal VD₃ level during pregnancy, the pork quality characteristics of offspring were improved, and the scientific feeding scheme of VD₃ in early pregnancy sows was optimized.

The fourth part presents the results of physical-chemical indicators of meat quality and its ability to be stored.

The quality characteristics of *longissimus dorsi* muscle of offspring pigs during post slaughter storage showed that the water holding capacity (WHC) and pH value of HD group were higher than those of LD group, while the relaxation time of T_{21} in HD group was lower (P<0.05); Compared with ND group, the shear force in HD group was lower, while that in LD group was higher (P<0.05), Compared with LD group, the a* values in HD group and ND group were higher, while the b*, L* values and T_{22} relaxation time were lower (P<0.05). At the same time, postmortem storage after slaughter, the pH value in ND group, WHC in LD group, a* and L* value in ND and LD groups were decreased, but the b* value in ND and LD groups, T_{22} relaxation time in LD, ND and HD groups were increased (P<0.05).

The quality characteristics of the *longissimus dorsi* muscle of the offspring during frozen storage showed that the cooking loss, thawing loss, T_{22} and T_{21} relaxation time, b*, L*values of the *longissimus dorsi* muscle of the offspring increased significantly (*P*<0.05), while the shear force and a * values of the *longissimus dorsi* muscle of the offspring decreased significantly (*P*<0.05). In addition, the thawing loss,

b* and L* values, T_{22} relaxation time and shear force of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in LD group were higher compared with that in HD group (*P*<0.05). Meanwhile, compared with LD and ND groups, the offspring of HD group had lower T_{21} relaxation time and cooking loss of *longissimus dorsi* muscle (*P*<0.05), while LD group had lower a* value compared with HD and ND groups during frozen storage (*P*<0.05).

The quality properties of pork batters of offspring during cold storage period showed that compared with LD group, the L^{*}value, cooking loss, T_{22} and T_{21} relaxation time of HD group were lower, while hardness, a^{*} value, springiness, cohesiveness, and chewiness in pork batters of HD group were higher (*P*<0.05). Additionally, b^{*} values and cooking loss of ND and LD groups, T_{22} relaxation time and TPA index of LD, ND group and HD group increased with cold storage, while L* and a* values of ND group and LD group decreased with cold storage (*P*<0.05).

It is hereby proved that maternal high-dose VD_3 (3200 IU/kg basal diet) supplementation could improve meat quality function and technological properties, and prolong the freezing storage time of pork, and shelf life of pork and pork batters in offspring.

The fifth part presents the recommendations for improving the technology of meat production with given functional and technological properties. The 41^{st} day gestation sow is the key window period for regulating the quality function and technical characteristics of offspring pork. From the 41^{st} day of pregnancy to the farrowing period of sows, adjusting the level of VD₃ supplementation to 3200 IU/kg basic diet can significantly improve the quality characteristics and production performance of offspring pork.

Key words: pigs, pig offspring, pork, meat, fattening, meat quality, vitamin D3, pregnancy, fatty acids, genes, sensory evaluation, meat quality, technological indicators, nutritional value of meat, meat storage.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS SCOPUS / Web of Science publications

1. Guo, LP., Miao, Z.G., Ma, H.J., Melnychuk, S. (2020). Effects of maternal vitamin D₃ during pregnancy on *FASN* and *LIPE* mRNA expression in offspring pigs. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 158 (1-2), 128-135. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859620000210</u>. (*The applicant participated in research, analysis of the results and writing the article*).

2. Guo, LP., Miao, Z.G., Ma, H.J., Melnychuk, S. (2021). Effects of maternal vitamin D₃ status on quality traits of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage. *Livestock Science*, 243, 104372. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104372</u>. (*The applicant participated in research, analysis of the results and writing the article*).

3. Guo, LP., Miao, Z.G., Ma, H.J., Melnychuk, S. (2020). Effects of maternal vitamin D-3 concentration during pregnancy on adipogenic genes expression and serum biochemical index in offspring piglets. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 29, 125-131. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.22358/jafs/124041/2020</u>. (*The applicant participated in research, analysis of the results and writing the article*).

4. Guo, LP., Miao, Z.G., Ma, H.J., Melnychuk, S. (2020). Effects of maternal vitamin D-3 on quality and water distribution in pork of offspring pigs during frozen storage. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 29 (4), 330-337. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.22358/jafs/130781/2020</u>. (*The applicant participated in research, analysis of the results and writing the article*).

5. Guo, LP., Miao, Z.G., Ma, H.J., Melnychuk, S. (2021). Effects of maternal vitamin D₃ status on meat quality and fatty acids composition in offspring pigs. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 30, 173-178. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.22358/jafs/138652/2021</u>. (*The applicant participated in research, analysis of the results and writing the article*).

Conference papers

6. Liping Guo, Sergiy Melnychuk, Hanjun Ma. (2020). Effects of maternal vitamin D3 during pregnancy on meat quality attributes and chemical composition of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs. Asia Pacific meat science and Technology Conference and the 18th China Meat Science and Technology Conference (Hefei, China, 2020). (*PhD participant in carrying out of experimental research, processing of results, and writing the article*).

7. Liping Guo, Sergiy Melnychuk, Hanjun Ma (2020). Effects of Maternal Vitamin D3 during Pregnancy on Carcass Characteristics, Meat Quality and Fatty Acids Composition in Offspring Pigs. Asia Pacific meat science and Technology Conference and the 18th China Meat Science and Technology Conference (Hefei, China, 2020). (*PhD participant in carrying out of experimental research, processing of results, and writing the article*).

8. Liping Guo, Sergiy Melnychuk, Hanjun Ma (2020). Effects of maternal vitamin D3 status on quality traits and water distribution of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage. 2020 Asia Pacific meat science and Technology Conference and the 18th China Meat Science and Technology Conference (Hefei, China, 2020). (*PhD participant in carrying out of experimental research, processing of results, and writing the article*).

THE LIST OF SYMBOLS

MSCs	Mesodermal stem cells
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
C/EBP	CCAAT enhancer-binding protein
FAPs	Fibro/adipogeneic progenitors
IMF	Intramuscular fat
ZFP423	Zinc finger protein 423
SREBP-1	Sterol regulatory element binding protein 1
PPRE	PPARγ response element
RXR	Retinol X-receptor
FABP4	Fatty acid binding protein 4
AP2	Adipocyte lipid-binding protein 2
BMPs	Bone morphogenetic proteins
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
HSL	Hormone sensitive lipase
FAS	Fatty acids synthase
FFAs	Free fatty acids
ADD1	Adipocyte determination and differentiation 1
CPT1	Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1
KLFs	Kruppel like factors
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
Pref-1	Preadipocyte factor-1

ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor I
FT3	Free triiodothyronine
FT4	Free thyroxine
GADD45α	Growth arrest and DNA damage inducible protein 45 alpha
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
ETO	Eight twenty-one
SCD1	Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1
ASC	Adipose derived stem cells
RARs	Retinoic acid receptors
RAREs	Retinoic acid response element
ING1	Inhibitor of growth protein 1
$PDGFR\alpha^+$	Platelet-derived growth factor α positive
DKK1	Dikkopf 1
SFRP2	Secreted frizzled-related protein 2
WHC	Water holding capacity
LF-NMR	Low field nuclear magnetic resonance
L*	Lightness
a*	Redness
b*	Yellowness
TG	Triglycerol
ABFT	Average back fat thickness

SFA	Saturated fatty acids
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acids
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
TPA	Texture profile analysis
NRC	National research council
DE	Digestible energy
СР	Crude protein
Lys	Lysine
Met	Methionine
Cys	Cystine
ACTB	Beta-actin
SEM	Standard error of the mean.
ACC	Acetyl-COA carboxylase
GPDH	Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
MyoD	Myogenic Differentiation
WAT	White adipose tissue
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
MEFs	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
PGC-1	PPARγ coactivator-1

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	13
SECTION 1. ANALYSIS OF FACTORS AFFECTING THE FORMATION (ЭF
MEAT QUALITY	17
1.1 Adipose tissue formation and its regulatory mechanism	17
1.1.1 Classification and composition of adipose tissue	17
1.1.2 Adipogenesis	19
1.1.3 Structure and function of adipose tissue	19
1.1.4 From MSCs to mature adipocytes	20
1.1.5 Types of adipocytes	21
1.1.6 Adipocyte development	22
1.1.7 Molecular regulation of adipogenesis	23
1.2 Physiological functions of vitamin D and adipogenesis	28
1.2.1 VD Source and synthesis	28
1.2.2 VD absorption and metabolism	29
1.2.3 VD signalization	30
1.2.4 VDR	31
1.2.5 VD and adipogenesis	32
1.2.6 Role of vitamin D in adipose tissue	35
1.3 Effects of maternal nutrition on adipose tissue and skeletal muscle developme	ent
in offspring	38
1.3.1 Fetal programming of adipose tissue	39
1.3.2 Maternal nutrition and adipose tissue development in offspring	40
1.3.3 Fetal programming of skeletal muscle development	42
1.3.4 Maternal nutrition and muscle tissue development in offspring	44
1.4 Animal meat quality function, technology properties and its influencing factor	ors
	46
1.4.1 Meat quality technology properties	46
1.4.2 VD and meat quality function	48
1.4.3 Maternal nutrition and meat quality of offspring	48
1.5 Research purpose and plan of this experiment	49
1.5.1 Research purpose of this experiment	49
1.5.2 Research plan of this experiment	50
Conclusion in section 1	52
SECTION 2 OBJECTS AND SUBJECTS OF METHODS	53
2.1 Materials of research	53
2.2 Research Methods	55
2.2.1 Experimental Design	55
2.2.2 Slaughter and samples collection	56
2.3 Research Methods	59
2.3.1 Real-time PCR	59
2.3.2 Serum biochemistry analysis	60
2.3.3 Fatty Acids composition analysis	61

2.3.4 pH value measurement	61
2.3.5 Shear force	61
2.3.6 Color measurement	62
2.3.7 WHC	62
2.3.8 LF-NMR	63
2.3.9 Thawing loss	63
2.3.10 Cooking loss	63
2.3.11 TPA (Texture profile analysis)	64
2.3.12 Preparation of pork batters	64
2.4 Statistical analysis	65
2.5 Conclusions in section 2	65
SECTION 3 RESULTS OF THE STUDY OF THE EFFECT OF VD3 ON	THE
POTENTIAL FOOD FACTOR OF PORK	66
3.1 Effects of maternal VD3 on factors related to the formation of meat q	uality
function in offspring piglets	66
3.1.1 Gene expression	66
3.1.2 Blood biochemical index	67
3.1.3 Discussion	67
3.2 Effects of maternal VD_3 on the formation of meat quality function as	nd its
regulatory factors in offspring pigs	71
3.2.1 Carcass characteristics and meat quality	71
3.2.2 Fatty acids composition of pork in offspring	72
3.2.3 Serum biochemical index.	74
3.2.4 FAS and HSL gene expression	74
3.2.5 Correlation between genes expression and meat quality parameters	76
3.2.6 Discussion	76
3.3 Conclusions in section 3	81
SECTION 4 RESEARCH OF PHYSICAL-CHEMICAL INDICATORS OF M	ÍEAT
QUALITY AND ITS ABILITY TO BE STORED	82
4.1 Effects of maternal vitamin D_3 status on pork quality traits in offspring	g pigs
during postmortem storage	82
4.1.1 pH value	82
4.1.2 Shear force	83
4.1.3 WHC	83
4.1.4 Meat color	84
4.1.5 LF-NMR	86
4.1.6 Discussion	88
4.2 Effects of maternal vitamin D ₃ on meat quality technological propert	ies in
offspring pigs during frozen storage	91
4.2.1 Meat color	91
4.2.2 Thawing loss, cooking loss and shear force	92
4.2.3 LF-NMR relaxation time	94
4.2.4. Discussion	95
4.3 Effects of maternal vitamin D ₃ status on quality and technological propert	ties of
n - 1- 1 - 44 - m in - 66 - min - min - 1 1 - 4	00

4.3.1 Cooking loss	
4.3.2 Color	
4.3.3 TPA	
4.3.4 LF-NMR	103
4.3.5 Discussion	
4.4 Conclusions in section 4	
SECTION 5 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVING THE TECHNOL	LOGY OF
MEAT PRODUCTION WITH GIVEN FUNCTIONAL AND TECHNOI	LOGICAL
PROPERTIES	
CONCLUSIONS	112
REFERENCES	113
APPENDICES	144

INTRODUCTION

Relevance of the topic. Pork quality is closely related to human health. The distribution and deposition of adipose tissue are the key factors affecting pork quality. Excessive subcutaneous fat deposition will reduce the eating quality of pork and damage the health of consumers. However, higher intramuscular fat content can improve the tenderness, marbling, juiciness and flavor of pork, which is beneficial to human health.

The content of fat in pig muscle mainly depends on the number of precursor adipocytes and the ability of fat synthesis and accumulation. Therefore, how to effectively improve the number of pig intramuscular precursor adipocytes, fat synthesis and accumulation capacity, increase intramuscular fat content, and produce highquality pork products through nutritional regulation is a serious challenge for livestock producers.

Developmental biology research shows that pig skeletal muscle and adipose tissue originate from the directional differentiation of embryonic mesodermal mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). The proportion of MSCs differentiated into adipocytes plays a very important role in pig intramuscular adipogenesis. A large number of MSCs differentiated into myogenic progenitor cells at the early embryonic stage of pigs, entered the skeletal muscle development process, and were basically fixed at 90 days of age; Adipose tissue developed late. At 45/60 days of age, only a few MSCs differentiated into fibroblasts/fat progenitors, entered the adipogenesis process, differentiated into fat deposition sites, and formed intramuscular fat in the late growth and development of pigs. In view of the common time coincidence point of differentiation and development of porcine fetal MSCs into skeletal muscle and fat, namely 45/60-90 days of gestation, this period of time has created an excellent time "window" for us to further study the nutritional regulation mechanism of adipogenic differentiation of MSCs.

Intramuscular fat deposition of pig is affected by many factors, including genetic background, nutrition, external environment and feeding methods. More and more evidence showed that VD3 is a potential nutritional regulator affecting fat production,

and it plays an important role in the regulation of animal adipocyte anabolism. The key is that VD3 is beneficial to form the function and technical characteristics of pork at the formation stage of pig offspring. Therefore, vitamin D3 in pork will be better absorbed in this window period. Therefore, the purpose of this experiment is to reveal the formation of functional and technical properties of pork by the influence of Vitamin D3 on the differential maternal level of pigs by studying the influence of maternal VD3 levels on the quality characteristics of offspring pork during pregnancy. So as to provide a scientific implementation plan for improving the physical and chemical properties, storage and processing performance of the offspring pork.

Connection of work with scientific programs, plans, topics. Work carried out in according with the main directions of scientific research of National Natural Science Foundation of China, Sumy National Agrarian University and Henan Institute of Science and Technology within the framework of scientific topics: self-reported topic

《Vitamin D3 and its molecular regulation mechanism in porcine fetal skeletal muscle derived MSCs adipogenesis (U1604102)》 and 《Molecular regulatory mechanisms during porcine intramuscular fat deposition (31572417)》. To study the effects of maternal VD3 status during pregnancy on meat quality function and technological properties in offspring pigs, so as to provide a scientific basis for improving the nutritional value of pork.

The purpose and objectives of the study. The purpose of the dissertation work is that development and scientific justification of meat production technology with improved functional and technological properties at the stage of embryonic development (or at the stage of formation of pig offspring).

In order to achieve the main research goal, it was necessary to solve a number of interrelated tasks:

- Analyze functional and technological indicators of meat quality;
- Study the impact of VD₃ on the ability of meat to be stored;
- To improve the technology of meat production with given functional and technological properties;

Object research – Meat production technology with given functional and technological properties, the level of VD3 in sows during pregnancy, lipid metabolism and the quality of offspring meat.

Subject of research – Pork meat, functional and technological properties of meat, differential maternal status of VD3 sow, offspring

Research methods. The RT-PCR, radioimmunoassay and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay were used to clarify the impacts of VD_3 levels of pregnant sows on factors related to the formation of meat quality function in offspring. LF-NMR, pH meter, CLM-4 digital explicit muscle tenderness meter, colorimeter was used to clarify the influences of VD_3 status of pregnant sows on meat quality properties of offspring during cold and frozen storage period. Gas chromatograph was used to clarify the effects of maternal VD_3 status on the composition of fatty acids in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of offspring, and experiment planning methods and mathematical processing of experimental data computer programs.

Scientific novelty of the obtained results. This thesis established the rules of maternal VD_3 status during pregnancy on adipogenic genes expression, serum biochemical index, carcass characteristics, and meat quality in offspring for the first time. Confirmed the best addition level of VD_3 in pregnant sows affecting the quality of offspring pork, whose pork quality index are formed by changing maternal VD_3 levels.

Practical significance of the results. Based on the results of theoretical and experimental studies provide a scientific basis for the early nutritional regulation of pork quality and process-ability (by regulating the level of VD₃ in pregnant sows), and maternal high-dose VD₃ (32000 IU/kg basal diet) during pregnancy (41st day of pregnancy) could improve meat quality and processing performance in offspring pigs by altering lipid metabolism. Up to day, the technology of nutritional regulation of VD₃ in pregnant sows to improve the quality of offspring pork has been widely applied in Ji'an Nonghao Agricultural Development Co., Ltd, Henan heiyuan agriculture and animal husbandry technology Co., Ltd, and Chunfa farm in Shenqiu County. The

application of the technology in these enterprises has significantly improved growth performance, meat quality of pigs, and the economic benefits of enterprises.

The applicant's personal contribution is in planning an experiment, organization and conduct of analytical and experimental research in laboratory and production conditions, analysis, processing and generalization results, formulating conclusions and recommendations, preparing materials for publication, introduction of new technologies into production.

Publication. According to the dissertation work 8 scientific publications, 5 of them in periodical scientific publications indexed in Web of Science or Scopus and 3 abstracts of reports at scientific and practical international conferences.

Structure and scope of the dissertation. The dissertation contains an annotation, introduction, 3 sections, conclusions and a list of sources used, which including 276 foreign ones. Main content dissertation is laid out on 112 pages of printed text, contains 23 tables, 15 figures.

SECTION 1. ANALYSIS OF FACTORS AFFECTING THE FORMATION OF MEAT QUALITY

Pork quality is related to human health and is affected by many factors. The distribution and deposition of adipose tissue are the key factors affecting pork quality, and the fat content can affect the meat quality of pigs by changing the juiciness, tenderness, flavor and palatability of pork.

1.1 Adipose tissue formation and its regulatory mechanism

Adipose tissue is the main form of energy storage in animals. When the energy materials englobed by animals exceed their required consumption, they can be stored in the form of fat. While the intake of energy materials cannot meet the needs of physiological activities, the fat stored in the body is used for oxidation to meet the energy needs of animals. Fat accumulation is determined by the dynamic balance between degradation and synthesis ¹. Once the original balance is broken, it will lead to the increase or decrease of fat deposition, which will affect the meat quality of animals. Pork is an important source of food for people, its quality is directly related to human health. The amount of fat deposition in pigs is the main factor affecting pork quality. Therefore, understanding adipose tissue formation and its regulatory mechanism in pig and improving pork quality can provide a scientific theoretical basis for producing high-quality pork to meet people's living needs.

1.1.1 Classification and composition of adipose tissue

Adipose tissue is a complete functional body composed of adipocyte, connective tissue matrix, nerve tissue, vascular stromal cells, and immune cells. Emerging evidence showed that the adipose tissue is an important the storage organ of energy in animals, it is also a crucial endocrine organ, which can secrete adipokines to regulate the energy balance of the body. According to the different fat deposition sites in livestock, it can be divided into four main parts: subcutaneous, visceral, intramuscular, and intermuscular adipose tissue. Visceral fat is more widely distributed than subcutaneous fat and contains more immune and inflammatory cells. Subcutaneous fat

is the main energy storage organ and important endocrine organ of the body. Lipid can be deposited in intermuscular and intramuscular adipocytes, and the intramuscular adipocytes can store triacylglycerol ². The hormones and cytokines secreted by subcutaneous fat play a crucial function in regulating body's temperature, energy balance, insulin sensitivity and so on ³. In addition, according to different biology functions, adipose tissue mainly contained white, brown, and beige adipose tissue. White fat and brown fat are derived from MSCs. The adipose tissue distributed in abdominal cavity and thoracic cavity is called visceral fat, and they mainly include omental fat, perirenal fat and mesenteric fat. White adipose tissue is widely accumulated in animals, which is the main form of fat in adult animals. The increase in the number or volume of white adipocytes in animals will cause excessive aggregation of white adipose tissue, leading to obesity, which will cause serious damage to the health of animals.

Brown adipose tissue is mainly distributed between scapulae, neck and around aorta. It will not cause other tissue dysfunction while consuming energy, and plays an antagonistic role in obesity. When brown adipose tissue was excised, mice could cause overeating and obesity. In addition, beige fat cells contain brown fat droplets, whose function is between white and brown adipose tissue. They can not only store energy, but also consume energy.

Adipose tissue mainly exists in the form of triglycerides in animals and is the most important energy source for normal growth of animals. For meat livestock and poultry, the content and composition difference of fat not only determines the quality grade and nutritional value of meat products, but also related to the economic benefits of livestock and poultry. The main component of subcutaneous fat is neutral fat. In addition, there are a small amount of cholesterol, diglyceride, monoglyceride and free fatty acid. The composition of intermuscular fat is like that of subcutaneous fat. Intramuscular fat is composed of intramuscular adipose tissue and fat in muscle fibers. The adipocytes of intramuscular adipose tissue are arranged along the muscle fibers and are basically composed of triglycerides, while the fat in the muscle fibers is

composed of triglyceride droplets in the muscle plasma, membrane lipids (mainly phospholipids) and cholesterol.

1.1.2 Adipogenesis

Adipose tissue is usually referred to as fat, the main storage site of triglyceride, is an important metabolic organ, which also plays a crucial role in maintaining glucose homeostasis and energy dynamic balance. Therefore, adipose tissue is the main storage site of triacylglycerols. Meanwhile, it is can be used as an endocrine organ to release fatty acids and proteins ⁴. Adipose tissue is composed of a variety of cells, mainly including preadipocytes, mature adipocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, immune cells, and so on. The main cells types in adipose tissue are mature adipocytes.

Adipogenesis is a highly ordered process, in which adipogenic differentiation is a key link. Adipogenic precursor cells (pluripotent stem cells and preadipocytes) must undergo adipogenic differentiation to develop into adipocytes. The essence of adipocyte differentiation is the change of gene expression in cells. Under the condition of adipogenic induction, many regulatory factors (signal pathways and transcription factors) are activated. These regulatory factors act on the downstream target genes and change the expression of genes related to adipose differentiation. Previous studies have found that adipogenesis is a complex process, which is affected by the regulatory network composed of a variety of transcriptional regulatory factors. At present, most studies focus on the stage of cell differentiation, that is, the stage of transformation from preadipocytes to mature adipocytes. In adipose tissue, the differentiation of preadipocytes into mature adipocytes, the PPAR (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor), Kruppel-like factor proteins, and C/EBP (CCAAT enhancer-binding protein) play important regulatory roles ⁴⁻⁶. Among them, PPAR is the core transcription factor, which plays the role of molecular "switch" and is necessary for adipogenic differentiation.

1.1.3 Structure and function of adipose tissue

White adipose tissue includes subcutaneous, visceral, and intramuscular adipose depots. Intramuscular adipose tissue, often called marbling, is mainly accumulated in adipocytes in skeletal muscle, which affects the flavor, tenderness, juiciness of pork ⁷.

Marbling is the important factor affecting the meat quality of animal. Subcutaneous fat is distributed under the skin ⁸. Meanwhile, visceral fat is distributed around visceral organs ⁹. The shape of white adipocytes is spherical cells, and its size mainly relies on the size of individual lipid droplets stored in them (white adipocytes). And the lipid droplets are composed of triglycerides, accounting for more than 90% of the cell volume. Subcutaneous fat, internal fat, and intramuscular fat have important economical and physiological roles in meat animal production.

Brown adipose tissue can help newborns and small mammals resist cold temperatures, which is mainly used for thermogenesis and thermoregulation of newborn ¹⁰, and it is considered to be absent or at least of no relevance in adults. However, recent study have demonstrated that brown adipose tissue plays an significant function in energy homeostasis of adults, which indicated that adults also have metabolically active brown adipose tissue¹¹. So, brown adipose tissue is considered as a crucial target for the treatment of obesity and fat metabolic disorders. Brown adipocytes belong to multiple small vacuoles contain triglycerides, and their cells are scattered in many small lipid droplets. In addition, Brown adipose tissue includes more capillaries than white adipose tissue, because it requires more oxygen demand. Brown fat seems to play a key role in the warming mechanism of blood supply to important organs¹².

1.1.4 From MSCs to mature adipocytes

MSCs have totipotency and multidirectional differentiation potential, which have the ability to develop into many cell types (including myocytes, adipocytes, osteocytes, and chondrocytes). They can form adipose and muscle tissue through adipogenic/myogenic directional differentiation. Growing evidence shows that aidpogenic commitment and differentiation in embryo and fetus is one of the important factors influencing the formation of intramuscular fat deposition phenotype.

Previous reports have demonstrated that adipocytes derived from multipotent MSCs, and there are two stages (the determination and the terminal differentiation) for determination of MSCs into mature adipocytes ¹³. The first stage is the commitment of MSCs into preadipocytes, which is called the determination period. The second stage

is the terminal differentiation, in which the preadipocytes differentiate into mature adipocytes ¹⁴. Preadipocytes are cells that do not have lipid droplets. Whereas, mature adipocytes are unicellular adipocytes, which filled with a large lipid droplet. The stages of adipogenesis from MSCs to mature adipocytes was shown in Figure 1-1.



Figure 1-1 The stages of adipogenesis from MSCs to mature adipocytes

1.1.5 Types of adipocytes

Although adipose tissue includes a variety of cell types, adipocytes (the main storage site of triacylglycerols) are dominant. Mammalian adipocytes can be divided into three types: white, brown, and beige adipocytes respectively. Of them, white adipocytes can convert fat into energy in the metabolic process to meet the needs of animal muscle tissue and other body functions. Therefore, when the energy contained in the food is too much, these white adipocytes will grow exponentially. At the same time, a single cell will become larger, which will eventually lead to obesity. Most mammals contain very little white adipose tissue at birth (less than 5% of birth weight).

Brown adipocytes are a kind of adipocytes that produce heat. The cells contain a great deal of mitochondria, which can oxidize long-chain fatty acids converted from triglycerides. Most mammals are born with brown adipose tissue, but newborn pigs do not contain brown adipose tissue. Brown adipocytes develop in brown adipose tissue in response to cold stimulation ¹⁵.

The comprehensive effects of adipocyte proliferation and hypertrophy lead to the growth and development of adipose tissue. The increase in the number of adipocytes is mainly realized by the differentiation and proliferation of preadipocytes. The increase of lipids in adipocytes (mainly triglycerides) can increase the volume and weight of cells. Recent study found that beige adipocytes in white adipose tissue can be induced to develop under the stimulation of cold environmental conditions. So, beige adipocyte is also defined as a cluster of adipocytes expressing uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) located outside the traditional brown adipose tissue depots. Beige adipocytes also have the ability to change energy into heat ¹⁶. The activity of brown and beige adipocytes decreases metabolic diseases in mice, containing obesity, so it is considered to related to weight loss in humans. Exposure to cold conditions is a powerful trigger of beige and brown fat thermogenesis, and some mice lacking UCP1 cannot survive under cold conditions.

1.1.6 Adipocyte development

Growing evidence has demonstrated that MSCs have the potential to differentiate into different cell lineage, such as adipocyte lineage, myoblasts lineage and osteoblasts lineage ¹⁷⁻¹⁹. These finding indicated that muscle cell and adipocyte are originated from the same MSCs. In the early developmental period of skeletal muscle (fetal and neonatal stage), most of the MSCs differentiate into myogenic cells, but only a small part of them differentiates into adipocytes. Intramuscular adipocytes were mainly generated at the fetal and neonatal stages ²⁰, they would provide the sites for intramuscular fat (IMF) accumulation that generate marbling at the fattening stage in offspring ²¹. IMF content is associated with the size and number of adipocytes of offspring. Therefore, fetal developmental period has an important impact on the number of adipocytes of offspring. The ratio of MSCs commitment to adipogenic lineage determines IMF content, and increasing adipogenesis in fetal muscle tissue could enhance the number of intramuscular adipocytes and increase meat quality ^{7, 22}.

Other studies has also found that fibro/adipogenic progenitors (FAPs) are derived from endothelial mesenchymal progenitors in lateral mesoderm, and can generate fibroblasts, resident fibro/adipogenic progenitor cells, and adipocytes^{14, 23}. The majority of FAPs are generated during fetal development ²⁴. Commitment of MSCs into fibro/adipogenic cell lineages was shown in Figure 1-2.



Figure 1-2 Commitment of MSCs into fibro/adipogenic cell lineages

In addition, some stem cells also exist in the bone marrow and vascular stroma of adipose tissue. When properly stimulated, they will undergo a multi-step commitment process, in which the stem cells are limited to the adipocyte lineage. Adipocyte lineage generates preadipocytes, which differentiate into adipocytes after undergoing multiple rounds of mitosis. The transformation of pluripotent stem cells into adipocyte lineage is usually regulated by many factors of differentiation or inhibitors. The commitment process of adipocytes can be regulated by many factors, such as BMP4, BMP2 (bone morphogenetic protein) and downstream signaling pathways ²⁵. Whereas, hedgehog signaling has inhibition, and Wnt seems to activate in commitment and inhibit adipocyte differentiation.

1.1.7 Molecular regulation of adipogenesis

Adipogenesis is adjusted by genetic, gene, translation factor, molecular signaling pathway, nutrition and environmental factors ²⁶. Adipocyte differentiation is accompanied by changes in cell function and structure, during which many proteins are expressed ²⁷. Many changes occur through a variety of molecular events at the gene expression level. Meanwhile, many studies have confirmed that adipocyte differentiation is a highly delicate regulatory process ²⁸⁻³⁰. A variety of transcription factors, signaling pathways and microRNAs also play crucial functions in the process of adipocyte differentiation. For example, Zinc finger protein 423 (ZFP423), and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) play decisive roles in initiating the transformation of precursor adipocytes into mature adipocytes.

1.1.7.1 ZFP423

ZFPs participate in different cellular reactions, such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, immunity, metabolism, and adipogenesis. ZFP423 is a crucial transcription factor for committing MSCs to preadipocyte ³¹, and it can play a role as a key transcriptional regulator involved in adipogenesis. ZFP423 was recently found to be directly involved in early adipose determination. The fetal stage of animals is the key period for committing MSCs to preadipocytes. During the commitment stage of adipocyte, ZFP423 plays an important regulatory function ³. Previous reports have demonstrated that ZFP423 could increase preadipocyte determination by activating the expression of PPARy in undifferentiated cells ³¹. So, ZFP423 can promotes the PPARy expression and adipogenic markers. Recently, it is found that ZFP423 regulates the expression of PPAR γ by amplifying BMP signal pathway, play a key role in modulating the adipogenic potential determination of precursor cells. The expression of ZFP423 in preadipocytes increased significantly, but its expression did not change during the transformation from preadipocytes to adipocytes, indicating that ZFP423 is an important transcriptional regulator for preadipocyte commitment ³². ZFP423 contains a binding domain of SMAD, which is necessary for bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4)-dependent lipogenesis. However, ZFP423 mutant lacking SAMD binding domain can still induce PPARy in NIH 3T3 cell line and enhance adipogenesis. These results suggested that ZFP423 may improve adipogenesis by BMP dependent and BMP independent manner. However, the upstream signal of ZFP423 gene expression and its molecular regulation mechanism are still unclear.

1.1.7.2 PPARy

PPAR γ is an important ligand-dependent transcription factor and belongs to one of the members of the nuclear receptor super-family. In addition, it is a target of thiazolidinedione compounds (TZDs), which are for anti-diabetes drugs. Many studies have confirmed that the expression of PPAR γ is essential for the formation of white adipocyte tissue and brown adipocyte tissue ³³⁻³⁵. Recent study found that PPAR γ has important regulatory functions during the adipocyte differentiation ³⁶. Although PPARy play an important regulatory role in the early period of adipocyte differentiation, but it is not necessary in mature adipocytes. So, PPARy probably is a precise regulator of adipogenesis³⁷. In addition, previous reports found that embryos lacking PPAR γ could not form adipose tissue in chimeric mice 38 . Other study found that PPARy knockout in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) resulted in the loss of adipocyte differentiation ³⁹. Up to now, no factors causing fat formation due to lack of PPAR γ has been found. The PPAR γ can play a transcriptional regulatory role by specifically targeting the PPRE (PPAR γ response element) in the promoter region of its target gene ⁴⁰. In adipocytes, PPARy transcripts regulate the expression of glycometabolism-related genes and promote triglyceride accumulation by forming a heterodimer with RXR (retinol Xreceptor) or by binding to its co-activator PGC-1 (PPARy coactivator-1) or co-inhibitor RIP140 (Receptor-interacting protein 140)⁴¹. However, the endogenous ligands of PPARy in adipocytes have not yet been found. Although some metabolic intermediates such as polyunsaturated fatty acids, arachidonic acids, and prostaglandins, are considered ligands, most of these molecules have a low affinity for PPAR γ . Their expression in adipocytes is also low, and their physiological functions remain unclear. Meanwhile, PPAR γ is considered as a key regulatory factor of preadipocyte differentiation into mature adipocytes, and plays a key role in maintaining the phenotype of mature adipocytes³¹.

1.1.7.3 Fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4)

FABP4 is a cytoplasmic fatty acid chaperone expressed in adipocytes and myeloid cells. It belongs to a subtype member of the fatty acid-binding protein family. Previous study shown that FABP4 deficient mouse preadipocytes increased the expression of PPAR γ , and it significantly enhanced adipogenesis. These results have demonstrated that FABP4 regulates adipogenesis by down-regulating PPAR γ ⁴². Previous study reported that lipid transporter FABP4 is a major target gene of PPAR γ , and FABP4 is almost only induced by PPAR γ in adipocytes and macrophages ⁴³. As a fatty acid chaperone, FABP4 is related to the effects of intracellular lipids on biological

25

targets and signal pathways. FABP4 decreases PPAR γ expression and adipogenesis, which is negatively correlated with PPAR γ of adipose tissue. Recently, studies have shown that FABP4 is a secretory hormone which plays a role in maintaining the homeostasis of glucose. It is a crucial node to promote communication between distant organs and energy storage system to deal with life-threatening situations⁴⁴.

Additionally, FABP4 is abundant in adipocytes. It keeps adipocyte dynamic balance and regulates lipolysis and lipogenesis by interacting with hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) and PPARγ, respectively ⁴⁵. Under the conditions of lipolysis, it is suggested that FABP4 combines with free fatty acids (FFAs) in the cytoplasm to regulate the inhibitory activity of released lipids on lipolytic enzymes ⁴⁶. The mechanism of adipose tissue secretion of FABP4 is closely related to the signal downstream of lipolysis stimulation, which is continuously involved in insulin resistance, stress and obesity⁴⁴.

FABP4 can cause renal interstitial fibrosis by regulating inflammation and lipid metabolism⁴⁷. There is a positive correlation between FABP4 and FFAs. FABP4 in high dosage can directly impair endothelial cells, and damaged endothelial cells can further improve the increase of FABP4 level, and then cause the deposition of triglycerides and cholesterol, accompanied by lipid metabolism disorder⁴⁸. PPARγ can be negative feedback regulated by FABP4, and it can also modulate the transport, oxidation and decomposition of fatty acids by regulating fatty acid transporters, fatty acid binding proteins and CPT1 (carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1) expression ⁴⁹. Therefore, FABP4 plays an important role in regulating inflammation and lipid metabolism.

1.1.7.4 Fatty acids synthase (FAS) and hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL)

Intramuscular adipocytes were mainly generated at the fetal and neonatal stages ²⁰, they would provide the sites for IMF accumulation that generate marbling at fattening stage in offspring ⁵⁰. Previous study reported that adipose tissue occurred before mid-gestation in many mammals, and maternal malnutrition or over-nutrition affected overall fat accumulation of offspring. These results suggested that lipid synthesis and degradation in offspring were impacted by maternal nutrition. Previous

reports demonstrated that adipose tissue deposition depends on the balance between lipid synthesis and degradation ^{51, 52}. This process is mainly regulated by *FAS* and *HSL*. The *FAS* exerts a vital role in *de novo* lipogenesis of mammals ⁵³. Whereas, the *HSL* plays an important role in hydrolyzing TG to FFA in adipose tissue, and regulates the lipolysis of animals ⁵⁴. The ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression and *FAS* mRNA expression was positively related to carcass fat content in pigs ⁵¹.

1.1.7.5 Leptin

Leptin, a multifunctional protein, is released by adipocytes, which can regulate energy balance and blood glucose balance. It is mainly secreted by white adipose tissue. Recent studies have proved that leptin can act on the central nervous system, stimulate the hypothalamus through its receptor, control the signal of energy storage, regulate energy metabolism, and reduce body fat deposition. Meanwhile, the lack of leptin in human and mice directly caused serious obesity. In the study of obese (ob) gene mutant C57BL/6J mice, it was found that the level of leptin in plasma was positively correlated with the weight of mice, and the leptin regulates fat accumulation and body weight of animals by affecting metabolism and appetite ⁵⁵.

1.1.7.6 Other factors

Fat deposition represents a dynamic balance between fay synthesis and fat degradation, which is adjusted by hormonal and non-hormonal factors ¹. Growth factors and hormone play an important role in regulating lipid metabolism and adipogeneses process of animals ⁵⁶. Previous report found that leptin is a key regulator of energy homeostasis of mammals, which derives from adipocytes ⁵⁷. There is a correlation between circulating serum leptin levels and fat deposition ⁵⁸. Serum leptin and insulin concentrations enhanced lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity and the incorporation of glucose into fatty acids within adipose tissue, while IGF-I (insulin-like growth factor I), FT3 (free triiodothyronine), and FT4 (free thyroxine) can increase energy expenditure altering lipid metabolism pathway, and inhibit fat synthesis by decreasing the activity of lipogenic enzyme in pigs ⁵⁶.

Moreover, maternal nutrition during pregnancy (intrauterine environment) is a key determinant of fetal growth and maternal nutrient levels can affect the adipose function of offspring. Fat accumulation in body was increased rapidly during neonatal life, and maternal micronutrient deficiency (vitamin D status) was associated with adiposity ^{59, 60}. Growing evidence has demonstrated that maternal vitamin D levels can alter adipocyte determination and adipose accumulation of offspring ^{22, 61, 62}.

1.2 Physiological functions of vitamin D and adipogenesis

Obesity and vitamin D (VD) deficiency are very common all over the world. VD deficiency may lead to obesity and endanger people's physical and mental health. From the cellular level, obesity is caused by fat cell hypertrophy and proliferation, and one of the main reasons for these phenomena is the excessive accumulation of fat in cells. These results suggested that VD may regulate the synthesis and catabolism of adipocytes.

1.2.1 VD Source and synthesis

VD not only maintains calcium homeostasis, regulates cell proliferation and differentiation, but also has endocrine and paracrine functions. VD can be obtained not only from the dietary sources, but also from the endogenous synthesis process in the skin. Previous research found that VD is considered as an essential nutrient, which is necessary for the physiologic function of various organs. It mainly contains two forms which VD₃ and VD₂. The VD₃ is generated from 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin of animals upon ultraviolet irradiation (280-310 nm light), which presents in the cell membranes of epidermis ⁶³. However, the VD₂ is mainly generated by plants and fungi ⁶⁴. Meanwhile, VD₃ and vitamin D₂ can also be provided by the diet of animals, and fish liver oils, egg yolk and chicken liver are rich in VD.

Animals can only obtain a few fat soluble VD through diet ⁶⁵. The main source of animal VD is generated within the skin via the chemical reaction of sunlight-dependence ⁶⁶. When the skin is exposed to ultraviolet-B radiation, 7-dehydrocholesterol is converted to VD₃ precursor, which can be further isomerized into

VD₃. It is switched into calcifediol [25-(OH)D] in animals' liver, and then hydroxylated into 1, 25(OH)2D within animal's kidney. Generally, the concentration of 25-(OH)D in serum represents the VD status in individual serum, whereas the bioactive form of VD is 1, 25(OH)2D $^{67, 68}$.

1.2.2 VD absorption and metabolism

The small intestine is the main absorption site of VD. Both VD₃ or VD₂ absorbed by intestinal mucosa and VD₃ synthesized in skin enter the blood. The liver of aquatic animals can store a lot of VD, while the liver, kidney, lung, skin, and fat of terrestrial animals can also store VD. The first step in VD metabolic activation is the hydroxylation of carbon 25, mainly in the liver. In addition, VD can have physiological function through hydroxylation of liver and kidney. In the microsomes and mitochondria of hepatocytes, VD₃ generates 25-OH-D3 by the action of 25 hydroxylase; in the mitochondria of renal tubular cells, it is further transformed into 1,25-(OH)₂-D₃ through the action of 1- α -hydroxylase, that is a real active form of VD, and its action is similar to steroids ⁶⁹.

VD not only plays an important regulatory role in intestinal phosphorus and calcium absorption and the regulation of bone mass, but also participates in immune function, cell growth, neuromuscular, and inflammation regulation.^{70, 71}. VD could be hydroxylated by enzymes CYP2J2, CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP3A4 of the liver and CYP27B1 of the kidney ⁷². In visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue, these enzymes can be expressed continuously ^{73, 74}. Previous research found that the CYP27B1 gene is regulated by calcium, hormone, calcitonin, and phosphorus, which is expressed in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes and subcutaneous adipose tissue of lean people ⁷⁵. Therefore, the production of active VD may be related to the location of these enzymes in adipose tissue. VD can be converted into 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) in the liver through the hydroxylation of 25 hydroxylase (CY271A1 and CYP2R1). 1a-hydroxlases converted and activated 25(OH)D to 1,25 dihydroxy vitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D, and the metabolism of VD as shown in Figure 1-3 ⁷⁶.



Figure 1-3 Metabolism of vitamin D⁷⁶

Meanwhile, the main rate limiting step of the synthesis of $1,25(OH)_2D$ is 1α -hydroxylation process, and it is strictly regulated by 1α -hydroxylase. The gene encoding 1α -hydroxylase is called CYP27B1, and its deficient mice developed rickets.

Studies have shown that lower serum VD concentrations (blood VD concentrations below 50 nmol/L) are associated with a higher frequency of obesity and overweight^{77, 78}. The concentration of 25 (OH) D in blood circulation mainly depends on the content of VD in adipose tissue, which suggested that adipose tissue may affect obesity by regulating VD ⁷⁹. 25 (OH) D level is positively correlated with VD intake. Therefore, plasma 25 (OH) D concentrations are usually used as indicators of VD status⁸⁰.

1.2.3 VD signalization

As an endocrine system, VD plays a key role in inducing cell differentiation, inhibiting cell growth, immune regulation, lipid metabolism and controlling other hormone systems. The bioactive metabolite of VD is $1, 25(OH)_2D_3$, which can be used as a high affinity ligand for steroid hormones and VD receptor (VDR). VDR is a nuclear biological macromolecule that mediates the biological function of 1,

 $25(OH)_2D_3$. Many biological functions of 1, $25(OH)_2D_3$ are realized through VDR mediated regulation of target gene transcription. 1, $25(OH)_2D_3$ can form a heterodimer (VDR-RXR) with RXR after activating VDR. VDR-RXR can bind to the vitamin D receptor response element (VDRE) of a specific gene, thus promoting or inhibiting gene expression. Increasing evidences showed that more than 1000 genes are directly or indirectly regulated by 1,25(OH)_2D_3, in a variety of physiological process such as cell differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, immunomodulation, immune response, anti-inflammation, adipogenesis and angiogenesis $^{21, 22, 81}$.

1.2.4 VDR

The biological activity of 1,25 (OH) $_2D_3$ requires the participation of VDR (a high affinity receptor). So, the biological function of 1, $25(OH)_2D$ is regulated via binding to VDR 82 . The VDR belongs to an ancient member of the steroid hormone nuclear receptor superfamily, which can play biological function as a ligand activated transcription factor 83 .



Figure 1-4. Vitamin D exerts biological roles via the VDR

The VDR is widely existing in a variety of cells and tissues, such as immunocytes, kidney, skeleton and skin. VDR is activated by binds to VD₃, and then heterodimerizes with a RXR. The heterodimer (VDR-RXR) can bind to VDRE of target genes to promoted or inhibit target gene expression levels ⁸⁴. 1,25(OH) ₂D₃-VDR affects cell proliferation, differentiation, growth, and biosynthesis, especially lipid biosynthetic pathways ⁸⁵. VD exerts biological roles by the VDR as shown in Figure 1-4.

1.2.5 VD and adipogenesis

Adipose tissue plays a vital biological function in animal systemic metabolism by storing and releasing energy and as an endocrine organ⁷⁶. Obesity can lead to adipose tissue dysfunction, adipocyte hypertrophy and excessive accumulation of adipose tissue. VD deficiency is related to obesity and related metabolic diseases, obesity will change VD metabolic enzymes expression. VD is usually stored in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, but adipose tissue is considered to be the main place for VD storage ⁸⁶. Meanwhile, VD can also regulate adipose formation, adipose tissue metabolism and endocrine functions. There results suggested that VD affects human obesity by regulating adipocyte differentiation and changing adipose tissue deposition. In adipose tissue, VD can regulate the development, and metabolism of adipocytes⁸⁷.

1.2.5.1 Effects of VD on adipogenesis

Adipogenesis is the process of stem cells differentiating into mature adipocytes. Briefly, after treatment with adipogenic stimulator, stem cells induce adipocyte specific gene expression and cell morphological changes, and then lipid droplets (in the form of triacylglycerol) were accumulated in cells. Previous studies showed that 1,25 (OH) ₂D₃ had differential effects on adipogenic differentiation (**Figure 1-5**). 1,25 (OH) ₂D₃ reduces adipogenesis of 3T3-L1 cells⁸⁸, while increases adipocyte differentiation in adipose derived stem cells (ASCs) of human and mouse^{89, 90}, and in bone MSCs of mice and pigs^{91, 92}. These inconsistent results may be caused by differences in adipogenesis programs between cell types.



Figure 1-5. the effects of vitamin D on adipogenesis of different cell types⁷⁶

1.2.5.2 Regulation of VD on adipogenesis

Adipose tissue expansion mainly includes the increase of adipocyte number (hyperplasia) and size (hypertrophy), which is correlated with obesity ⁹³. Mesodermal cells are regulated by various signals to form preadipocytes, and then preadipocytes differentiate into mature adipocytes through the regulation of intracellular signaling molecules ⁸⁷.

Adipogenesis is a series of differentiation processes that resulting in adipocyte maturation. Adipocytes can influence many functions related to adipogenesis, such as fatty acid transfection, lipid synthesis, insulin signaling response, and adipokine secretion, and so on ⁹⁴. A large number of molecular interactions play an important role during adipogenesis, mainly including C/EBP β and PPAR γ expression ⁹⁵. In the early development stage of adipogenesis, C/EBP δ and C/EBP β are mainly expressed and participate in the regulation of adipogenesis. The adipogenesis is improved by the biological regulation of C/EBP α , C/EBP β , and C/EBP δ ⁹⁶. 1, 25(OH)₂D₃ can effectively inhibit the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocyte by reducing the expression of C/EBP β and PPAR γ ^{97, 98}. Meanwhile, 1, 25(OH)₂D₃ also decreases fat accumulation and the expression of adipocyte lipid-binding protein 2 (AP2) of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes ⁹⁹.

VD₃ is recognized as a potential regulator of adipogenesis, and it could affect adipogenesis of 3T3-L1 cells by decreasing LPL and FAS mRNA levels ¹⁰⁰. LPL is involved in the hydrolysis of triglycerides, and is a marker of adipocyte differentiation, which increases with the accumulation of TG ¹⁰¹. In addition, VD₃ could inhibit differentiation and adipogenesis of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes by decreasing PPAR γ , C/EBP α , FABP4 and stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 (SCD1) expressions ¹⁰². It also inhibited porcine preadipocyte differentiation by decreasing the expression of PPAR γ and retinoid X receptor α (RXR α) mRNA ¹⁰³. These data indicated that VD₃ modulated adipogenesis and lipid metabolism in animals by altering adipogenic genes expression.



Figure 1-6. The relationship between PPAR γ and VDR competition RXR ³⁶

Growing evidence shown that VDR plays a crucial biological function in adipogenesis, and VD and VDR are involved in the regulation of preadipocytes to adipocytes differentiation ⁸⁸.

The biological function of VD is carried out by the action of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -VDR, the target organs of VDR mainly includes kidney, liver, intestine, genitourinary tract, brain, bone, and immune cells ^{104, 105}. VDR is mainly expressed in the early period of adipocytes differentiation ¹⁰⁶, VDR expression concentration is maintained by VD during adipocyte differentiation ⁸⁸. Knockdown of VDR of mice resulted in reducing fat mass, adipogenesis, and increasing β -oxidation rate ^{88, 106}. At different stage of adipogenesis, 1,25(OH)₂D₃ can inhibit adipogenic activity by WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway and regulate mRNA expression and extracellular regulated kinase phosphorylation through mitogen activated protein pathway ^{98, 107}.

Meanwhile, VDR gene polymorphism was positively correlated with obesity parameters ². The reason why VDR inhibits adipogenesis may be that RXR is a heterodimer partner of PPAR γ and VDR, and it may compete with PPAR γ for RXR, thereby reducing adipogenesis. Accordingly, VDR competes with PPAR γ for RXR to regulate adipogenic differentiation³⁶. As shown in Figure 1-6, the relationship between PPAR γ and VDR competition RXR.

1.2.5.3 VD deficiency and adipogenesis

VD deficiency is usually defined as a serum level of 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) less than 20 ng/mL or 50 nmol⁻¹ ^{108, 109}. Obesity generally is defined as the excessive accumulation of body fat (adipose tissue), which exceeds the normal levels of a person's sex, age and body type ¹¹⁰. Growing evidence showed that there is a certain correlation between obesity and VD deficiency, and the level of serum 25(OH)D₃ is inversely correlated with obesity (excessive fat accumulation) and visceral fat ^{63, 111, 112}. Low serum 1, 25(OH)₂D₃ concentrations are correlated with higher fat mass and body mass index (BMI).

Serum VD levels are negatively correlated with body fat ^{113, 114}, and obese individual had lower serum VD levels ^{115, 116}. Recent study has found that VD deficiency during the perinatal stage can directly influence the expression of genes related to adipose tissue development in lean male mice offspring ⁶². VD deficiency during pregnancy promoted the differentiation and proliferation of pre-adipocytes ¹¹⁷. However another study observed that VD deficiency decreased adiposity in rats and caused altered expression of uncoupling proteins (Ucp1 and Ucp2) and steroid receptor coactivator 3 (SRC3), and dietary VD and calcium regulated adipose tissue function and metabolism¹¹⁸. Moreover, VD deficiency during pregnancy is also correlated to low birth weight and autoimmune diseases ¹¹⁹. Lower maternal VD levels during pregnancy increases the risk of childhood obesity, and VD is also considered as a modifiable risk factor¹²⁰.

1.2.6 Role of vitamin D in adipose tissue

Excess energy can be stored in adipocytes of adipose tissue in the form of TG, and release it in the form of fatty acids and glycerol during fasting to meet the energy needs of the animals. Many adipokine such as adiponectin, leptin, interleukin (IL)-6 and resistin were secreted by adipocytes, which participated in endocrine function and energy balance. Consequently, adipose tissue, as a metabolic and endocrine organ, plays a key role in energy balance.
1.2.6.1 VD and adipokine secretion

Early studies indicated that VD regulates the secretion of adipokines ^{121, 122}. Adiponectin belongs to a serum protein which secreted through differentiated adipocytes, and there is a negative correlation between BMI and circulating adiponectin ¹²³. Previous study observed that the multimeric forms of adiponectin was down regulated in obese children with VD deficiency ¹²¹. Whereas, VD₃ treatment had no effect on adiponectin expression in human adipocyte cultured in vitro¹²⁴. Leptin has a positive correlation with body fat mass, and it can control lipid metabolism by inhibiting adipogenesis and stimulating lipolysis. The effects of VD₃ on the expression of leptin gene is tissue specific, and VD influences energy balance via directly regulating the expression of leptin¹²⁵. The levels of serum leptin were lower in mice lacking 1, 25(OH)₂D₃ and VDR knockout mice¹²⁶. VD₃ can also stimulates the expression of leptin in mouse adipose tissue by upregulating VDR expression¹²². On the other hand, VD₃ suppressed the expression of leptin in 3T3-L1 adipocytes¹²⁷. These results suggested that there is tissue specificity in the effect of VD₃ on leptin expression. Furthermore, leptin can block the inhibitory influence of VD on cell proliferation and adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes¹²⁸.

 $1,25 (OH)_2D_3$ can inhibit many cytokines expression, and stimulate the secretion of adiponectin of 3T3-L1 adipocytes¹²⁹. Whereas, another study found that $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ can reduce cytokines by the VDR of 3T3-L1 adipocytes¹³⁰. Additionally, it also regulated the function of immune cells and macrophages of adipose tissue¹³¹.

1.2.6.2 Effects of VD on adipose metabolic functions

VD involves in lipid utilization and metabolism in adipose tissue of animals, and VD₃ can increase the activity of lipoprotein lipase and its gene expression, while inhibit FAS in 3T3-L1 cells ¹³². However, VDR can decrease lipid mobilization and utilization by inhibiting fatty acid β -oxidation process in WAT ¹⁰⁶. Previous results showed that lipid accumulation decreased with the increase of VD₃ dose. However, other study found that low-dose VD₃ stimulates the accumulation of TG, but high-dose VD₃ inhibits the accumulation of TG ¹³³. These inconsistent results suggested that VD₃

affect lipid metabolism in a dose-dependent manner. VD₃ increased PPARγ, LPL and AP2 expression of bone marrow stromal cells from pigs in dose-dependent manners ⁹². GPDH (Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) gene is usually used as a marker of adipogenesis, mainly expressed in mature adipocytes, and study found that VD also inhibited LPL and GPDH expression in the mature adipocytes ¹⁰³. The GPDH activity and lipid accumulation of porcine adipocytes were decreased by VD in a dose-dependent manner. Moreover, VD has a positive impact on adipogenesis of porcine MSCs, while a negative effect on porcine mature adipocyte.

The balance between lipid synthesis and lipolysis determines the amount of triacylglycerol stored in adipocytes. Previous report found that 1,25(OH)₂D₃ regulates calcium entry into adipocytes and affects lipid metabolism by membrane-bound VDR. Meanwhile, 1,25(OH)₂D₃ stimulated fatty acid oxidation, regulated lipid metabolism and glucose utilization, and decreased triacylglycerol accumulation and *de novo* lipogenesis of 3T3-L1 adipocytes ¹³⁴. 1,25(OH)₂D₃ can also regulate the rate of fatty acid oxidation ^{134, 135}. These findings suggested that 1,25(OH)₂D₃ has catabolic function in adipocytes and can reduce lipid accumulation, which may decrease adipocytes' size. In addition, VD also regulates glucose metabolism and insulin actions of adipocytes. Emerging evidence shown that 1,25(OH)₂D₃ increased glucose transport and insulin-stimulated AKT phosphorylation of 3T3-L1 adipocytes ^{129, 130}.

1.2.6.3 Effects of VDR in adipose tissue on energy metabolism

VDR is expressed in the early stage of adipogenesis of 3T3-L1 cells, indicating that VDR signaling pathway plays a pivotal function in adipocyte biology and function⁸⁸. Previous report found that VDR of mature adipocytes inhabit weight gain of mice, and adipocyte VDR signaling influence fat mass and body weight in female mice ^{136, 137}. These findings indicated that VDR also participates in energy metabolism in adipose tissue. VDR mediated secreted frizzled-related protein 2 (SFRP2) and Dikkopf 1 (DKK1) inhibited the adipogenic differentiation of murine bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs), and VDR can partially inhibit adipogenesis of BMSCs by

decreasing the expression of typical Wnt signaling pathway¹³⁸. VDR knockout mice decreased body weight, body fat, serum leptin and lipid, while increased calorimetric parameters. Meanwhile, VDR knockout mice has higher beta-oxidation and the carnitine palmitoyl transferase 2 (CPT2) expression in WAT ^{85, 106}.

Taken together, VD plays a variety of physiological functions except from its classical function in keeping bone metabolism and calcium homeostasis. Emerging evidence indicated that VD deficiency is associated with obesity, adipose tissue is a main target for VD actions, and VDR expression is in adipose tissue. Moreover, VD₃ may decreases adipogenesis through inhibiting the expression of adipogenic transcriptional factors, and decreasing lipid accumulation of adipocyte. Meanwhile, the overexpression of VDR in 3T3-L1 adipocytes suppressed the differentiation efficiency of preadipocytes, and there is a certain correlation between VDR and the increase of human adiposity ². VD affects adipocyte formation and metabolic and endocrine functions of adipocytes tissue. The function of VD on adipose metabolism may be due to its regulation of lipolysis and lipid synthesis and improving insulin signaling pathway ⁷⁶. However, the function of VDR in lipid metabolism remains controversial, because VDR-null mice had decreased fat mass and had the characteristics of lean phenotype.

1.3 Effects of maternal nutrition on adipose tissue and skeletal muscle development in offspring

During pregnancy, the development of embryo/fetus depends entirely on the supply of nutrients and the clearance of metabolic by-products through the maternal organism. Therefore, the continuous lack of nutrition supply may have serious consequences for fetal development and may be maintained until adulthood¹³⁹. Therefore, there is a correlation between prenatal development and the phenotypic appearance of muscle and fat after birth, and the phenotypic development of muscle and fat in offspring can be regulated by maternal nutritional status. Moreover, compared with the fattening period, improving the physiological and nutritional

conditions of the fetus, postnatal and early weaning period will have an important impact on adipogenesis³⁶.

Growing evidence demonstrated that maternal nutrients fluctuations during gestation impacted foetal development, growth performance and meat quality in offspring ^{7, 140}. Maternal malnutrition leads to inadequate nutrition supply to the fetus and has a negative impact on fetal development ¹⁴¹. In addition, maternal nutrient restriction influences physiological characteristics of skeletal muscle in offspring. Fetal nutrient deficiency is mainly caused by malnutrition during pregnancy, and maternal nutritional deficiency has an important effect on the development of adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in offspring¹⁴².

1.3.1 Fetal programming of adipose tissue

The fetal development of adipose tissue occurs in a metabolic and hormonal environment. In this environment, the goal of the fetus is to maximize its growth potential, which mainly depends on its nutritional, genetic, and spatial constraints. Adipose tissue is one of the last deposited tissues in fetal development, and its quantity is very sensitive to the nutritional constraints during pregnancy period ¹⁴³. After birth, animal adipose tissue can be used as an endogenous energy storage (WAT), and as a basic source of heat (brown adipose tissue or beige adipose tissue). Compared with fattening period, the nutritional and physiological status of fetus, postpartum and early weaning period have a greater impact on adipogenesis ³⁶.

Majority of adipocytes are produced in the fetal period and early postnatal stage, while the hyperplasia of adipocytes in perirenal fat basically stops after birth¹⁴⁴. Although new adipocytes can be produced for life, their ability will gradually weaken with the increase of animal age ¹⁸. Fetal programming determines the number of adipocytes in offspring. Adipose tissue development depends on preadipocyte proliferation, adipocyte hypertrophy and angiogenesis, and it can be divided into the stages of determination and differentiation. Adipocyte progenitors are originated from mesoderm, which is called FAPs, and most of them are formed during fetal development ^{24, 145}. During postnatal development, some FAPs exist in the stromal vascular part of fat tissue, which is the source of adipocytes and preadipocytes in the

later development of adipose tissue ^{7, 14}. Adipogenic differentiation and commitment stages are mainly regulated by PPAR γ and zpf423, respectively. Meanwhile, the development of adipose tissue is closely related to the development of capillary network.

In addition, there is a temporal and spatial correlation between adipogenic differentiation of stem cells and angiogenesis, which often occurs with the formation of capillaries. Blood vessels can be used as a progenitor cell pool for adipocyte proliferation and provide essential transcription growth factors for adipogenic differentiation of progenitor cells. Therefore, the expression of genes encoding angiogenesis regulatory factors reflects the development of adipose tissue in fetuses and newborns. The number of adipocytes is determined by proximity to entrance of the great arterioles ¹⁴⁶. Previous study observed that there is a correlation between the development of intramuscular adipocytes and vascular development or blood flow¹⁴⁷.

Adipose hyperplasia is related to the number and size of adipocytes in animal fattening stage. Additionally, the development speed of adipose tissue in different parts of animals is different, and the development of IMF in pigs is later than that in other parts. The development of intramuscular fat and subcutaneous fat in pigs is relatively slow, while the growth of perirenal fat is rapid. The deposition of porcine adipose tissue is mainly in the late stage of growth and development (after about 80 kg body weight). In the early stage of growth and development, the deposition of porcine adipose tissue is mainly the increase of the number of adipocytes, while in the later stage of growth and development, it is mainly the increase of the volume of adipocytes.

1.3.2 Maternal nutrition and adipose tissue development in offspring

The effect of mother on fetal or offspring fat deposition depends largely on nutritional intervention during pregnancy. Maternal nutrient restriction suppressed angiogenesis during fetal development, and decreased adipogenesis of offspring. Previous reports showed that adipocytes mainly occur from mid-gestation to early weaning periods (Figure 1-7). So, maternal nutrient status during pregnancy can affects adipocyte hyperplasia, that regulating the tissue development of adipose and IMF content ¹⁴. The main stages of porcine adipocyte differentiation are embryonic stage and early postnatal stage.

Moreover, adipose tissue growth is the result of hyperplasia and hypertrophy from mid gestation, the deposition of perirenal adipose tissue in fetal lambs is sensitive to maternal nutrition and placental nutrient exchange capacity. Due to maternal malnutrition, fetal glucose supply is insufficient, which greatly changes the fetal endocrine environment and has a significant impact on adipose tissue maturation¹⁴³. The offspring from female rats fed low protein during gestation period decreased visceral WAT mass, changed fat distribution, and enhanced the proportion of small adipocytes in epididymal WAT by reducing the levels of key insulin signaling protein¹⁴⁸. These results suggested that maternal protein deficiency during gestation and lactation changed the distribution and morphology of WAT in the offspring. Decreasing maternal nutrition during late pregnancy can lead to smaller fat depots, lower plasma insulin and glucose of offspring^{143, 149}. In addition, Marchix and his colleagues found that maternal linoleic acid supplementation regulated adipose tissue homeostasis in young offspring rats ¹⁵⁰.

Taken together, according to the existing research results, maternal pregnancy is the best window period to regulate adipogenesis in offspring. Therefore, scientifically adjusting the maternal nutrition status during pregnancy may be an effective way to improve the meat quality and growth performance of offspring.



Figure 1-7 Approximate timelines for skeletal muscle and adipose tissue development of pigs

Maternal VD deficiency in gestation has been a widespread all over the world, and it has a long-term impact on adiposity in offspring. Previous finding demonstrated that maternal VD deficiency during pregnancy didn't affect the WAT mean adipocyte size, while increased the expression of VDR and PPARy, and affected adipose development of lean male mice offspring, which indicated that maternal VD levels influence adipogenesis in offspring mice⁶². Another study found that maternal VD deficiency during pregnancy improved the differentiation and proliferation in preadipocytes, increased body fat, and resulted in the obesity of offspring mice, which suggested that maternal VD status during pregnancy can affect adipogenesis and lipid metabolism of offspring mice¹¹⁷. In human study, maternal VD deficiency or insufficiency during pregnancy increased fat mass, the risk overweight in offspring before and early after birth^{151, 152}. Maternal VD concentrations in low dose during pregnancy increased the risk of obesity and body mass index in offspring¹²⁰. Maternal VD insufficiency during gestation decreased post-weaning body weight, and influenced energy metabolism in offspring male mice, and there was no significant in female offspring mice, which indicated that maternal VD deficiency during gestation affects energy homeostasis and adipose tissue metabolism in offspring mice in a gender dependent manner ¹⁵³. Maternal VD inadequacy during mid gestation increased abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue volume in offspring, which suggested that there is a relationship between maternal VD status and neonatal abdominal adiposity¹⁵⁴. Maternal VD supplementation in low dose increased infant weight, and play a role in infant adiposity ¹⁵⁵.

However, several studies found that maternal VD status did not affect adipose tissue development, and adipogenesis in offspring rats, which indicated that maternal VD levels did not play a fundamental role in fetal adipogenesis ¹⁵⁶, and fetal VD levels aren't related to growth and adiposity of infancy ¹⁵⁷.

1.3.3 Fetal programming of skeletal muscle development

Limited studies have showed that skeletal muscle cells, fibroblasts and adipocytes are originated from the common mesoderm MSCs, and there is a competitive relationship between them. Developmental biology shows that most MSCs enter the skeletal muscle development process in the early stage of embryonic development, while only a small number of MSCs enter the adipose tissue development in the middle stage of embryonic development ^{7, 14}. So, skeletal muscle cells are occurred during the early gestation, but adipocyte progenitors are generated during mid-gestation.



Figure 1-8 The different period of myofibers formation¹⁵⁸

The early development of skeletal muscle mainly includes primary and secondary myogenesis. Among them, primary myofibers first occurred in the embryonic period, and then the secondary myofibers are formed that account for most adult muscle fibers ¹⁵⁹. The different period of myofibers formation is shown in Figure 1-8, and embryonic, fetal and adult myoblasts appear sequentially during myogenesis ¹⁵⁸.

The muscle growth of postpartum animals is due to the increase of muscle fiber size rather than the formation of new muscle fiber ¹⁶⁰. In addition, satellite cells are located around mature muscle fibers in postnatal muscles, which are very important for postnatal muscle growth ¹⁶¹. Muscle fiber formation is mainly formed during the fetal period, so this state of muscle development is easily affected by maternal nutritional status. At this stage, the reduction of muscle fiber formation will reduce the number and mass of muscle fiber, which will have a negative impact on the growth performance of offspring ¹⁴². Previous study observed that 1.25(OH)₂ VD₃ improves myogenic differentiation via reducing cell proliferation, adjusting myostatin and pro-myogenic growth factors expression of C2C12 skeletal muscle cells ¹⁶², which indicated that VD is also an important regulator of myogenesis.

1.3.4 Maternal nutrition and muscle tissue development in offspring

The number of muscle fibers in muscle largely depends on pregnancy¹⁶³, which has a vital effect on muscle growth and development in the later stage of life. Therefore, appropriate animal nutrition during pregnancy can improve the production performance, muscle development and meat quality of offspring. Pregnancy is very crucial role for skeletal muscle development, and the amount of muscle fiber in adults is determined in the womb. Meanwhile, nutrition deficiency during mid-pregnancy decreased the numbers of muscle fiber, while nutrition deficiency during late pregnancy decreased the size of muscle fiber in offspring⁵⁰. Therefore, the dietary restriction of the mother will lead to the damage of muscle development during pregnancy, which affecting the number and composition of fibers in offspring ¹⁴². Nowadays, there are more and more studies on maternal nutrition during pregnancy regulating muscle development, changes in muscle fiber types and related gene expression of offspring. Such as, maternal poor nutrition influenced the number of fast fibers, total number of fibers and carcass composition in offspring lamb ¹⁶⁴. In addition, maternal nutrition insufficiency during gestation decreased skeletal muscle development, while increased type IIb myofibers in offspring with long-term manners, which indicated that maternal nutrient status influenced the properties of skeletal muscle in offspring¹⁴². Maternal selenium addition also increased breast muscle yield in offspring broiler by enhancing the expression of Myf5, MyoD and SeIW, which suggested that maternal selenium status influenced skeletal muscle development in offspring ¹⁶⁵. Maternal chromium restriction damaged muscle development and glucose uptake in muscle of offspring rats, which indicated that maternal dietary chromium levels also affect skeletal muscle development and function in offspring¹⁶⁶. Additionally, maternal protein restriction can regulate muscle fibers in offspring rat, and this effect is lasting and irreversible¹⁶⁷. In recent years, with the deepening of research on the regulation animal muscle development of vitamin A and VD, the effects of maternal vitamin A or vitamin D levels during pregnancy on the muscle development in offspring has gradually attracted researchers' attention.

Taken together, maternal nutrition deficiency or insufficiency during pregnancy can suppress the number of muscle fibers, and decrease muscle mass, which affects animal performance.

Emerging evidence found that VD₃ plays a regulatory function in the fetal muscle development in animals^{61, 168, 169}. Meanwhile, muscle growth potential in animals is positively correlated with the total number of muscle fibers at the fetal stage ^{170, 171}. These findings suggested that VD₃ may affect postnatal muscle development and meat quality in animals by improving muscle fiber number during the fetal period. Previous research demonstrated that nutrient status of mothers influences fetal development and has a long-term impact on the postnatal health in offspring, and the early to mid-gestation stage is very critical for skeletal muscle development¹⁴². Meanwhile, nutrient restriction from early to mid-gestation decreased the number of fetal skeletal muscle fibers¹⁴¹. Maternal VD addition with 25-hydroxycholecalciferol increased porcine fetal skeletal muscle development and myoblast activity¹⁶⁹. Additionally, maternal VD insufficiency results in smaller muscle fibers, and decreases the expression of muscle cell development genes, which suggested that maternal VD insufficiency has an important effect on gene expression profile and morphology of skeletal muscle of newborns¹⁷². In addition, VD also has important direct effects on skeletal muscle¹⁷³, and improving maternal VD levels with 25OHD₃ can facilitate the development of prenatal skeletal muscle in offspring pig by regulating the expression of muscle transcription factors¹⁷⁴. Maternal VD₃ and 25(OH)D₂ supplementation accelerated the primary muscle fiber of offspring pigs at birth, but had no effect on the muscle fiber of offspring pigs at weaning¹⁷⁵.

Overall, Prenatal adipogenesis and muscle development are influenced by maternal nutrition, and maternal nutrition during pregnancy has a long-term impact on adipogenesis and muscle growth and development. Therefore, Proper maternal nutritional regulation during pregnancy can improve adipogenesis and the development of fetal skeletal muscle, and then improve the marbling and meat quality of progeny.

1.4 Animal meat quality function, technology properties and its influencing factors

Meat is the main source of protein of human beings. Excessive consumption of meat (meat products) usually leads to increased risk of overweight, obesity and chronic diseases¹⁷⁶. Meanwhile, meat quality is usually associated with human health and repeat purchases of consumers, mainly included color, WHC, cooking loss, flavor, tenderness, and juiciness. Previous reports have been demonstrated that tenderness, juiciness, and flavor are the most important meat characteristics, which can be regulated by nutrition, mainly through the influence of nutrition on the quantity and type of fat in meat ^{177, 178}.

1.4.1 Meat quality technology properties 1.4.1.1 IMF

The content of IMF is correlated with meat palatability^{18, 179}. Fetal and neonatal stage is the key period to produce animal intramuscular adipocytes ²⁰, and they generate marbling at the fattening period in offspring. Previous study found that the reasonable amount of IMF improved the palatability, taste, juiciness, flavor, tenderness, and quality of meat^{180, 181}. The pork quality is usually affected by flavor, tenderness and juiciness^{182, 183}.

1.4.1.2 Tenderness

Meat tenderness is usually affected by the myofibrillar effects and the presence and cross-linking of connective tissue. It was observed that tender meat contains more IMF and less connective tissue, and there is a positive correlation between IMF content and meat tenderness^{184, 185}.

1.4.1.3 Juiciness

The juiciness of meat is often influenced by raw meat quality and cooking procedure. Meanwhile, the juiciness of meat is correlated to pH value and IMF content of pork. It was previously noted that higher content of IMF is associated with better meat quality^{186, 187}.

1.4.1.4 Meat color

Meat color is usually used for assessing freshness and meat quality attributes, which is the direct factor that determine consumers' purchase ^{188, 189}. a*, b* and L* values of meat color represents redness, yellowness, and lightness, respectively ¹⁹⁰. Previous study has demonstrated that pork color discoloration is correlated to pigment and lipid oxidation ¹⁹¹.

1.4.1.5 Cooking loss

Cooking loss is generally considered to be the release of chemically bound water due to fat melting and protein denaturation during cooking ¹⁹². There is a negative correlation between cooking loss and eating quality of meat¹⁸².

1.4.1.6 Shear force

Shear force usually reflects the tenderness of meat, and the increase in tenderness is associated to the length of frozen storage¹⁹³, and it was previously demonstrated that shear force is negatively correlated to IMF content of muscle¹⁸⁵.

1.4.1.7 Thawing loss

Freezing and thawing usually influenced the amount of thawing loss and drip loss, and when the freezing time was more than 19.5 min, the amount of thawing loss and drip loss was significantly higher than that before freezing¹⁹³. It was demonstrated that thawing loss usually affects the color and sensory quality of meat¹⁹⁴, and is associated with the destruction of muscle fiber structure and the denaturation of protein¹⁹³.

1.4.1.8 Low field nuclear magnetic resonance (LF-NMR)

LF-NMR can represent the migration and distribution of water in meat, and it is helpful to understand the influence of postmortem process, cooling, and other factors on WHC of meat. Several studies have reported that the LF-NMR relaxation times reflects the degree of tightness between water and substrate, which could distinguish water interacting with macromolecules, water in myofibrils and reticular tissue, as well as extracellular water in meat¹⁹⁵. T2a corresponds to the bound water, T21 represents the immobilized water, T22 corresponds to the free water¹⁹⁶.

1.4.1.9 WHC

WHC affects economic and sensory properties of meat, which is very important in the meat industry¹⁹⁷. Previous studies showed that the WHC is very important for reducing exudates, and improving palatability, juiciness, tenderness, and meat quality attributes^{197, 198}.

1.4.1.10 pH value

Previous study found that the decrease in pH value is due to the accumulation of lactic acid produced by anaerobic glycolysis¹⁹⁹. The decline in pH in meat samples affects WHC, moisture, tenders, and color of meat.

1.4.2 VD and meat quality function

In previous reports it was also observed that dietary VD₃ level affects pork quality by regulating shear force, pH value and meat color^{200, 201}. In other studies it was found that short-term feeding with VD₃ can improve meat color, but does not change the tenderness of pork-loin chops²⁰². Such results revealed that dietary VD₃ supplementation could improve pork quality. Previous study also found that VD₃ increased tenderness of *longissimus* muscle in beef through activation of m-calpain²⁰³. Dietary supplementation with VD₃ (0.5 million IU/steer per day) for 8 days before slaughter can improve tenderness in steaks from different primal cuts²⁰⁴. Meanwhile, dietary addition with 1alpha-OH D₃ increased yellowness and lightness of the thigh and breast meat, but it reduced the WHC and shear force of the thigh meat²⁰⁵. Feeding supra nutritional levels of VD₃ (40,000 IU of VD₃/kg of feed) for at least 44 d regulated pork pH and color, which improving pork quality²⁰⁰. At 7 and 14 d of shelf storage, VD₃ addition results in higher a* values and lower L* values in loin chops²⁰².

1.4.3 Maternal nutrition and meat quality of offspring

Maternal nutrition status during pregnancy has a long-term effect on meat quality and growth performance in offspring, which may be correlated to the changes in fetal programming of adipose tissue and skeletal muscle development. In pig study, Previous results showed that maternal nutrition supplementation during mid-gestation increased cross-sectional areas, while decreased the number of muscle fibers and lightness in offspring pigs, which indicated that increased sow nutrition influenced the development of muscle fiber and meat quality in offspring pigs²⁰⁶.

Maternal methionine supplementation increased lean percentage, pH value 24 h postmortem, and the expression of myosin heavy chin IIX and myogenic differentiation and muscle regulatory factor 4, which revealed that maternal methionine status affects carcass characteristics and meat quality in offspring pig²⁰⁷. Meanwhile, maternal VD₃ supplementation during pregnancy increased hot carcass weight, carcass yield percentage, while decreased loin depth and back fat thickness in offspring pigs, which suggested that maternal VD supplementation during gestation improved growth performance and carcass characteristics in offspring⁶¹.

1.5 Research purpose and plan of this experiment

1.5.1 Research purpose of this experiment

Pork quality is associated with human health, the distribution, composition, and deposition of adipose tissue are the crucial factors affecting pork quality. In particular, the content of IMF in pigs mainly depends on the number of precursor adipocytes and the ability of fat synthesis and accumulation. Developmental biology has shown that porcine adipose tissue and skeletal muscle are derived from the directional differentiation of embryonic mesodermal MSCs.

The proportion of MSCs differentiated into adipocytes plays a vital role in the formation of IMF in fattening pigs at later stage. In addition, IMF deposition in pigs is usually affected by many factors, including genetic background, nutrition, external environment and feeding methods. Maternal nutrition status during pregnancy has a long-term impact on growth performance, adipogenesis, muscle development, and meat quality in offspring.

Recent studies found that VD_3 is an important nutritional regulator of adipogenesis, and it plays an important regulatory role in the anabolism of animal

49

adipocytes. Although, VD₃ is involved in the regulation of fat accumulation and lipid metabolism by regulating adipogenic gene expression, reports about the role of maternal VD₃ status during pregnancy in formation of functional and technological properties of pork in offspring pigs are still unclear.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effects of maternal VD₃ during pregnancy on the formation of functional and technological properties of pork in offspring pigs. In the present study, pregnant sows with skeletal muscle and adipogenesis overlapping period (41st gestational age) were selected as experimental animals to investigate the effect of different maternal VD₃ levels on meat quality function, processing performance, and technological properties in offspring pigs by feeding trial, slaughter trial and technique related to meat quality function and technological characteristics. The results will provide a scientific theoretical basis and implementation plan for the early nutritional regulation of pork quality during fetal period by regulating maternal dietary VD₃ status.

1.5.2 Research plan of this experiment

The main research plan of this experiment is as follows:

1. The study of the effect of VD3 on the potential food factor of pork

2. Research of physical-chemical indicators of meat quality and its ability to be stored

3. Recommendations for improving the technology of meat production with given functional and technological properties

The technology route of this dissertation is shown in Figure 1-9.



Figure 1-9 Technology roadmap of the dissertation

Conclusion in section 1

1. VD_3 is recognized as a regulatory factor affecting the formation of functional and technological properties of pork.

2. Maternal VD_3 nutrition levels during pregnancy has a long-term impact on meat quality function and technology properties in offspring.

3. The purpose of this study was to investigate the formation of functional and technological properties of pork by the influence of vitamin D_3 on the differential maternal level of pigs.

SECTION 2 OBJECTS AND SUBJECTS OF METHODS

2.1 Materials of research

In the theoretical and experimental work, VD_3 , pregnant sows (41st days of pregnancy) and their offspring pigs were used as experimental research objects to study the effects of different levels of VD_3 supplementation during pregnancy on lipid metabolism and meat quality characteristics of offspring pigs.

In the study, VD₃ (feed grade) was characterized by 500, 000 IU per gram, and was provided by Zhejiang Garden Biochemical High-Tech Co., Ltd (Hangzhou, China).

In addition, all diets were formulated to meet or exceed the national research council (NRC, 2012) recommendations, and shown in Table 2-1, Table 2-2, and Table 2-3, respectively.

T 1' 0/				
Ingredient %		Nutrients'		
Corn	61.91	DE, MJ/kg	13.03	
Wheat bran	16	CP, %	16.45	
Soybean meal	19	Ca, %	0.68	
Fish meal	0	Available P, %	0.36	
Limestone	1.5	Lys, %	1.04	
CaHPO ₄	0.29	Met, %	0.24	
Salt	0.3	Met+Cys, %	0.52	
Premix ²	1			
Total	100			

Table 2-1	Gestation	diet com	position	of sow ¹
	000000000		populou	01 00 11

¹Gestation diet for low VD₃ (LD), normal VD₃ (ND) and high VD₃ (HD) groups from 41 days of age until birth. Their compositions were similar except VD₃ levels.

²Provided the following (unit/kg): 10 mg of Cu, 80 mg of Fe, 25 mg of Mn, 100 mg of Zn, 0.2 mg of I and 0.2 mg of Se. 4000 IU of vitamin A, 200 IU of VD₃ (LD group), 800 IU of VD₃ (ND group), 3200 IU of VD₃ (HD group), 44 IU of vitamin E, 1.0 mg of vitamin K₃, 1 mg of vitamin B₁, 3.75 mg of riboflavin, 1 mg of vitamin B₆, 15 mg of vitamin B₁₂, 12 mg of pantothenic acid, 10 mg of niacin and 1.25 mg of choline.

³All data were analyzed values except digestible energy, which was calculated using swine National Research Council (NRC) (2012) values.

DE, digestible energy. CP, crude protein. Lys, lysine. Met, methionine. Cys, cystine.

Ingredient %		Nutrients ³		
Corn	68	DE, MJ/kg	13.42	
Wheat bran	8.02	СР, %	16.77	
Soybean meal	20	Ca, %	0.70	
Fish meal	1	Available P, %	0.36	
Limestone	1.5	Lys, %	1.09	
CaHPO ₄	0.18	Met, %	0.27	
Salt	0.3	Met+Cys, %	0.54	
Premix ²	1			
Total	100			

Table 2-2 Lactation diet composition of sow¹

¹ Lactation diets with the same VD₃ levels were fed lactating sows in LD, ND and HD groups, and their offspring piglets were weaned 28 days of age.

²Provided the following (unit/kg): 20 mg of Cu, 80 mg of Fe, 25 mg of Mn, 100 mg of Zn, 0.2 mg of I and 0.2 mg of Se. 2000 IU of vitamin A, 800 IU of VD₃, 44 IU of vitamin E, 1.0 mg of vitamin K₃, 1 mg of vitamin B₁, 3.75 mg of riboflavin, 1 mg of vitamin B₆, 15 mg of vitamin B₁₂, 12 mg of pantothenic acid, 10 mg of niacin and 1 mg of choline.

³All data were analyzed values except digestible energy, which was calculated using swine National Research Council (NRC) (2012) values.

Item	28-90 days	91-150 days
Ingredient %		
Corn	71.95	76.5
soybean	24	20
Limestone	0.7	0.9
CaHPO4	1.7	1.2
Lysine	0.25	0.21

Table 2-3 Ingredients and nutrients of basal experiment diets of offspring pigs

Continuation of Table 2-3

Item	28-90 days	91-150 days
Salt	0.4	0.4
Premix ¹	1	1
Total	100	100
Nutrients ²		
DE, MJ/kg	13.75	13.79
СР, %	17.78	15.65
Ca, %	0.71	0.67
Available P, %	0.42	0.35
Lys, %	0.96	1.11
Met, %	0.27	0.26
Met+Cys, %	0.55	0.52

¹ Provided the following (unit/kg): 10 mg of Cu, 80 mg of Fe, 30 mg of Mn, 80 mg of Zn, 0.5 mg of I and 0.3 mg of Se. 5850 IU of vitamin A, 1251 IU of VD₃, 20 IU of vitamin E, 1.86 mg of vitamin K₃, 3 mg of vitamin B₁, 3.6 mg of riboflavin, 1.5 mg of vitamin B₆, 20 mg of vitamin B₁₂, 18 mg of pantothenic acid, 26 mg of niacin and 56 mg of choline.

² All data were analyzed values except digestible energy, which was calculated using swine National Research Council (NRC, 2012) values.

Objects of the study - Formation of functional and technological properties of pork by the influence of Vitamin D_3 on the differential maternal level of pigs.

The subject of the study Pork meat, functional and technological properties of meat, differential maternal status of VD₃ sow, offspring.

2.2 Research Methods

2.2.1 Experimental Design

All pigs handling protocols in this study were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Henan Institute Science and Technology (Xinxiang, P.R. China). A total of 27 pregnant sows (41st days of pregnancy) with the same parities and similar body weights $(144.62 \pm 2.3 \text{kg})$ were randomly divided into low VD₃ (LD), normal VD₃

(ND) and high VD₃ (HD) groups, each group includes 3 replicates with 3 sows per replicate, which were fed 200, 800 and 3200 IU of VD₃/kg basal diet, respectively. And maintained on these diets throughout pregnancy of sows up until birth. During d 41 to 110 of gestation, sows were housed in gestation stalls (2.10×0.55 m), and fed 2.2 kg/d of the gestation diets per sow. On d 110, sows were transported to the farrowing house and were housed in farrowing crates (2.20×0.60 m for sow, and 2.20×1.2 m for piglets). Every farrowing crate was equipped with a single feeder and nipple water. From birth to weaning (28 days of life), all lactating sows were switched to the ND diets. The first 7 d after farrowing, feed were increased gradually according to sows' appetite. After d 7, all sows were allowed *ad libitum* access to the lactation diet, and water via nipple drinkers. After farrowing, all piglets only obtain nutrition through breast milk without adding feed during lactation.

All offspring pigs used in the experiment were provided with *ad libitum* access to feed and water. From birth, 72 offspring piglets (sex balanced) from 348 offspring born to 27 sows were allotted into 3 groups (every group containing 3 replicates with 8 offspring per replicate) again according to their maternal VD₃ supplementation group. Offspring pigs from all groups were fed the same VD₃ level diet, and was housed and fed under the same condition. At 150 days of age, six offspring in each group (sex balanced, 2 offspring pigs per replicate) were selected to weighed and sent for tissue collection according to similar weights. During this period, all piglets were reared in the same condition, and had *ad libitum* access to an experimental diet and water via nipple drinkers.

2.2.2 Slaughter and samples collection

From birth, a total of 72 piglets (sex balance) from all their 348 offspring were allotted into 3 groups again according their mother's gestational group. Each group has 3 replicates with 8 offspring (sex balance) per replicate. Briefly, at birth, all piglets in each group (from 9 litters) were weighed individually and ear tagged for identification. 24 piglets were randomly selected form each group (sex balance) according to the similar average birth weight, and the selected piglets (possibly from different litters) still stayed in their original litter until weaning. At their predesignated slaughter age (28 and 150 days of life), 6 offspring with similar average body weight in each group (2 offspring per replicate, sex balance) were randomly selected to weigh and slaughter for tissue collection according to the method described by previous study ²⁰⁸.

In order to investigate effects of maternal VD₃ concentration during pregnancy on factors related to the formation of meat quality function in offspring piglets. At 28 days of age, the experimental pigs selected were electrically stunned, exsanguinated, dehaired and eviscerated after fasting 12 h. The head was removed and the carcass was split longitudinally, the *longissimus dorsi* muscle was quickly dissected and frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then stored at -80°C until extraction for total RNA. Samples of blood were collected from 18 offspring (6 pigs each group according to average body weight), and allowed to clot overnight at 4°C. Serum was harvested following centrifugation (3,000 g for 10 min, at 4°C) and stored at -80°C until analysis ⁵⁶.

In order to investigate effects of maternal VD₃ during pregnancy on the formation of meat quality function and its regulatory factors in offspring pigs. At 150 days of age, the subcutaneous adipose tissue and *longissimus* dorsal muscle was quickly dissected and frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then stored at -80°C until extraction for total RNA. Meanwhile, left half-carcasses without head, legs, and guts (except kidney) were weighed. Adipose and muscle tissue in the left half-carcass was dissected and weighed, the carcass fat content and carcass dressing percentage were calculated. The average backfat thickness (ABFT) was taken in the midline with a sliding caliper, and the average of three backfat thickness, measured on the first rib, last rib and last lumbar vertebrae. The analysis of IMF in the *longissimus* dorsal muscle was measured according to the AOAC (1990) procedures.

In order to investigate effects of maternal VD₃ during pregnancy on meat quality and fatty acids composition in offspring pigs. the *longissimus* muscle was separated from the left half-carcasses after an overnight (12 h) chill at 4°C. *Longissimus* muscle area of offspring pigs was measured using a planimeter by tracing its surface area at the 10th-rib (Planix 5.6, Tamaya Digital Planimeter, Tamaya Tecnics Inc., Tokyo, Japan). After cooling at 4°C for 12 h, the shear force of *longissimus* muscle was measured according to the method of previously report ²⁰⁹. The muscle sample was put into a water bath at 80°C for 30 min until the central temperature reached approximately 72°C, and then it was removed and cooled to a central temperature of about 4°C for shear force analysis. The shear force of raw meat was defined as the arithmetic mean value of the maximum forces of 10 cylinders (3 cm in diameter, 4 cm in long), after discarding records which differ from the mean value of 10 record by more than 2 standard deviations. All the shear force were measured without freezing the meat in advance. The *longissimus* muscle samples were stored at 4°C over 24 h (from 24 to 48 h after slaughter), and the drip loss of meat samples (3 cm in length, 1.5 cm in width and 1.5 cm in height) of offspring pigs was calculated according to the percentage weight ratio of meat sample before and after cold storage. The subjective color was determined using color standards (7-color discs), which ranged from 1 (greyish-white) to 7 (deep red). Marbling color scores (National Pork Producers Council Standards, NPPC, 2000) were determined by color standards (5-color discs), which ranged from 1 (pale pinkish to grey) to 5 (dark purplish to red). The subjective color and marbling color scores were determined at approximately 48 h post-mortem.

In order to investigate effects of maternal VD₃ status on quality traits of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage. After chilled at 4°C for 24 h, *longissimus dorsi* muscles were removed from carcasses and assigned into 3 parts. Three postmortem times of *longissimus dorsi* muscles were 24, 48, and 96 hours, respectively. The *longissimus dorsi* muscles were individually place on the meat soaking pad in a Styrofoam tray, over-wrapped with fresh keeping films at 4°C, and displayed for 96 h postmortem with white light of 3500 K ²¹⁰.

In order to investigate effects of maternal VD₃ on meat quality technological properties in offspring pigs during frozen storage. *Longissimus dorsi* muscle samples of offspring pigs were frozen at -20°C until the geometric center temperature reached approximately -18°C. After then, all samples of *longissimus dorsi* muscles were stored at -18°C for 0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h, respectively. 6 chops for every group (at each storage time) were used for analysis.

In order to investigate effects of maternal VD_3 status on quality and technological properties of pork batters in offspring pigs during cold storage. After

slaughtering, the carcass was split longitudinally. The *longissimus dorsi* muscle was divided into three parts and refrigerated at 4°C for 0, 24 and 48 h, respectively. Muscle sample was grinded using a meat grinder (6 mm), and weighed 200 g, added 20% ice water and 2% NaCl to each sample for analysis.

2.3 Research Methods

2.3.1 Real-time PCR

Table 2-4 Primer sequences used for RT-PCR

Gene	Accession	Primer sequence	Size	
	Accession no.		(bp)	
VDR	NM_001097414.	F: 5'-CGGCAGCCAGCACTTCCTTAC-3'	211	
, 21	1	R: 5'-CGGCGGTTGTCCTTGGTGATG-3'		
PPAR	NM 214379	F:5'-GACTCAGCTGTACAACAAACCTC-3'	185	
γ		R: 5'-GACAGTTAAGATCGCACCTATC-3'	105	
FARP.	NM_001002817	F: 5'-GAAAGAAGTGGGAGTGGGCTTT-3'	212	
171D1 4		R: 5'-GGGCGCCTCCATCTAAGGTTAT-3'	212	
ZFP4	NC 010448 4	F: 5'-CACCTGACCGTGCACTACAT-3'	128	
23		R: 5'-CAGTGGTACAGCACGAAGGT-3'		
HSL	AF141958 1	F: 5'-CTGGCGGAGGACAACATGGC-3'	268	
IISL .		R: 5'-AGAAGATGCTGCGGCGGTTG-3'	200	
FAS	AY952929	F: 5'-CTACGAGGCCATTGTGGACG-3'	148	
1110	111 / 52/2/	R: 5'-AGCCTATCATGCTGTAGCCC-3'		
RXRa	DO279926 1	F: 5'-ACGAGGACATGCCGGTGGAG-3'	273	
11/11/u	DQ2/3320.1	R: 5'-TGGAGCGGTGCGAGAAGGAG-3'		
ACTB	XM 021086047	F: 5'-ACCTTCTACAACGAGCTGCGTG-3'		
		R: 5'-GTCTCCGGAGTCCATCACGATG-3'		

VDR, Vitamin D receptor. *PPA*Rγ, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ. *FABP*₄, fatty acid binding protein 4. *ZFP423*, zinc finger protein 423. *HSL*, hormone-sensitive lipase. *FAS*, fatty acid synthase. *RXRα*, retinoid X receptor alpha. *ACTB*, beta-actin.

At 28 and 150 days of age, total RNA of *longissimus dorsal* muscle was extracted using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA), and then removed DNA via DNase treatment (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA). Approximately 1 µg of the total RNA in each sample was used to synthesize cDNA by PrimeScriptTM RT Reagent Kit (Takara Bio Inc., Tokyo, Japan). RT-PCR was performed with ViiATM 7 real-time PCR System (Applied BioSystems, Foster City, CA, USA) using a SYBR green RT-PCR kit from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA). Primer sequences were designed according to the basis of known sequences deposited in GenBank (Table 2-4). Relative expression of *ZFP423*, *VDR*, *PPAR*₂, *RXRa*, *HSL*, *FAS*, and *FABP4* mRNA was determined after normalization to β -actin reference using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method.

2.3.2 Serum biochemistry analysis

At 28 days of age, serum leptin levels were measured with a commercially available kit (Multispecies Radioimmunoassay Kit; Linco Research, St. Charles, MO). Insulin, insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), free triiodothyronine (FT₃) and free thyroxine (FT₄) concentrations were measured with the RIA kits (Beijing North Institute of Biotechnology, Beijing, China) in a Gamma-counter (Packard 8500, Packard Instrument Co., Downers Grove, Illinois, USA). Serum 250HD concentration was determined using an EIA kit (IDS Immunodiagnostic Systems Ltd., Tyne and Wear, UK) according to pervious method described by previous study ²¹¹.

At 150 days of age, Serum 25OHD concentration was determined using an EIA kit (IDS Immunodiagnostic Systems Ltd., Tyne and Wear, UK) according to the method described by previous researcher ²¹¹. Insulin concentrations were measured with the RIA kits (Beijing North Institute of Biotechnology, Beijing, China) in a Gamma-counter (Packard 8500, Packard Instrument Co., Downers Grove, Illinois, USA). Leptin levels were measured with a commercially available kit (Multispecies Radioimmunoassay Kit; Linco Research, St. Charles, MO). Serum FFA and TG concentrations were determined with enzymatic colorimetric procedure (Nanjing Jiancheng Bioengineering Institute, China) in a UV-visible spectrophotometer (Ultrospec 2000, Sweeden).

2.3.3 Fatty Acids composition analysis

At 150 days of age, for fatty acid analysis, was extracted from *longissimus dorsi* muscle sample according to the methods based on fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) synthesis previous reported ²¹²⁻²¹⁴. Briefly, 0.5 g of freeze-dried sample, 0.7 mL of KOH, and 5.3 mL of methanol were placed in a Pyrex screw cap tube and mixed. The tube was incubated at 50°C in water for 1.5 h. After cooling in the cold-water bath, 0.58 mL of H₂SO₄ was added in the tube. The tube was mixed and incubated in 50°C in water for 1.5 h again. It was cooled, 3 mL of hexane were added, and the mixture was mixed for 5 min after FAME synthesis. The fatty acid composition was analyzed on an Agilent Technologies 7890 A gas chromatograph (GC; Model 7890A, Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) equipped with a DB-23 60 m×0.25 mm capillary column with a 0.25 µm film thickness (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). The operating program was as follows: infection volume of 1 µL, injector temperature of 250°C, detector temperature of 300°C, and initial column temperature of 140°C for 5 min that was then raised to 220°C at 5°C per min and kept for 16 min. The fatty acids were determined by a flame ionization detector, chromatograms were analyzed with the use of a gas chromatography chemstation software (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). Results of fatty acids were expressed as the percentage of the total fatty acids identified and grouped as follows: saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA). In addition, the PUFA: SFA and n-6: n-3 ratio was also calculated.

2.3.4 pH value measurement

pH values of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs were determined using a pH meter (Model PC 510, Cyber scan, Singapore) at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem after slaughter, respectively.

2.3.5 Shear force

Shear force values of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs were carried out with CLM-4 digital explicit muscle tenderness meter (School of Engineering,

Northeast Agricultural University). Briefly, each *longissimus dorsi* muscle was cut into 3 cuboid meat columns along the muscle fibers direction with approximately a width of 1 cm, a height of 1 cm and a length of 2-3 cm. And then, each of cuboid meat columns was sheared along the vertical myofibril direction at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem after slaughter, respectively. The value of force record during shearing was collected, and the average value was calculated.

In addition, thawed meat samples were also used to determine shear force with CLM-4 digital explicit muscle tenderness meter (School of Engineering, Northeast Agricultural University). Shear force of thawed meat was calculated according to previous report ²⁰⁹.

2.3.6 Color measurement

Color of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs was performed after storage at 4°C for 24, 48, and 96 h postmortem using a colorimeter (Konica Minolta CR 410, Sensing Inc, Osaka, Japan) equipped with illuminant D65, 10° standard observer and aperture diameter of 8 mm. The frozen meat samples were thawed in refrigerator at 4°C for 12 h. And then, the color of thawed samples (*longissimus* dorsi muscles) was aslo analyzed by colorimeter (Konica Minolta CR 410, Sensing Inc, Osaka, Japan). In addition, the exudates from the surface of cooked pork batters are wiped off using absorbent paper. After storage in refrigerator at 4°C, the color of pork batters in offspring pigs was determined with a colorimeter (Konica Minolta CR 410, Sensing Inc, Osaka, Japan). The meat color contained lightness (L*), redness (a*) and yellowness (b*) value, respectively ¹⁹⁰.

2.3.7 WHC

WHC of *longissimus dorsi* muscle at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem storage was measured according to the method described by previous researchers ²¹⁵⁻²¹⁷. Briefly, 1 gram of meat sample was put into a tube which contained filter paper, and centrifuged at 4°C, 1500×g for 15 min. After centrifugation, meat sample was removed, the WHC of meat sample was calculated by the weight of tube with filter paper before and after drying. The tube was dried at 105°C for 24 h.

2.3.8 LF-NMR

The transverse relaxation times of *longissimus dorsi* muscles in offspring pigs were determined using LF-NMR imaging analyzer (NMI20-040V-I, Suzhou Newmai Analytical instrument Co., Ltd.) according to the methods described by previous researchers ^{218, 219}. Briefly, meat samples in offspring pigs were cut to cylinders of 1.5 cm diameter and 3 cm long, and each of the cylinders was put into cylindrical tubes of 1.5 cm diameter and 5 cm high. The transverse relaxation time (T_2) of LF-NMR measurements were performed using Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill pulse sequence at 32°C, 200 µs (time between 90° and 180° pulse), and a resonance frequency of 22.4 MHz. A total of 2000 echoes were obtained from 8 scans, and the interval time between scans was 3 s. Each sample was determined 3 times in parallel, and calculated the average value of relaxation times. The thawed meat samples (1.5 cm in diameter and 3 cm length of cylindrical tube) were placed into cylindrical tubes of 1.5cm diameter and 5cm high for analyzation. In addition, LF-NMR imaging analyzer was used to determine the transverse relaxation times of cooked pork batters of offspring pigs according to the previously reported methods^{218, 220}Meanwhile, each meat sample was measured three times in parallel, the average value of relaxation time was calculated.

2.3.9 Thawing loss

The thawing loss was calculated based on the percentage weight ratio of *longissimus dorsi* muscle before and after thawing. The equation is as follows:

Thaving loss (%) = $(M_b-M_a)/M_b$

 M_b and M_a represent the weight of the meat sample before and after thawing, respectively.

2.3.10 Cooking loss

Cooking loss of thawing meat samples were packed with a plastic bag and kept in 85°C water for 20 min until the geometric center temperature reached approximately 75°C. Cooking loss was calculated according to the percentage weight ratio of meat before and after cooking. Meanwhile, Samples of pork batters were separately packed with a plastic bag and kept in 85°C waters for 20 min. Samples of cooked pork batters were chilled to room temperature for 30 min. Wipe off the surface exudates with absorbent paper. The cooking loss was calculated according to the percentage weigh ratio of pork batters before and after cooking²¹⁶.

Cooking loss (%) =
$$(M_b - M_a)/M_b$$
 (2.1)

Where M_b and M_a represent the weight of thawed meat sample before and after cooking.

2.3.11 TPA (Texture profile analysis)

The cooked pork batters were stored in refrigerator at 4°C for 0, 24 and 48 h, and then sorted into cylinders with a diameter of 2 cm and a height of 3 cm. And then, the texture of the samples was determined using P/36R probe. Each sample was measured three times in parallel, and then the average values of springiness, hardness, chewiness, and cohesiveness were analyzed.

2.3.12 Preparation of pork batters

The technological process for preparing pork batters is as follows: Pork (4 degree cold storage) \rightarrow mincing \rightarrow chopping and mixing (low temperature) \rightarrow centrifugation (removing bubbles) \rightarrow raw pork batters \rightarrow cooking (forming gel) \rightarrow cooked pork batters (measuring color difference, cooking yield and texture).

Take out the pork after refrigeration, use a meat grinder (6mm) to grind it and weigh 200 g, add 20% ice water and 2% NaCl to each sample. The specific methods are as follows:

Put pork and NaCl into the chopper, chop and mix at 1500 r/min for 30 s, and slowly add 1/3 ice water; then chop and mix at 1500 r/min for 30 s, and slowly add 1/3 ice water again; Finally, chop and mix for 60 s at 3000 r/min, and slowly add the remaining 1/3 of ice water (the center temperature is lower than 10°C). Take 35 g of pork batters and put it into a 50 mL centrifuge tube. Centrifuge the pork batters for 3 min at 500 r/min to completely remove the bubbles in the pork batters, and then cook it in a water bath at 80°C for 25 min (the center temperature is 72 °C). Cool it in ice water mixture to about 20°C, and put it into a refrigerator at 4°C for overnight.

64

2.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed using the one-way ANOVA procedure of SPSS 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The post-hoc analysis for comparing group means (offspring pigs) were measured by Duncan's multiple range tests, and significance was declared at *P*<0.05. Genes expression analysis was performed using REST 2009 software (https://www.gene-quantification.de/rest-2009.html). Replicate was used as experimental materials unit for the study of carcass traits, meat quality, serum biochemical indicators and gene expression. Bivariate correlations were used to evaluate the correlation between meat quality (carcass fat, IMF content and ABFT) and adipogenic gene (*FAS* and *HSL*) expression.

2.5 Conclusions in section 2

1. Methodological approaches adopted in the dissertation work that include theoretical research, feeding experiment, slaughter experiment, meat quality test analysis, and its subordinate research methods, which solved the scientific problems of this dissertation. 2. The object of research of dissertation work is determined- Meat production technology with given functional and technological properties, the level of VD_3 in sows during pregnancy, lipid metabolism and the quality of offspring meat.

3. Research items- Pork meat, functional and technological properties of meat, differential maternal status of VD_3 sow, offspring.

4. The selected set of methods allows you to comprehensively characterize the formation of functional and technological properties of pork by the influence of Vitamin D_3 on the differential maternal level of pigs.

65

SECTION 3 RESULTS OF THE STUDY OF THE EFFECT OF VD3 ON THE POTENTIAL FOOD FACTOR OF PORK

3.1 Effects of maternal VD3 on factors related to the formation of meat quality function in offspring piglets

3.1.1 Gene expression





3-1B

Figure 3-1A. VDR, PPARγ, ZFP423 and RXRαmRNA expression in musculus longissimus dorsi of piglets born to LD, ND and HD groups. Figure 3-1B. FAS, HSL, FAS/HSL and FABP4 mRNA expression in musculus longissimus dorsi of offspring born to LD, ND and HD groups.

As shown in Figure 3-1A, *PPAR* γ expression in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets born to LD group was significantly higher than those born to the ND and HD groups, respectively (*P*<0.05). Whereas, *VDR* expression of piglets born to LD group was lower than those born to the ND and HD groups, respectively (*P*<0.05). No differences in *PPAR* γ and *VDR* expression of piglets between ND and HD groups (*P*>0.05). In addition, *ZFP423* expression in piglets born to ND group was higher than those born to the LD groups, while lower than those born to the HD group, respectively (*P*<0.05). No differences in *RXRa* expression of piglets among all groups (LD, ND and HD groups, *P*>0.05).

As shown in Figure 3-1B, there were no differences in *HSL* and *FABP4* expression of offspring piglets among all groups (P>0.05). Whereas, *FAS* expression and *FAS/HSL* ratio in piglets born to HD group was higher than those born to LD and

ND groups (P<0.05), and no differences were observed between LD and ND groups (P>0.05).

3.1.2 Blood biochemical index

Table 3-1. Effects of maternal VD₃ on serum hormonal and biochemical index in offspring piglets

Item	Groups			SEM	<i>P</i> -value	
	LD	ND	HD	5.1		
Leptin (ng/mL)	0.56 ^c	0.74 ^b	0.95 ^a	0.080	0.001	
IGF-I (ng/mL)	41.79 ^a	34.51 ^b	24.89°	0.975	0.001	
FT3 (fmol/mL)	0.74 ^a	0.56 ^b	0.45 ^b	0.070	0.004	
FT4 (fmol/mL)	5.03 ^a	4.26 ^b	3.60 ^b	0.427	0.015	
25 (OH)D (nmol/mL)	13.44°	15.52 ^b	17.13 ^a	0.569	0.015	
Insulin (µmol/mL)	6.63 ^b	7.88 ^a	8.19 ^a	0.574	0.007	

In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

As shown in Table 3-1, serum leptin and 25(OH)D concentrations in piglets born to ND group were higher than those born to LD groups, and lower than those born to HD groups, respectively (P<0.05). Serum IGF-I concentration of ND group was lower than that of LD group, and higher than that of HD group, respectively (P<0.05). In addition, serum FT3 and FT4 levels in LD groups were higher than those in ND and HD groups, while insulin concentration was lower than those in ND and HD groups, respectively (P<0.05). No differences were observed in FT3, FT4 and insulin concentrations between ND and HD groups (P>0.05).

3.1.3 Discussion

This investigation aimed to explore the impact of maternal VD₃ status (excess or deficiency) during pregnancy on adipogenesis genes expression and serum biochemical index in offspring piglets. We found that there were differences in expression of *PPAR* γ , *VDR*, *ZFP423*, *FAS*, *FAS*/HSL ratio, and serum IGF-I, FT3, FT4, leptin, 25(OH)D, insulin concentration in piglets. These results suggested that maternal

VD₃ during pregnancy have lasting effects on factors regulating adipogenesis in their piglets. Adipogenesis process is mediated by many transcription factors, such as *ZFP234, PPARy, C/EBPa, FABP*₄, *SCD*-1and so on ¹⁷⁹. Previous research shown that VD₃ is recognized as a potential regulator of adipogenesis ³⁶, and it inhibited differentiation and adipogenesis of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes by decreasing *PPAR*₇, *C/EBPa, FABP*₄ and *SCD*-1 expression ¹⁰². In vitro studies also shown that VD inhibited porcine preadipocyte differentiation by decreasing *PPAR*₇ and *RXRa* expression ¹⁰³. *PPAR*₇ is the critical regulator of adipogenesis, which can stimulate adipogenesis ⁶². In this present study, maternal VD₃ deficiency (LD group) increased *PPAR*₇ expression of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ status can influence adipogenesis in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets by alternating *PPAR*₇ mRNA expression. Similar results were observed by previous researcher ⁶², who found that VD deficient-exposed offspring mice had greater *PPAR*₇ expression in perigonadal white adipose tissue.

VDR has an inhibitory effect on adipogenesis. Previous results shown that *VDR* expression in 3T3-L1 cells inhibited *PPARy* mRNA levels and decreased adipogenesis, which suggested that *VDR* inhibited adipogenesis via decreasing *PPARy* expression ^{100,} ¹⁰². In present study, maternal VD₃ deficiency decreased *VDR* mRNA expression in piglets. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ deficiency increased *PPARy* by decreasing *VDR* expression, and further enhanced adipogenesis ¹⁰⁰. The molecular mechanism of inhibitory effect of *VDR* on adipogenesis maybe due to *RXR* is a heterodimeric partner for both *PPARy* and *VDR* respectively, and that *VDR* competes *RXR* with *PPARy* to decrease adipogenesis ^{36, 102}. Inconsistent results were reported by previous researcher ⁶², who observed that VD deficient-exposed offspring mice had higher *VDR* expression. These differences may be due to different species, tissue, as well as duration of feeding VD₃.

ZFP423 is identified as a key transcriptional initiator of adipogenic differentiation in adipose tissue, which promoting adipogenic commitment and adipogenesis ³¹. Previous research also found that vitamin A administration at birth could increase *ZFP423* expression, and promote intramuscular fat development in

Angus beef cattle ²²¹. In addition, maternal vitamin A administration expanded PDGFRa⁺ adipose progenitor population in progeny, and the PDGFRa⁺ progenitors can further differentiate into white adipocytes, and promote adipogenesis ^{222, 223}. In current study, maternal VD₃ supplementation increased the *ZFP423* expression in *longissimus dorsal* muscle of piglets. These results indicated that maternal nutrition could affect fetal epigenome by improving the intrauterine environment ^{140, 224}, and maternal VD₃ could promote adipogenic commitment of progenitor cells in *longissimus dorsi* muscle by increasing *ZFP432* expression of offspring piglets. The molecular mechanism might be due to maternal VD₃ increased *ZFP423* expression which increasing PDGFa⁺ progenitor population in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets, and further promoting the numbers of intramuscular adipocytes.

Meanwhile, adipose tissue deposition depends on the balance between lipid synthesis and degradation ^{51, 52}. This process is regulated by *FAS* and *HSL* expression. In this study, *FAS* expression and *FAS/HSL* ratio in piglets born to HD group was higher than those born to the ND and LD groups. Similar results were reported that VD₃ promoted adipocyte differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells and induced *FAS* expression ^{225, 226}. Other research observed that VD₃ stimulated *FAS* expression in primary human adipocytes and adipose organ cultures ^{227, 228}. These data suggested that maternal VD₃ could increase lipid accumulation in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets by enhancing *FAS* expression and *FAS/HSL* ratio. The one of possible reason may be that maternal VD₃ increased adipogenic gene expression by enhancing PDGFRa⁺ adipose progenitor population ^{222, 223}. Certainly, the molecular regulatory mechanism underlying still needs to be proved by further investigation.

Leptin is an important regulator of energy homeostasis in mammals, and adipocytes can produce and secrete leptin ⁵⁷. Circulating leptin levels are strongly correlated with adipose tissue stores ⁵⁸. In this study, serum leptin concentration in piglets born to HD groups was higher than those born to ND and LD groups. The data suggested that high levels of maternal VD₃ supplementation probably increase the adipose accumulation in *longissimus dorsi* muscle, and then further enhance serum leptin levels of offspring. In mice, maternal VD deficiency did not affect serum leptin

in offspring mice ⁶². Inconsistent results in serum leptin concentrations may be due to differential species and dosage of feeding VD₃. Previous results shown that IGF-I, T₃ and T₄ can increase basal energy expenditure through altering lipid metabolism pathway ⁵⁶. In this study, it was observed that serum IGF-I, FT₃ and FT₄ levels in offspring piglets born to LD group were higher than those born to ND and HD groups, which indicated that maternal VD₃ deficiency increased basal energy expenditure and lipolysis in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets. Insulin is able to increase glycogen synthesis and fat deposition, while decrease gluconeogenesis. In present study, serum insulin levels of offspring piglets born to LD group were lower than those born to ND and HD groups, which indicated that maternal VD₃ deficiency decreased lipid synthesis in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets via decreasing serum insulin levels. Other research found that no differences in serum insulin levels between offspring mice born to maternal VD deficiency and those born to the control groups ⁶². Inconsistent research results in serum insulin might be due to differential species, tissue and dosage of VD, but the reasons and its mechanism have not been unclear.

Serum 25(OH)D concentration usually reflects the VD status of pigs ²²⁹. In this present study, serum 25(OH)D concentration in piglets born to LD group was lower than those of ND and HD groups, which indicated that maternal VD₃ deficiency decreased the serum 25(OH)D concentration in early piglets (at 28 days of life). Similar result was reported by previous researcher ⁶¹, who observed that maternal dietary VD influenced serum 25(OH)D₃ levels in piglets (early after weaning). Other reports shown that enhancing maternal VD₃ supplementation increased serum 25(OH)D₃ in offspring ²³⁰. Maternal VD deficiency groups decreased serum 25(OH)D concentration of offspring mice ¹¹⁷. Whereas, there were no differences in serum 25(OH)D₃ levels of offspring mice between born to VD deficient and normal groups. Inconsistent results may be due to different species. Taken together, maternal VD₃ could also affect adipogenesis in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of piglets by altering serum biochemical parameters. Certainly, its mechanism underlying still needs to be identified by further investigation.

3.2 Effects of maternal VD₃ on the formation of meat quality function and its regulatory factors in offspring pigs

1 5 1 818					
Item	Treatment			SEM	P-value
	LD	ND	HD	5.1	
Live weight, kg	94.89	92.72	94.27	0.95	0.224
Carcass weight (kg)	66.44	67.05	68.45	0.568	0.440
Dressing percentage (%)	70.02	72.67	72.61	0.589	0.910
Carcass fat (g/100g)	26.45	23.21	22.18	0.227	0.001
ABFT (cm)	1.96	1.41	1.34	0.052	0.001
Marbling score	1.47b	1.87a	1.93a	0.07	0.001
Subjective color score	2.71b	2.83b	3.19a	0.10	0.004
Longissimus muscle area (cm ²)	32.42c	33.60b	35.39a	0.43	0.002
Drip loss (%)	4.82a	4.61a	4.18b	0.15	0.002
Shear force (Newton)	35.28a	31.36b	27.44c	1.33	0.002
IMF (g/100g)	1.62	1.83	1.87	0.021	0.001

3.2.1 Carcass characteristics and meat quality

Table 3-2 Carcass characteristics and meat quality in offspring pigs

ABFT, average backfat thickness. IMF, intramuscular fat. SEM, Standard error of the mean.

The effects of maternal VD₃ during pregnancy on carcass characteristics and meat quality in offspring pigs are shown in Table 3-2. There were no significant differences in carcass weight (P=0.440) and dressing percentage (P=0.910) among all groups. The offspring pigs born to LD group had higher carcass fat content ((P=0.001) and ABFT (P=0.001) compared with the ND and HD groups, respectively. Whereas, IMF content of *longissimus dorsal* muscle in offspring pigs born to LD group was lower than those born to the ND and HD groups, respectively (P=0.001). In addition, no significant differences in carcass fat, ABFT and IMF content were measured between the ND and HD groups.
Meanwhile, offspring pigs from the LD group pigs had lower marbling score in comparison with those from ND and HD groups (P<0.05), while they had higher drip loss in comparison with those from HD group (P<0.05). meanwhile, the subjective color score in offspring pigs born in HD group was higher than those born in LD and ND groups (P<0.05). Additionally, *longissimus dorsi* muscle area of offspring pigs from to ND groups was lower than that in pigs from HD group but higher than that in pigs from LD group (P<0.05), whereas, the shear force of the *longissimus dorsi* muscle of the ND group was lower than that of the LD group and higher than that of HD group (P<0.05). There was no difference in the average live weight among all groups (P>0.05).

3.2.2 Fatty acids composition of pork in offspring

Item	Groups	SEM	P value						
	LD	ND	HD		I -value				
SFA ¹									
C14:0 (%)	2.58 ^a	2.22 ^b	2.13 ^b	0.14	0.002				
C16:0 (%)	27.68 ^a	25.22 ^b	24.21 ^b	0.32	0.001				
C18:0 (%)	13.24ª	11.69 ^b	10.35 ^b	0.12	0.002				
C20:0 (%)	0.16 ^a	0.15 ^a	0.14 ^a	0.09	0.062				
MUFA ²	•								
C16:1 (%)	1.88 ^b	2.24 ^a	2.46 ^a	0.04	0.001				
C18:1n-9 (%)	32.55 ^b	33.21 ^a	34.44 ^a	0.34	0.044				
C20:1 (%)	1.07 ^b	1.14 ^a	1.16 ^a	0.03	0.031				
PUFA ³	•								
C18:2 n-6(%)	18.84 ^b	21.43 ^a	21.26 ^a	0.09	0.001				
C18:3 n-3(%)	0.63 ^b	0.84 ^{ab}	1.06 ^a	0.04	0.039				
C20:2 n-6(%)	0.31 ^b	0.38 ^{ab}	0.46 ^a	0.02	0.042				
C20:3 n-3(%)	0.81 ^b	0.94 ^{ab}	1.14 ^a	0.06	0.046				

Table 3-3 Effects of maternal VD_3 on fatty acids composition of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs

Continuation of Table 3-3

Item	Groups		SEM	P-value		
	LD	ND	HD	5LIVI	1 , 1100	
C20:4 n-6(%)	0.25 ^b	0.34 ^a	0.39ª	0.02	0.021	
Total SFA (%)	43.66 ^a	39.28 ^{ab}	36.83 ^b	0.62	0.014	
Total MUFA (%)	35.50 ^b	36.59 ^{ab}	38.06 ^a	0.26	0.003	
Total PUFA (%)	20.84 ^b	24.13 ^a	25.11ª	0.19	0.001	
Total PUFA:SFA	0.48 ^b	0.61 ^a	0.68ª	0.02	0.002	
Total n-6:n-3	13.47 ^a	12.55 ^{ab}	10.41 ^b	0.16	0.001	

In the same column, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). ¹ saturated fatty acid, ² monounsaturated fatty acid, ³ polyunsaturated fatty acid.

As shown in Table 5-2, the offspring pigs born to LD group had higher total SFA concentrations compared with those born HD groups (P<0.05), and no differences were observed between LD and ND, as well as HD and ND groups respectively (P>0.05). The C14:0, C16:0, and C18:0 concentrations of offspring pigs born to ND and HD groups were significantly lower than that born to LD group (P<0.05), and no differences were observed between ND and HD groups (P>0.05). In addition, there were no differences in C20:0 concentrations among all groups (P>0.05).

Total MUFA concentrations of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs born to HD group were higher than that born to LD group (P<0.05), and no differences were observed between LD and ND, as well as HD and ND groups respectively (P>0.05). Meanwhile the offspring pigs born to HD and ND groups had higher the concentrations of C16:1, C18:1 and C20:1 compared with those born to LD group (P<0.05).

The offspring pigs born to ND and HD groups had higher total PUFA concentrations and total PUFA: SFA ratio compared with offspring pigs born to LD group (P<0.05). In addition, the levels of C18:2 and C20:4 of offspring pigs born to ND and HD groups were significantly higher than those born to LD group (P<0.05). The C18:3, C20:2 and C20:3 levels in offspring pigs born to HD group were higher, while total n-6:n-3 ratio were lower than those born to LD group (P<0.05), no

73

differences were determined between LD and ND, as well as ND and HD group, respectively (*P*>0.05).

3.2.3 Serum biochemical index

As shown in Table 3-4, no significant differences in serum 25OHD concentration were observed among all groups (P=0.376). The offspring pigs born to LD group had higher concentrations of serum insulin (P=0.001) and leptin (P=0.010) compared with the ND and HD groups, respectively. Whereas, serum FFA (P=0.020) and TG (P=0.026) concentrations of offspring pigs born to the LD group were lower than those born to the ND and HD groups, respectively. Meanwhile, the offspring pigs born to the HD group had lower serum insulin, leptin, and higher FFA, TG levels compared with the ND group, respectively.

Item	Treatment			SEM	<i>P</i> _value	
	LD	ND	HD	D.L .1 VI .		
25OHD (ng/mL)	9.68	9.85	9.97	0.343	0.376	
Insulin (µmol/mL)	16.61	12.48	10.15	0.810	0.001	
Leptin (ng/mL)	1.62	1.34	1.13	0.072	0.010	
FFA (µmol/L)	352.60	420.44	443.39	6.018	0.020	
TG (mmol/L)	1.09	1.34	1.53	0.066	0.026	

Table 3-4 Serum biochemical index in offspring pigs

FFA, free fatty acids. TG, triacylglycerol.

3.2.4 FAS and HSL gene expression

As shown in Table 3-5, *FAS* mRNA expression (P=0.009) and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression (P=0.002) in subcutaneous adipose tissue of offspring pigs born to LD group was higher than those born to the ND and HD groups, respectively. Meanwhile, offspring pigs born to HD group had lower expression of *FAS* and the ratio

of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression compared with the ND group. Whereas, no differences in *HSL* expression were observed among all groups (*P*=0.268).

Table 3-5 *FAS*, *HSL* and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in subcutaneous adipose tissue of offspring pigs at 150 days of age.

Gene	Treatment		SEM		
	LD	ND	HD	5.12.101.	
FAS	1.242	0.955	0.638	0.128	0.009
HSL	1.194	1.277	1.352	0.087	0.268
FAS/HSL	1.044	0.745	0.475	0.088	0.002

Table 3-6 *FAS*, *HSL* and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in *longissimus* dorsal muscle tissue of offspring pigs at 150 days of age.

Gene	Treatment		CEN	D 1	
	LD	ND	HD	S.E.M.	P-value
FAS	1.908	1.348	1.863	0.119	0.006
HSL	2.163	1.187	1.290	0.068	0.001
FAS/HSL	0.884	1.132	1.447	0.088	0.011

SEM, Standard error of the mean.

As shown in Table 3-6, offspring pigs born to LD group had lower the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in *longissimus dorsal* muscle compared with those born to the ND and HD groups, respectively (P=0.011), and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in offspring pigs born to ND group was lower than that born to the HD group (P=0.011). Compared with the LD group, the ND and HD groups had lower expression of *HSL* mRNA in *longissimus dorsal* muscle (P=0.001). The *FAS* mRNA expression in the ND group was lower than that in the LD and HD groups, respectively (P=0.006). Whereas, no differences in *FAS* mRNA expression between the LD and HD groups, respectively.

3.2.5 Correlation between genes expression and meat quality parameters

Table 3-7 Correlations between *FAS* and *HSL* mRNA expression levels and carcass fat content, ABFT and IMF in offspring pigs

Item	FAS mRNA levels	HSL mRNA levels	FAS/HSL					
Longissimus dorsal muscle tissue								
IMF	r=-0.409, P=0.275	r=-0.561, <i>P</i> =0.116	r=-0.868*, P=0.002					
Subcutaneous adipo	se tissue							
Carcass fat content	r=0.843*, P=0.004	r=-0.555, <i>P</i> =0.121	r=0.890**, P=0.001					
ABFT	r=-0.746*, <i>P</i> =0.021	r=-0.475, <i>P</i> =0.196	r=0.795*, P=0.010					

As shown in Table 3-7, the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in *longissimus dorsal* muscle was negatively correlated to IMF content of offspring pigs (r=-0.868, P=0.002). Whereas, there is no relation between *FAS*, *HSL* mRNA expression and IMF content. In addition, the *FAS* mRNA expression (r=0.843, P=0.021) and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression (r=0.890, P=0.001) in subcutaneous adipose tissue were both positively correlated with carcass fat content. Meanwhile, the *FAS* mRNA expression was negatively correlated to the ABFT (r=-0.746, P=0.021). Whereas, the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression was positively correlated to ABFT in offspring pigs (r=0.795, P=0.010).

3.2.6 Discussion

Previous research showed that production efficiency and meat quality in mammals (including cattle, sheep and pigs) were affected by nutrient fluctuations during the fetal stage ⁷. Yang et al. (2013) also found that offspring growth performance was impacted by nutrition concentrations during gestation ²⁴. Our research observed that there were differences in carcass fat content, ABFT, and IMF content in offspring pigs born to LD group compared with the ND group. These results suggested that maternal VD₃ status could improve growth performance, carcass characteristics and meat quality of offspring pigs. These results are in accordance with previous researches.

Belenchia et al. (2018) observed that maternal VD concentrations during pregnancy have lasting effects on adipose tissue development in offspring mice ⁶². Zhou et al. (2016) also found that improving maternal VD status promoted postnatal skeletal muscle development of pig offspring ¹⁷⁴. Flohr et al. (2016) observed that pigs from sows fed 50 µg/kg 25(OH)D₃ had higher ADG (average daily gain) compared with pigs from sows fed 800 of VD₃, and higher final body weight and hot carcass weight compared with pigs from sows fed 9600 IU of VD₃⁶¹. These data indicated that maternal VD supplementation affected subsequent growth performance and carcass characteristics in offspring pigs. In addition, offspring pigs born to LD group had higher carcass fat and ABFT compared with the ND and HD groups, which suggested that maternal VD₃ deficiency could increase adipogenesis in adipose tissue of offspring pigs. The reason may be supported that maternal VD₃ inhibited the differentiation of preadipocyte, decreased the number of preadipocytes in fetal, which reduced the fat deposition in offspring pigs. Similar results are reported by previous researcher ¹⁰⁰, who demonstrated that VD₃ decreased 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation by inhibiting adipogenic genes expression. Wang et al. (2017) observed that maternal vitamin A administration expanded PDGFRa⁺ adipose progenitor population in offspring mice²²². PDGFRa⁺ adipose progenitor is differentiated into both beige and white adipocytes ²²³. In this study, we observed that maternal VD₃ increased IMF content in offspring pigs. The reason may be that maternal VD₃ increased PDGFRa⁺ adipose progenitor population which differentiated into white adipocytes in longissimus dorsal muscle, thereby enhanced IMF content in offspring pigs. Certainly, the mechanism underlying still needs to be proved by further investigation.

In the presented study, the marbling score and the subjective color score of offspring pigs were influenced by maternal VD_3 levels. Both marbling score and subjective color score in offspring from HD group were higher than that from ND and LD groups. So it was revealed that maternal VD_3 supplementation improved meat quality in offspring. The reason may be that the high dosage of maternal VD_3 increase the IMF content of offspring pigs. In the present study, the offspring from HD group showed better meat quality since they were lower pale, drip loss, shear force, and higher

longissimus dorsi muscle area compared with ND and LD groups. These results suggested that meat quality of offspring pigs could be influenced by maternal VD₃ status during pregnancy. Such results may suggest that meat quality in offspring pigs can be influenced by maternal VD₃ status during pregnancy. Similar results were also found by our previous study ²³¹, in which found that maternal VD₃ supplementation improved meat quality of offspring pigs during frozen storage by inhibiting the decrease of cooking loss, drip loss and thawing loss of *longissimus dorsi* muscle. The previous and present results indicated that high-dose maternal VD₃ supplementation can prolong the storage time of pork quality in offspring during cold and frozen storage, respectively.

Growing evidence has shown that meat quality is associated with its IMF content and fatty acid composition in animals ²³². The increase in the degree of lipid unsaturation in meat is beneficial for human health ²³³. lower SFAs and higher n-3 fatty acids concentrations will improve meat quality of animals, which reduces cardiovascular diseases risk 234 . In this study, maternal VD₃ supplementation during pregnancy decreased total SFAs, and increased n-3 PUFA concentrations in offspring pigs, which indicated that maternal high-dose VD₃ levels regulated fatty acids composition of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring. Meanwhile, the higher SFAs and ratio of n-6:n-3 PUFA is associated with the pathogenesis of many diseases, such as diabetes, coronary heart disease, cancer, cerebrovascular and cardiovascular diseases of humans^{235, 236}. This study has shown that the total SFAs and total n-6:n-3 ratio of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs were reduced by maternal VD₃ supplementation. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation regulated meat quality by affecting the composition of fatty acids. In conclusion, maternal highdose VD₃ supplementation during pregnancy can affect the fatty acids composition and meat quality parameters of offspring pigs. But its mechanism is still unclear, which needs to be further explored in future research.

Serum 250HD is the liver metabolite and primary circulating form of VD, and used to determine the VD status of pigs ²²⁹. In this study, no differences in serum VD status were observed among all groups, which indicated that maternal VD₃ didn't

changed the serum VD concentration in later offspring pigs (at 150 days of age). Similar result was reported by Flohr et al. (2016)⁶¹, who observed that maternal VD influenced serum concentration in growing offspring pigs until 35 days post weaning. Flohr et al. (2014) demonstrated that serum VD₃ of weaned pigs (21 days of age) was also affected by maternal VD status 230 . These results suggested that maternal VD₃ during pregnancy mainly affected the serum VD levels in early offspring pigs, but had no significant effect on the later offspring pigs. Previous study has shown that insulin suppressed lipolysis of rats by increasing FAS and acetyl-COA carboxylase (ACC) expression, which indicated that lipogenesis is regulated by insulin²³⁷. Whereas, leptin could induce lipolysis and inhibits lipogenesis ²³⁸. Serum 25OHD decreased leptin concentrations, which was negatively associated with leptin levels ²³⁹. Meanwhile, VD deficiency is correlated with elevated insulin resistance, which regulated lipid metabolism process ²⁴⁰. In addition, offspring pigs born to LD group had higher serum insulin, leptin levels and lower FFA and TG concentrations compared with the ND and HD groups, which indicated that maternal VD₃ status affected adipogenesis in offspring pigs by regulating the levels of serum biochemical parameters related to lipid metabolism. Similar result was reported by previous researcher ¹¹⁷, who found that maternal VD deficiency increased the adiposity in offspring mice through regulating serum biochemical index concentrations. However, no significant differences in serum insulin and leptin levels in offspring mice were observed between maternal VD deficiency and the control groups ⁶². Inconsistent research results in serum biochemical parameters might be due to differential species of animals, dosage of VD, duration of feeding, and feeding methods, but the reasons and its mechanism have not been unclear.

The FAS promotes conversion of acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA to TG, which controlling *de novo* lipogenesis of mammals ²⁴¹. Whereas, *HSL* mainly catalyzes hydrolysis of stored TG in adipose tissue into FFA and glycerol to regulate lipolysis in animals ⁵⁴. Fat accumulation is determined by the balance between *FAS* and *HSL* (the ratio of *FAS/HSL*) expression, *FAS* mRNA expression and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression are positively correlated to carcass fat content in pigs ⁵¹. In this study, we observed that maternal VD₃ deficiency increased carcass fat content and ABFT by

increasing *FAS* mRNA expression and the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression. These results are in accordance with previous reports, Yao et al. (2015) demonstrated that obesity is associated with VD deficiency, and VD suppresses adipogenesis ²⁴². Whereas, Bhat et al. (2014) observed that VD-deficient rats decreased visceral fat content and *FAS* and *PPARy* expression ¹¹⁸. Inconsistent research results may be due to differential adipose tissue and species of animals. Meanwhile, our research also found that maternal VD₃ deficiency had lower the ratio of *FAS/HSL* expression in *longissimus dorsal* muscle, and these results are in accordance with lower IMF content. The reason may be that maternal VD₃ deficiency suppressed PDGFRa⁺ adipose progenitor population which differentiation into white adipocyte in *longissimus dorsal* muscle, further decreased IMF of offspring pigs by decreasing ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression. So, the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression was opposite between the *longissimus dorsal* muscle tissue and subcutaneous adipose tissue with the same VD₃ diet in this study. Certainly, the mechanism underlying still needs to be proved by further investigation.

Taken together, these results indicated that maternal VD_3 status could change adipose tissue metabolism, carcass characteristics and meat quality in offspring pigs by regulating gene expression involved in lipid accumulation. Whereas, the mechanism and signal pathway underlying still needs to be proved by further investigation.

Fat accumulation in adipose tissue is associated with *FAS* mRNA expression ²⁴³. Backfat thickness, a good indicator of fat deposition, is closely correlated with carcass fat and IMF of pigs ²⁴⁴. In this present experiment, we found that the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in adipose tissue was positively correlated with carcass fat content and ABFT, which suggested that carcass content and ABFT in pigs were affected by the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression. Similar results were reported by previous researcher ⁵¹, who demonstrated that there was a positive relationship between the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression and carcass fat in pigs. Meanwhile, *FAS* mRNA expression was negatively correlated to AFBT, whereas, there was a positive correlation between the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression and AFBT. These results confirmed that fat accumulation in subcutaneous adipose tissue of pigs was a balance

between *FAS* and *HSL* expression levels, and fat deposition was increased when *FAS* expression was higher than *HSL* expression. In addition, our study also observed that the ratio of *FAS/HSL* mRNA expression in *longissimus dorsal* muscle was negatively correlated with IMF content in offspring pigs. Similar results were reported by previous researcher ⁵², who found that there was a negative relationship between the ratio of *FAS/HSL* expression and IMF content in Kazak sheep. However, other study reported that the ratio of *FAS/HSL* expression was positively correlated with IMF content in Sutai pigs ²⁴⁵. Inconsistent research results may be due to the different patterns of IMF storage or breeds ²⁴⁶. Taken together, our results in present study indicated that maternal VD₃ status regulated adipogenic genes expression and carcass fat content, ABFT, as well as IMF content in offspring pigs.

3.3 Conclusions in section **3**

1. High-dose VD_3 maternal feeding can improve the pork quality function and technological properties of offspring by regulating key genes and serum hormones related to adipose tissue deposition.

2. Maternal VD_3 status during pregnancy have long-lasting impact on meat quality function and technological properties in offspring pigs.

3. Maternal VD₃ supplementation have positive effects on healthfulness of fatty acid profiles of offspring pork.

4. By adjusting the maternal VD_3 level during pregnancy, the pork quality characteristics of offspring were improved, and the scientific feeding scheme of VD_3 in early pregnancy sows was optimized.

SECTION 4 RESEARCH OF PHYSICAL-CHEMICAL INDICATORS OF MEAT QUALITY AND ITS ABILITY TO BE STORED

4.1 Effects of maternal vitamin D₃ status on pork quality traits in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

4.1.1 pH value

Table 4-1 Effects of maternal VD₃ status on pH value of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Item	Groups	SEM	<i>P</i> -value		
	LD	ND	HD	SLIVI	1 vulue
24 h	5.74 ^{Ab}	5.83 ^{Aab}	5.88 ^a	0.456	0.032
48 h	5.73 ^{Ab}	5.78 ^{Aab}	5.83 ^a	0.092	0.044
96 h	5.62 ^{Bb}	5.65 ^{Bb}	5.81 ^a	0.136	0.028
SEM	0.322	0.298	0.511	-	-
P-value	0.024	0.038	0.216	-	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

The effects of maternal VD₃ status on pH value of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem storage were shown in Table 4-1. Offspring pigs from HD group had higher pH values compared with those from LD group at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem storage, respectively (P<0.05). Meanwhile, the changes of pH value in offspring pigs from all groups followed the same time-dependent patterns, which decreased with postmortem storage time. Offspring pigs from LD and ND groups had higher pH value at 24, 48 h compared with those at 96 h postmortem storage (P<0.05). Whereas, no differences in pH value of offspring pigs from HD group were obtained among all postmortem storage times (24, 48, and 96 h, P>0.05).

4.1.2 Shear force

Item	Groups			SFM	P_value
	LD	ND	HD	SLW	1 Value
24 h	3.59 ^a	3.20 ^b	2.80 ^{Ac}	0.338	0.003
48 h	3.51 ^a	3.11 ^b	2.65 ^{ABc}	0.324	0.001
96 h	3.42 ^a	3.04 ^b	2.53 ^{Bc}	0.316	0.009
SEM	0.413	0.311	0.116	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.089	0.077	0.024	-	-

Table 4-2 Effects of maternal VD₃ status on shear force of *longissimus* dorsi muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05).

As shown in Table 4-2, shear force of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs from ND group was higher than that from HD group, while was lower than that from LD group at 24, 48, and 96 h postmortem storage, respectively (P<0.05). In addition, offspring pigs from HD group had higher shear force at 24 h compared with that at 96 h postmortem storage (P<0.05). No differences in shear force of offspring pigs from LD and ND groups were observed among all postmortem storage times (P>0.05).

4.1.3 WHC

As shown in Table 4-3, WHC of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs from HD group was higher than those from LD group at 24, 48, and 96 h postmortem storage, respectively (P<0.05). And offspring pigs born to LD group had higher WHC of *longissimus dorsi* muscle at 24 h compared with that at 96 h postmortem storage (P<0.05). However, no differences in WHC of offspring pigs from ND and HD groups was obtained among all postmortem storage times (P<0.05).

Table 4-3 Effects of maternal VD₃ status on WHC of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Item	Groups		SFM	<i>P</i> -value	
	LD	ND	HD	5LW	i vulue
24 h	75.18 ^{Ab}	76.39 ^{ab}	77.82ª	1.961	0.046
48 h	74.41 ^{ABb}	76.11 ^{ab}	77.07ª	1.886	0.044
96 h	73.56 ^{Bb}	75.49 ^{ab}	76.31ª	1.693	0.021
SEM	1.779	2.012	1.964	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.048	0.088	0.142	-	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05).

4.1.4 Meat color

Table 4-4 Effects of maternal VD_3 status on color of *longissimus* dorsi muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Item	Groups		SEM	<i>P</i> -value				
	LD	ND	HD	SLIVI	1 Vulue			
Lightness (L*	Lightness (L*)							
24 h	59.82 ^{ABa}	57.02 ^{ABb}	56.59 ^b	1.393	0.035			
48 h	61.08 ^{Aa}	58.96 ^{Ab}	56.83°	1.931	0.003			
96 h	58.80 ^{Ba}	56.14 ^{Bb}	56.01 ^b	1.883	0.021			
SEM	2.032	2.261	3.412	-	-			
<i>P</i> -value	0.046	0.039	0.225	-	-			
Redness (a [*])								

Item	Groups			SFM	P-value
item	LD	ND	HD		I -value
24 h	7.08 ^{Ab}	8.24 ^{Aa}	8.31ª		
48 h	6.86 ^{ABb}	7.42 ^{ABa}	7.89 ^a	0.529	0.031
96 h	6.57 ^{Bb}	7.21 ^{Ba}	7.56 ^a	0.471	0.022
SEM	0.313	0.521	0.954	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.049	0.042	0.084	-	-
Yellowness (b) *)				
24 h	8.35 ^{Ba}	7.54 ^{Bb}	7.28 ^b	0.484	0.011
48 h	8.87 ^{ABa}	7.89 ^{ABb}	7.37 ^b	0.583	0.035
96 h	9.29 ^{Aa}	8.56 ^{Ab}	7.81°	0.618	0.003
SEM	0.554	0.602	0.658	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.047	0.033	0.096	-	-

Continuation of Table 4-4

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

Color of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs at different postmortem times was shown in Table 4-4. Offspring pigs from ND and HD groups had lower L* and b* values, and higher a* values compared with those from LD group at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem storage, respectively (P<0.05). Meanwhile, L* values in offspring pigs from LD and ND groups were higher at 48 h than those at 96 h postmortem storage, and b* values were lower at 24 h than those at 96 h postmortem storage (P<0.05).

No differences in L* and b* values were observed in offspring pigs from HD group among all postmortem storage times (P>0.05). In addition, a* values in offspring pig from LD and ND group at 24 h were higher than those at 96 h postmortem storage, while no differences in a* values of offspring pigs from HD group were observed among all postmortem storage times (P>0.05).

4.1.5 LF-NMR

Distribution of the LF-NMR T_2 relaxation times of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage was shown in Table 4-5 and Figure 4-1. No differences in T_{2a} relaxation times of offspring pigs from LD, ND and HD groups were observed at whole postmortem storage times (P>0.05). T_{21} relaxation times in offspring pigs from HD group were lower than those from LD group during postmortem storage times (P<0.05). At the same experimental group, no differences in T_{2a} and T_{21} relaxation times were found among all postmortem storage times (P>0.05). In addition, T_{22} relaxation times in offspring pigs from LD group were higher than those from ND and HD groups at whole postmortem storage times (P<0.05), and all groups had higher T_{22} relaxation times at 96 h compared with those at 24 and 48 h postmortem storage (P<0.05).

Item	Groups			SEM	<i>P</i> -value
	LD	ND	HD		1 (4140
T_{2a} , ms					
24 h	0.050 ^a	0.052ª	0.054 ^a	0.001	0.189
48 h	0.054 ^a	0.052ª	0.052ª	0.002	0.221
96 h	0.054 ^a	0.052ª	0.052ª	0.001	0.192
SEM	0.001	0.001	0.001	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.225	0.199	0.236	-	-
$T_{21}, { m ms}$					
24 h	15.59ª	14.88 ^{ab}	14.18 ^b	0.631	0.047
48 h	14.98 ^a	14.32 ^{ab}	14.18 ^b	0.539	0.044
96 h	15.49 ^a	15.24 ^{ab}	14.88 ^b	0.524	0.043
SEM	1.244	1.162	1.385	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.053	0.074	0.099	-	-
T_{22}, ms	·	·	·	·	·

Table 4-5 Distribution of the LF-NMR T_2 relaxation times of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Continuation of Table 4-5

Item		Groups		SFM	<i>P</i> -value
	LD	ND	HD	SEIVI	1 -value
24 h	254.08 ^{Ba}	220.98 ^{Bb}	220.98 ^{Bb}	3.616	0.022
48 h	233.27 ^{Ba}	200.92 ^{Bb}	200.92 ^{Bb}	2.948	0.027
96 h	307.37 ^{Aa}	285.50 ^{Ab}	242.55 ^{Ac}	5.592	0.003
SEM	8.965	9.887	10.02	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.022	0.033	0.048	-	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). T_{2a} , binding water relaxation. T_{21} , immobile water relaxation time. T_{22} , free water relaxation time.



Figure 4-1 Three-dimensional T_2 relaxation time plot of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs from LD, ND and HD groups during postmortem storage

4.1.6 Discussion

Our present research found that there were interactions between maternal VD₃ supplementation and postmortem storage on pH, shear force, WHC, meat color and distribution of the LF-NMR T_2 relaxation times of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs for the first time. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ status and postmortem storage affected meat quality attributes in offspring pigs by regulating meat quality index.

Previous study found that the decrease of pH value is due to the accumulation of lactic acid produced by anaerobic glycolysis ¹⁹⁹. In this study, pH values of LD and ND group were significantly decreased with postmortem storage time, while no differences in pH values of HD group were obtained. These results suggested that maternal VD₃ supplementation could maintain the relative stability of pH value of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs at 24, 48 and 96 h postmortem storage. Our findings indicated that similar metabolic changes occurred in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of offspring pigs from HD group during postmortem storage times.

In the present study, shear force of offspring pigs from HD group was lower than that from ND and LD groups, which indicated that maternal VD₃ status influenced shear force of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs. Our previous studies have observed that maternal VD₃ supplementation increased IMF accumulation of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring piglets via regulating adipogenic genes expression ^{21, 22}. IMF in skeletal muscle is positively correlated with meat tenderness ¹⁸⁵. Therefore, maternal VD₃ supplementation decreased shear force of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs may be due to the increasing IMF content. Previous study also found that VD₃ increased tenderness of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in beef through activation of m-calpain ²⁰³. Whereas, its mechanism needs to be still identified in further studies. Meanwhile, shear force of values in HD group greatly decreased after 96 h postmortem, while no significant differences in shear force of LD and ND groups were found during postmortem storage. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation could rapidly decline shear force in offspring pigs, and improved pork palatability during postmortem storage. Similar result was reported by previous researcher ²¹⁰, who observed that the shear force values of chicken breast muscle greatly decreased after 5 d postmortem. In addition, the chilling process also influenced tenderness of pork muscle *longissimus* dorsi ²¹⁷. Whereas, other study noted that shear force of chicken breast muscles was significantly increased during storage ²¹⁰. Inconsistent research results in shear force might be due to different species, postmortem storage time, experimental conditions and storage temperature.

WHC affects economic and sensory properties of meat, which is very important in the meat industry ¹⁹⁷. Previous studies showed that the WHC is very important for reducing exudates, and improving palatability, juiciness, tenderness, and meat quality attributes ^{198, 247}. Meanwhile, the juiciness of meat is correlated to pH value and IMF content of pork. pH decline affects WHC, moisture, tenders and color of meat ²⁴⁸. In this study, HD group had higher pH value and WHC compared with LD group during postmortem storage times. These results suggested that pH value were negatively correlated with exudates, and positively correlated with WHC of meat ¹⁹⁸. In addition, HD group had no differences in pH values and WHC of longissimus dorsi muscle at 24, 48, and 96 h postmortem storage, which indicated that maternal VD_3 supplementation could inhibited the decline of WHC, and improved juiciness and eating meat quality attributes of *longissimus dorsi* muscles in offspring pigs during postmortem storage. Postmortem storage decreased WHC of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs from LD group. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ deficiency could significantly decreased juiciness of meat and meat quality attributes in offspring pigs during postmortem storage times. Similar results found that WHC values decreased during storage time and increased drip loss in packaged meat, which decreased meat quality ²⁴⁹.

Meat color is usually used for assessing freshness and meat quality attributes ¹⁸⁹, which is the direct factor that determine consumers' purchase ¹⁸⁸. In this study, offspring pigs from HD group had lower L*, b* values, and higher a* value of *longissimus dorsi* muscle compared with those from LD group during postmortem storage times, which improved red color and decreased lightness and yellowness of meat. In addition, the *longissimus dorsi* muscle of offspring pigs in HD group tended

to be darker appearance than those in LD and ND groups during postmortem storage. These results suggested that maternal VD₃ supplementation could improve meat quality attributes of offspring pigs. Previous study found that the dark appearance of meat color may be caused by metmyoglobin reduction ²⁵⁰. Other study noted that inactivation enzyme systems are considered to contribute to the dark appearance of meat color ²⁵¹. Certainly, the mechanism underlying still needs to be proved by further investigation. Meanwhile, L* and a* values of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs from LD and ND groups were decreased significantly with postmortem storage time, while b* values increased with postmortem storage time, which suggested that maternal VD₃ supplementation could inhibit the decline of lightness and redness, and the rise of yellowness in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of offspring pigs during postmortem storage. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation could prolong the postmortem storage time and retail display of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs.

The moisture content (or WHC) is directly related to the color, tenderness, juiciness, and flavor of meat, which affects the preservation and processing characteristics of meat. In addition, the moisture content and distribution in meat showed a dynamic change process during storage and affected the meat quality ²⁵². LF-NMR relaxation time can be used to characterized water distribution and mobility in meat, and it is helpful to understand the influence of postmortem process, cooling and other factors on WHC of meat ²¹⁸. Several studies have reported that the LF-NMR relaxation times reflects the degree of tightness between water and substrate, which could distinguish water interacting with macromolecules, water in myofibrils and reticular tissue, as well as extracellular water in meat ¹⁹⁵. Meanwhile, T_{2a} (0-10 ms) represents the binding water combined with macromolecules substances such as protein, T_{21} (10-100 ms) represents water that is existed in the myofibrillar network of muscle, and T_{22} (100-400 ms) represents free water between fiber bundles of muscle ^{253, 254}. In this present study, at the same experimental group no differences in T_{2a} of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs were observed during postmortem storage times. These results suggested that maternal VD₃ status had no impact on binding water of muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage. Meanwhile, T_{21} and T_{22} of longissimus dorsi muscle of offspring pigs from HD group were lower than those from LD group during whole postmortem storage, which suggested that maternal VD_3 supplementation decreased free water content and water mobility in *longissimus dorsi* muscle of offspring pigs during postmortem storage. These results indicated that offspring pigs from HD group had higher WHC and juiciness in longissimus dorsi muscle, and better meat quality attributes compared with LD group. Our study also found that T_{22} of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs form all groups increased with postmortem storage time. Whereas, at the same experimental group no differences in T_{2a} and T_{21} of longissimus dorsi muscle of offspring pigs were observed during postmortem storage times. These results revealed that water mobility was affected, while bounded water wasn't influenced by postmortem storage times.

Taken together, our findings indicated that meat quality attributes, water state and distribution in offspring pigs were affected by maternal VD₃ status during pregnancy and postmortem storage. Meanwhile, HD group had better meat quality attributes (lower shear force, L*, b* values, T_{21} , T_{22} , and higher pH, WHC, a* value) compared with LD and ND groups during postmortem storage times.

4.2 Effects of maternal vitamin D₃ on meat quality technological properties in offspring pigs during frozen storage

4.2.1 Meat color

Table 4-6 Changes in color of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs during frozen storage

Item	Frozen storage time (h)					SEM	<i>P</i> -value
	0	24	48	72	96	5.12.101	1 varue
<i>L</i> *							
HD	54.14 ^{bC}	56.75 ^{aC}	56.98 ^{aC}	57.22 ^{aC}	57.22 ^{aC}	1.18	0.031
ND	56.97 ^{bB}	57.18 ^{abB}	59.06 ^{aB}	60.14 ^{aB}	60.64 ^{aB}	0.76	0.022
LD	59.65 ^{bA}	59.94 ^{abA}	61.22 ^{aA}	61.55 ^{aA}	61.63 ^{aA}	0.41	0.016
S.E.M	0.87	1.07	0.79	0.61	0.77	-	-

Item		Froze		SEM	<i>P</i> -value		
nom	0	24	48	72	96	5.12.101	1 varae
<i>P</i> -value	0.015	0.027	0.011	0.009	0.012	-	-
a*	•		•	•	•		
HD	8.23 ^{aA}	8.28 ^{aA}	7.66 ^{abA}	7.48 ^{abA}	7.35 ^{bA}	0.13	0.002
ND	8.11 ^{aA}	8.16 ^{aA}	7.31 ^{bA}	7.21 ^{bA}	7.08 ^{bA}	0.14	0.004
LD	7.26 ^{aB}	7.04 ^{aB}	6.65 ^{abB}	6.52 ^{abB}	6.34 ^{bB}	0.15	0.007
S.E.M	0.14	0.10	0.13	0.14	0.12	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.003	0.002	0.004	0.005	0.002	-	-
<i>b</i> *							
HD	5.85 °C	7.32 ^{bC}	7.49 ^{bC}	7.74 ^{abC}	7.95 ^{aC}	0.12	0.002
ND	6.23 ^{cB}	7.66 ^{bB}	7.95 ^{abB}	8.35 ^{aB}	8.67 ^{aB}	0.14	0.006
LD	7.95 ^{cA}	8.45 ^{bA}	8.98 ^{abA}	9.22 ^{aA}	9.40 ^{aA}	0.16	0.001
S.E.M	0.14	0.15	0.13	0.13	0.14	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.009	0.003	0.008	0.009	0.004	-	-

Continuation of Table 4-6

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05).

As shown in Table 4-6, L* and b* value of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs born to all groups increased with frozen storage time. At 0 h, L* and b* value of HD, ND and LD groups were 51.14, 56.97, 59.65 and 5.85, 6.23, 7.95, and at 96 h increased to 57.58, 60.64, 61.63 and 7.95, 8.67, 9.40 respectively (P<0.05). L* and b* value of ND group was lower than that of LD group, and was higher that of HD group during frozen storage. a* value of all groups decreased with frozen storage time, a* value of HD, ND and LD groups were 8.23, 8.11, 7.26 at 0 h, and decreased to 7.35, 7.08, 6.34 respectively (P<0.05). The a* values of LD group were lower than that of ND and HD groups during frozen storage (P<0.05).

4.2.2 Thawing loss, cooking loss and shear force

Table 4-7	Changes in th	awing loss,	cooking	loss and	shear force	e of <i>longis</i>	simus
dorsi muscle in	offspring pigs	during froz	en storage	e			

Item		Frozei	S.E.M	<i>P</i> -value			
	0	24	48	72	96		
Thawing	loss, %	I	L				L
HD	1.64 ^{eC}	1.78 ^{dC}	1.93 °C	2.13 ^{bC}	2.281 ^{aC}	0.17	0.009
ND	2.11 ^{eB}	2.31 dB	2.44 ^{cB}	2.65 ^{bB}	2.94 ^{aB}	0.18	0.011
LD	2.35 eA	2.57 ^{dA}	2.81 ^{cA}	3.12 ^{bA}	3.38 ^{aA}	0.21	0.014
S.E.M	0.13	0.16	0.14	0.21	0.23	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.012	0.015	0.021	0.023	0.019	_	-
Cooking l	.oss, %						
HD	28.84 ^{bB}	29.29 ^{abB}	30.56 ^{aB}	31.22 ^{aB}	32.04 ^{aB}	1.29	0.006
ND	31.88 ^{bA}	32.01 ^{abA}	32.88 ^{abA}	33.48 ^{aA}	34.18 ^{aA}	0.85	0.008
LD	32.66 ^{bA}	32.94 ^{abA}	33.24 ^{abA}	33.89 ^{aA}	34.76 ^{aA}	0.95	0.004
S.E.M	0.65	1.03	1.06	1.10	0.98	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.024	0.031	0.028	0.016	0.011	-	-
Shear for	ce, kg						
HD	2.86 ^{aC}	2.77 ^{aC}	2.53 ^{abC}	2.46 ^{bC}	2.42 ^{bC}	0.11	0.003
ND	3.31 ^{aB}	3.14 ^{aB}	3.02 ^{abB}	2.99 ^{bB}	2.98 ^{bB}	0.22	0.004
LD	3.58 ^{aA}	3.46 ^{aA}	3.38 ^{abA}	3.42 ^{aA}	3.26 ^{bA}	0.16	0.006
S.E.M	0.21	0.17	0.15	0.14	0.14	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.008	0.006	0.007	0.005	0.003	_	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

As shown in Table 4-7, thawing loss and cooking loss of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs born to all groups increased with frozen storage time (P<0.05). Whereas, shear force of all groups decreased with frozen storage time (P<0.05).

Thawing loss and shear force of ND group was lower than that of LD group, while was higher than that of HD group during frozen time, respectively (P<0.05). Meanwhile, cooking loss of HD group was lower than that of ND and LD groups during frozen storage (P<0.05).

4.2.3 LF-NMR relaxation time

Table 4-8 Changes in LF-NMR relaxation times of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during frozen storage

Item		S.E.M	<i>P</i> -value				
	0	24	48	72	96		
T_{2a} , ms	L	L		L			
HD	0.50 ^{aA}	0.55 ^{aA}	0.53 ^{aA}	0.54 ^{aA}	0.54 ^{aA}	0.003	0.318
ND	0.50 ^{aA}	0.53 ^{aA}	0.54 ^{aA}	0.55 ^{aA}	0.55 ^{aA}	0.004	0.254
LD	0.50 ^{aA}	0.512 ^{aA}	0.56 ^{aA}	0.56 ^{aA}	0.56 ^{aA}	0.002	0.281
S.E.M	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.003	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.225	0.231	0.188	0.197	0.332	-	-
T_{21} , ms							
HD	13.56 ^{bB}	15.22 ^{abB}	15.58 ^{abB}	15.96 ^{aB}	16.14 ^{aB}	1.02	0.041
ND	14.17 ^{bA}	15.99 ^{abA}	16.42 ^{abA}	16.81 ^{aA}	16.94 ^{aA}	0.87	0.035
LD	14.18 ^{bA}	16.14 ^{abA}	16.38 ^{abA}	16.89 ^{aA}	17.21 ^{aA}	0.73	0.046
S.E.M	1.05	0.88	0.81	0.74	0.84	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.047	0.039	0.028	0.033	0.024	-	-
$T_{22}, { m ms}$							
HD	167.17 ^{bC}	230.32 ^{abB}	234.45 ^{abB}	241.18 ^{aC}	248.47 ^{aC}	7.19	0.048
ND	183.48 ^{cB}	231.16 ^{bB}	235.09 ^{bB}	269.95 ^{abB}	291.18 ^{aB}	9.89	0.044
LD	192.20 ^{cA}	262.62 ^{bA}	272.23 ^{bA}	301.35 ^{abA}	324.42 ^{aA}	9.78	0.038
S.E.M	5.78	9.34	10.30	10.71	8.64	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.026	0.041	0.046	0.029	0.031	-	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

As shown in Table 4-8 and figure 4-2, T_{21} and T_{22} relaxation times of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs born to all groups increased with frozen storage, whereas, no differences in T_{2a} relaxation times of all groups were observed with frozen storage (*P*>0.05). T_{21} relaxation times of HD group was lower than that of ND and LD groups (*P*<0.05). Meanwhile, T_{22} relaxation times of ND group was lower than that of LD group, and was higher than that of HD group during frozen storage, respectively (*P*<0.05). There was no difference in T_{2a} relaxation times among HD, ND and LD groups during frozen storage (*P*>0.05).



Figure 4-2. Three-dimensional T_2 relaxation time plot of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs from LD, ND and HD groups during frozen storage

4.2.4. Discussion

Meat color usually affects consumer's purchasing decisions, and is used for assessing freshness and attributes of meat quality ¹⁸⁹. In this study, L* and b* values of

longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs born to all groups were increased with the prolongation of frozen storage time. Whereas, a* value decreased with extended frozen storage time. These results suggested that meat color was affected by frozen storage time. Similar results were observed by previous researcher ²¹⁹, who found that meat color of porcine *longissimus dorsi* muscle was influenced by frozen storage time, and a* value decreased with increasing frozen storage time, whereas, the change trend of L* and b* values were opposite to that of a* value. Other researcher also found that there is a negative correlation between the a* value of frozen muscle and frozen storage time. These results may be due to the decrease metmyoglobin-reducing enzymes activity with prolonged frozen storage ²⁵⁵. Meanwhile, L* value increased with frozen storage time. These results may be due to the increase of muscle fiber contraction during freezing, which reduced the light scattering on the meat surface ²⁵⁶. In this study, b* value also increased with frozen storage time. Similar results were reported by previous researcher ²¹⁹, which may be related to increase in protein oxidation and thiobarbituric acid-reactive substance during frozen storage.

In this study we found that compared with HD group, LD group had higher L^{*} and b^{*} values, while lower a^{*} values of *longissimus dorsi* muscle at whole frozen storage periods. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ status may influenced meat color of frozen muscle in offspring, and maternal VD₃ deficiency decreased sensory quality of meat. Previous study found that pork color discoloration is associated with pigment and lipid oxidation ¹⁹¹. Our results may be due to maternal VD₃ status changed the activity of the oxidative processes and pigment oxidation in *longissimus dorsi* muscle, which influenced a^{*}, L^{*} and b^{*} values of pork of offspring pigs. Similar results were observed by previous researcher, who found that dietary VD₂ decreased lipid peroxidation of *longissimus* thoracis steak of pigs, improved redness value, and color stability ²⁰¹. Whereas, other study found that supplementation of VD₃ did not influence a^{*} and b^{*} value, while decreased L^{*} value of pork in finishing pigs ²⁰⁰. Inconsistent research results in meat color might be due to species, ages, dosage, and duration of feeding VD₃.

Freezing and thawing usually influenced the amount of thawing loss and drip loss, and when the freezing time was more than 19.5 min, the amount of thawing loss and drip loss was significantly higher than that before freezing ¹⁹³. Previous study demonstrated that thawing loss usually affects the color and sensory quality of meat ¹⁹⁴, and is associated with the destruction of muscle fiber structure and the denaturation of protein ¹⁹³. In this present study, the thawing loss of all groups increased with frozen storage, which may be due to the fracture of muscle fibers was caused by the formation of ice crystals at frozen storage ²⁵⁷. These results suggested that thawing loss of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs were affected by frozen storage time. Similar results were observed by previous report ²¹⁹, who found that thawing loss of porcine longissimus dorsi muscle (air freezing, immersion freezing and ultrasoundassisted immersion freezing) increased with frozen storage time. Meanwhile, our results found that thawing loss in offspring pigs born to LD group were significantly higher than that born to HD group for the first time, which indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation may reduce the formation of ice crystals, and decrease damage of the muscle structure during frozen storage, and improve WHC and meat quality attributes in offspring pigs. In addition, maternal VD₃ deficiency increased destruction of muscle structure and decreased the water binding capacity of muscle in offspring pigs. These results indicated that after thawing, compared with LD group, the muscle samples of HD group had stronger ability to reabsorb melted water back into the cells. Whereas, its regulatory mechanism still needs to be further studied.

Cooking loss is generally considered to be the release of chemically bound water due to fat melting and protein denaturation during cooking ¹⁹². There is a negative correlation between cooking loss and eating quality of meat ¹⁸². In this study, cooking loss of *longissimus dorsi* muscle of all groups increased with frozen storage time. These results suggested that the quality of meat still be lost during the process of frozen storage. Similar results were observed by previous researcher ²¹⁹, who found that cooking loss of porcine *longissimus dorsi* muscle significantly increased with increase in frozen storage time. Meanwhile, HD group had the lowest cooking loss during frozen storage, which indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation could prolong and protect the porcine meat quality through inhibiting the decrease in cooking loss of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs. The reason may be supposed that maternal VD₃ supplementation maintained the integrity of muscle tissue and decreased cooking loss in offspring pigs. However, the mechanism underlying still needs to be investigated by further.

Shear force usually reflects the tenderness of meat, and the increase of tenderness is associated to the length of frozen storage ¹⁹³. In the present study, shear force of *longissimus dorsi* muscle of all groups decreased with frozen storage time. Similar results were observed by previous researcher ¹⁹⁸, who found that shear force of freeze-thawed pork decreased with storage time. Meanwhile, some researchers also observed that shear force of beef decreased with frozen storage ^{258, 259}. Whereas, other researcher found that freezing did not influenced shear force of beef ¹⁹². Inconsistent research results in shear force value might be due to species, frozen storage time and temperature. Previous results demonstrated that shear force is negatively correlated to IMF content of muscle ¹⁸⁵. In this study, shear force in offspring pigs born to LD group were significantly higher than that born to HD group, which suggested that maternal VD₃ deficiency maybe decreased the tenderness of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during frozen storage through inhibiting the formation of IMF ²¹. These results indicated that maternal VD₃ status could affect the meat quality attributes in offspring pigs during frozen storage.

LF-NMR can reflect the distribution and migration of water in meat products, and T_{2a} represents the bound water, T_{21} corresponds to the immobilized water, as well as T_{22} represents the free water ²⁶⁰. In this study, no differences in T_{2a} relaxation time of all groups were observed with frozen storage time. Whereas, T_{21} and T_{22} relaxation times of all groups increased with frozen storage. These results suggested that the migration and distribution of water was affected by frozen storage, and frozen storage could lead to a certain level of the immobile water shifting to free water. Similar results were reported by previous researcher, who observed that T_{21} relaxation times of porcine *longissimus* muscle increased with increased freeze-thaw cycles ¹⁹⁶, which indicated that frozen storage could reduce the abundance of water in *longissimus dorsi* muscle. Other study also reported that T_{21} relaxation times of hake muscle increased with frozen storage ²⁶¹. These results may be due to the formation of ice crystals during frozen storage, which destroy the physical structure of muscle tissue, and resulting in the conversion of partially immobilized water into free water ¹⁹³. Previous results found that relaxation time is correlated to meat quality attributes, and higher T_2 relaxation time usually reflects higher thawing loss ^{219, 262}. Our results also found that the change in T_2 relaxation times is similar to that of the thawing loss during frozen storage. In addition, T_{21} and T_{22} relaxation times in offspring pigs born to HD group were significantly lower than that born to LD group, which indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation could increase WHC and meat quality in offspring pigs. Whereas, maternal VD₃ deficiency increased thawing loss and decreased WHC of offspring pigs during frozen storage.

4.3 Effects of maternal vitamin D₃ status on quality and technological properties of pork batters in offspring pigs during cold storage

4.3.1 Cooking loss

Table 4-9 Effects of maternal VD_3 status on cooking loss of pork batters in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Item	Groups		SEM	<i>P</i> -value	
	LD	ND	HD		1 Vulue
0 h	13.38 ^{Ba}	12.61 ^{Ba}	10.29 ^b	0.693	0.043
24 h	14.66 ^{ABa}	13.84 ^{ABa}	11.37 ^b	0.838	0.031
48 h	15.76 ^{Aa}	14.96 ^{Aa}	11.63 ^b	0.561	0.026
SEM	0.876	0.932	0.541	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.034	0.047	0.066	-	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05).

As shown in Table 4-9, cooking loss of pork batters in offspring pigs born to HD group was lower than those born to ND and LD groups at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem storage (P<0.05), while there were no differences in cooking loss between LD and ND

groups (P>0.05). Meanwhile, offspring pigs born to LD and ND groups had lower cooking loss of pork batters at 0 h compared with that at 48 h postmortem storage (P<0.05). No significant differences in cooking loss of pork batters of offspring pigs born to HD group were found among all postmortem storage times (P>0.05).

4.3.2 Color

Table 4-10 Effects of maternal VD₃ status on color of pork batters in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

_	Groups		SEM			
Item	LD	ND	HD			
Lightness (L	*)	1	1	1	1	
0 h	79.44 ^{Aa}	78.72 ^{Aab}	75.14 ^b	1.811	0.045	
24 h	78.34 ^{ABa}	77.63 ^{ABab}	75.60 ^b	2.193	0.039	
48 h	77.06 ^{Ba}	75.54 ^{Bab}	74.83 ^b	1.547	0.041	
SEM	1.633	1.766	2.441	-	-	
P-value	0.027	0.036	0.077	-	-	
Redness (a [*])	1		1	l		
0 h	4.96 ^{Ab}	5.08 ^{Aab}	5.37ª	0.152	0.013	
24 h	3.61 ^{ABb}	3.96 ^{ABab}	4.66ª	0.339	0.048	
48 h	3.42 ^{Bb}	3.67 ^{Bab}	4.32 ^a	0.207	0.024	
SEM	0.293	0.344	0.413	-	-	
P-value	0.022	0.018	0.053	-	-	
Yellowness (b*)	l	1	1		
0 h	9.51 ^{Ba}	8.33 ^{Bb}	8.18 ^b	0.352	0.043	
24 h	9.98 ^{ABa}	8.91 ^{ABb}	8.63 ^b	0.579	0.032	
48 h	10.87 ^{Aa}	9.73 ^{Ab}	8.84 ^b	0.424	0.015	
SEM	0.873	0.698	0.732	-	-	
P-value	0.036	0.013	0.061	-	-	

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

4.3.3 TPA

Table 4-11 Effects of maternal VD₃ status on TPA of pork batters in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Item	Groups	SFM						
Item	LD	ND	HD		1 vuiue			
Hardness	Hardness. N							
0 h	38.19 ^{Ac}	43.39 ^{Ab}	50.15 ^{Aa}	1.873	0.041			
24 h	33.20 ^{Bc}	37.33 ^{Bb}	42.74 ^{Ba}	1.795	0.045			
48 h	33.14 ^{Bc}	35.84 ^{Bb}	37.03 ^{Ca}	1.532	0.038			
SEM	1.006	1.704	1.014	-	-			
<i>P</i> -value	0.025	0.029	0.012	-	-			
Springine	ess							
0h	0.941 ^{Ab}	1.189 ^{Aab}	1.360 ^{Aa}	0.004	0.003			
24h	0.866 ^{Bb}	0.930 ^{Bab}	1.051 ^{Ba}	0.006	0.018			
48 h	0.813 ^{Bb}	0.828 ^{Bab}	0.841 ^{Ca}	0.012	0.027			
SEM	0.011	0.063	0.019	-	-			
<i>P</i> -value	0.023	0.034	0.012	-	-			
Cohesive	ness							
0 h	0.491 ^{Ab}	0.539 ^{Aab}	0.599 ^{Aa}	0.009	0.004			
24 h	0.416 ^{Bb}	0.436 ^{Bab}	0.480 ^{Ba}	0.004	0.003			
48 h	0.414 ^{Bb}	0.425 ^{Bab}	0.449 ^{Ca}	0.006	0.013			
SEM	0.034	0.029	0.014	-	-			
<i>P</i> -value	0.031	0.022	0.004	-	-			
Chewines	ss, N·mm							
0 h	15.45 ^{Ac}	19.63 ^{Ab}	23.68 ^{Aa}	0.554	0.022			
24 h	10.15 ^{Bc}	13.57 ^{Bb}	18.58 ^{Ba}	0.538	0.043			
48 h	9.75 ^{Bc}	12.09 ^{Bb}	14.53 ^{Ca}	0.117	0.048			

Continuation of Table 4-11

Item	Groups	SEM	<i>P</i> -value		
	LD	ND	HD	SLIVI	1 varae
SEM	0.884	0.691	1.135	-	-
<i>P</i> -value	0.033	0.025	0.011	-	-

erwIn the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P < 0.05).

As shown in Table 4-10, pork batters of offspring pigs born to HD group had higher a^{*} values, and lower L^{*} values compared with those born to LD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem storage (P<0.05). In addition, L^{*} and a^{*} values of pork batters in offspring pigs from LD and ND groups were higher at 0 h than those at 48 h postmortem storage (P<0.05).

However, no significant differences in L^{*} and a^{*} values of pork batters were determined in offspring pigs born to HD group among 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem storage (P>0.05). b^{*} value of pork batters in offspring from ND and HD groups were lower than those from LD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem storage (P<0.05). Meanwhile, b^{*} values of pork batters in offspring pigs born to LD and ND groups at 48 h were higher than those at 0 h postmortem storage (P<0.05), while no significant differences in b^{*} values of pork batters of offspring pigs born to HD group were measured among all postmortem storage times (P>0.05).

As shown in Table 4-11, hardness, and chewiness of pork batters in offspring pigs from ND group were lower than those from HD group, while higher than those from LD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem cold storage (P<0.05). Meanwhile, springiness and cohesiveness of pork batters in offspring pigs from HD group were higher than those from LD group during all postmortem cold storage times (P<0.05). In addition, offspring pigs from all groups had higher hardness, springiness, cohesiveness, and chewiness of pork batters at 0 h compared with those at 24 and 48 h postmortem cold storage (P<0.05).

4.3.4 LF-NMR

As shown in Table 4-12 and Figure 4-3, there were three characteristic peaks in the T_2 relaxation time map of pork batters in offspring pigs. There were no significant differences in T_{2a} relaxation time of pork batters among LD, ND and HD groups during the whole postmortem storage time (*P*>0.05).

Table 4-12 Effects of maternal VD₃ status on LF-NMR of pork batters in offspring pigs during postmortem storage

Itom	Groups			SEM	D volue
Item	LD	ND	HD		r-value
T _{2a} , ms		1	1	1	1
0 h	0.054 ^a	0.054 ^a	0.052ª	0.001	0.207
24 h	0.052 ^a	0.054 ^a	0.052ª	0.001	0.173
48 h	0.054 ^a	0.054 ^a	0.052ª	0.001	0.196
SEM	0.001	0.001	0.001	-	-
P-value	0.211	0.198	0.242	-	-
T ₂₁ , ms					1
0h	15.19 ^a	14.88 ^{ab}	13.25 ^b	0.801	0.039
24h	15.47 ^a	14.88 ^{ab}	14.68 ^b	0.663	0.022
48 h	14.88 ^a	14.48 ^{ab}	13.68 ^b	0.512	0.047
SEM	0.713	0.601	0.858	-	-
P-value	0.061	0.274	0.127	-	-
T ₂₂ , ms					
0 h	231.01ª	191.95 ^{Bb}	191.46 ^{Bb}	5.416	0.025
24 h	232.52ª	193.51 ^{Bb}	192.20 ^{Bb}	3.426	0.031
48 h	233.76ª	205.95 ^{Ab}	200.92 ^{Ab}	6.191	0.029
SEM	9.853	6.627	5.032	-	-
P-value	0.092	0.046	0.041	-	-

In the same column, values with different capital superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05). In the same line, values with different small letter superscripts mean significant difference (P<0.05).

Whereas, T21 relaxation time of pork batters of offspring pigs in HD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem were significantly lower than that in LD groups (P<0.05). In addition, T22 relaxation time of pork batters of offspring pigs in LD group were higher than that in ND and HD groups at 0, 24 and 48 h (P<0.05).



Figure 4-3. Three-dimensional T_2 relaxation time plot of pork batters in offspring pigs from LD, ND and HD groups during postmortem storage T_{2a} , binding water relaxation. T_{21} , immobile water relaxation time. T_{22} , free water relaxation time.

Meanwhile, The T_{22} relaxation time of pork batters of offspring pigs in all groups at 48 h was significantly higher than that at 0 and 24 h postmortem cold storage (*P*<0.05). No differences in T_{21} relaxation time of pork batters were also found at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem storage in the same group (*P*>0.05).

4.3.5 Discussion

In the present study, it was found that there was an interaction between maternal VD_3 status and postmortem storage on cooking loss, meat color, texture properties, LF-NMR T_2 relaxation time and dynamic rheological properties of pork batters in offspring pigs. Results revealed that maternal VD_3 level and postmortem storage impacted the quality of pork batters in offspring pigs by adjusting meat quality indices. Our research found that the cooking loss of LD and ND groups was lower at 0 h than at 48 h postmortem storage. These results suggested that WHC of pork batters was affected by postmortem cold storage. These results are in accordance with previous reports ²⁶³, in which it was found that freezing or frozen storage decrease the WHC of meat, and the cooking loss of meat was increased during cold storage ^{217, 264}. These results may be due to the destruction of muscle tissue structure during postmortem cold storage, resulting in the reduction of water protein interaction, which reduces the WHC of meat ²⁶⁵. Previous study has demonstrated that the decrease in WHC of meat may be related to the decrease of pH value, the destruction of muscle fiber structure and the denaturation of proteins during cold storage ¹⁹³. Meanwhile, no differences in cooking loss of pork batters were observed in HD group during whole postmortem storage times, which suggested that maternal VD₃ addition in high dose decreased the cooking loss, and increased juiciness of pork batters in offspring pigs during postmortem storage times.

The reason may be that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose inhibited the decline of cooking loss by reducing the decline of pH value in meat samples, and improving the juiciness of pork batters in offspring pigs²⁶⁶. In addition, the cooking loss of HD group was lower than that of LD and ND groups at 0 h, 24 h and 48 h postmortem, which indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose could improve the water retention of pork batters of offspring pigs. The reason may be that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose decrease cooking loss of offspring pigs by regulating pH values, muscle fiber structure and the denaturation of proteins during postmortem cold storage ^{193, 266}.

Growing evidence have demonstrated that one of the most important sensory attributes of fresh pork is color, which affects consumers' purchase of red meat ^{265, 267}. In this study, offspring pigs from HD group had higher a^{*} values of pork batters than the offspring pigs from LD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem cold storage. These results revealed that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose can maintained the stability of redness of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs.

These results are consistent with the color change trend of *longissimus dorsi* muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage times ²⁶⁶. The reason may be that maternal VD₃ supplementation can protect the phospholipid content against lipid peroxidation of pork batters in offspring pigs, and improved the color stability ²⁶⁸. Similar results were observed by previous researcher ²⁰¹, who found that on storage days 7, dietary 25-OH-D₃ supplementation may maintain the color stability of muscle samples with an increased redness by delaying the lipid peroxidation of muscle samples. Meanwhile, the value of L^{*} and b^{*} of pork batters in offspring pigs from HD group were lower than those from LD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem cold storage, which indicated that maternal VD₃ status inhibit lightness and yellowness of pork batters in offspring pigs and prolong the postmortem cold storage time.

Similar results were observed by a previous report ²⁰², that found dietary VD₃ supplementation (125,000 μ g) at 7 and 14 days postmortem decreased L* values of pigs compared with the control group. Another study also observed that VD₃ supplementation (2000 μ g) lowered L* values of pork ²⁰⁰. However, VD₃ supplementation did not affect b* values of pork ^{200, 202}. Inconsistent research results might be due to the species or age, dosage of VD₃, and duration of feeding VD₃ supplementation. In addition, offspring pigs from HD group had no differences in L* and a* values at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem storage, which indicated that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose inhibited the decrease of L* and a* values, and prolonged retail display of pork batters in offspring pigs during postmortem cold storage.

The texture of meat is usually considered to be the most important quality attributes that affecting consumer acceptance ^{269, 270}. The hardness, springiness, cohesiveness and chewiness of pork batters was increased by animal fat and sesame oil ²⁷¹. In the present study, the hardness, springiness, cohesiveness, and chewiness of pork batters of HD group were higher than that of LD group during all postmortem cold storage times, which suggested that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose improved texture properties of pork batters in offspring pigs. These results may be due to the increase of IMF content in offspring pigs by maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose ²¹.

The underlying mechanism still need to be proven by further investigation. In addition, our study found that the hardness, chewiness, springiness and cohesiveness of pork batters in offspring pig from all groups decreased with postmortem cold storage time. Similar results also were observed ²⁶⁵, who found that textural properties of beef decreased with storage time, which was supported by the decrease in WHC. These results suggested that TPA parameters of pork batters were influenced by cold storage time. The reason may be that the cooking loss of pork batters increases with storage time (as shown in Table 1), and finally decreased the TPA parameters. Previous studies also found similar trends in sheep and camel muscle ^{272, 273}. The decrease of textural properties may be also caused by the degradation of porcine muscle by microorganisms and the endogenous enzyme ²⁶⁵. However, other study observed that the TPA parameters of beef meat increased during storage period from 1 to 10 d ²⁷⁴. Previous study also found that the hardness of porcine longissimus dorsi muscle was increased during chill storage ²⁷⁵. The reason may be caused by the development of protein oxidation products in muscle samples during cold storage ²⁷⁶. Inconsistent results in TPA parameters might be due to species, the temperature, and times of cold storage.

LF-NMR T_2 relaxation time could be used to characterize water distribution and fluidity in meat, which was helpful to understand the effects of autopsy, chilling and other factors on WHC in meat ²¹⁸. Previous study has demonstrated that T_{2a} , T_{21} and T_{22} represents the binding water combined with protein, water in the myofibrillar network of muscle, and free water, respectively ²⁵³. In this study, there was no differences in T_{2a} of pork batters of offspring pigs were measured during cold storage in all-experimental groups, which indicated that binding water of pork batters of offspring pigs was not affected by maternal VD₃ status during cold storage period from 0 to 48 h postmortem.

In addition, HD group had lower T_{21} and T_{22} of pork batters than LD group at 0, 24 and 48 h postmortem cold storage. These results suggested that maternal VD₃ supplementation in high dose could inhabit water mobility, increase juiciness, and improve the quality of pork batters in offspring pigs during cold storage period. Our research also observed that offspring pigs born to LD, ND and HD groups had higher
T_{22} of pork batters at 48 h than those at 0 and 24 h postmortem cold storage, which indicated that water mobility was affected by postmortem cold storage.

4.4 Conclusions in section 4

1. Maternal VD_3 status affected pH value, WHC, shear force, meat color and LF-NMR relaxation times in offspring pigs during postmortem storage, which changed meat quality attribute and eating quality through regulating meat quality index.

2. Maternal high-dose VD₃ (3200 IU/kg basal diet) supplementation could improve meat quality function and technological properties, and prolong the freezing storage time of pork of offspring.

3. Maternal high-dose VD₃ status and cold storage time influenced cooking loss, meat color, texture properties, and low-field NMR T_2 relaxation time of pork batters in offspring pigs.

SECTION 5 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVING THE TECHNOLOGY OF MEAT PRODUCTION WITH GIVEN FUNCTIONAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL PROPERTIES

This experiment systematically analyzed the influence of different maternal VD₃ levels during pregnancy on the meat quality characteristics, processing performance and technological properties of the offspring pork, thus clarifying the formation of functional and technical properties of pork by the influence of vitamin D₃ on the different maternal level of pigs. The experimental results will provide a theoretical basis and implementation plan for scientific production of high-quality pork products, improvement of pork quality functions, and improvement of meat quality technical properties. In addition, it can also provide the following suggestions for improving meat production technology with given functions and technical characteristics:

1. The 41^{st} day gestation sow is the key window period for regulating the quality function and technical characteristics of offspring pork by means of nutrition (VD₃). Therefore, it is possible to produce high-quality offspring pork products by appropriately changing the nutritional level of VD₃ in the sows' diets at this time point.

2. From the 41st day of pregnancy to the farrowing period of sows, adjusting the level of VD_3 supplementation to 3200 IU/kg basic diet can significantly improve the quality characteristics and production performance of offspring pork. This experiment screened out the best VD_3 addition level of sows, providing a scientific feeding implementation plan for high-quality pork production.

3. Maternal high-dose VD_3 supplementation (3200 IU/kg basic diet) increased meat quality function and technology properties in pork and meat batters in offspring pigs during cold storage. So, maternal high-dose VD_3 supplementation could prolong the cold storage period and shelf life of pork and pork batters in offspring pigs.

4. Maternal high-dose VD_3 (3200 IU/kg basal diet) supplementation could also improve meat quality function and technological properties, and prolong the freezing storage time of pork of offspring.

Technological scheme and process of maternal VD_3 affecting pork quality of offspring pigs as shown in figure 5-1.





First, it was determined that the VD₃ addition level of pregnant sows was 3200 IU/kg basic diet, and the feeding period was from the 41^{st} day of gestation to the 114^{th} day of gestation). After the piglets are delivered, the VD₃ level in the sows' diet shall be fed according to the recommended amount of NRC standard, and the piglets are lactating for 28 days. The piglets are weaned at 28 days of age, and then enter the growth and fattening period from 29 to 150 days of age.

When the piglets reach 150 days of age, slaughter them, collect the *longissimus dorsi* muscle and analyze the changes of meat quality function under cold storage and freezing storage conditions, so as to determine the technology of improving the function of refrigerated meat by VD_3 level of pregnant sows.

Finally, through the preparation of meat batters after thawing of frozen pork, it is used to determine the influence of maternal VD_3 level on the meat (batters) quality function and technological properties in offspring.

In addition, the conditions for preparing meat batters from frozen pork were determined, and the specific operations were as follows: After freezing, take out the pork from the refrigerator, put the pork and 2% sodium chloride into the meat grinder, and add ice water of 20% of the total amount of meat samples in three times. Chop for 30 seconds at 1500 r/min and repeat twice. After that, it was chopped at the speed of 3000 r/min for 60 seconds (the center temperature was lower than 10°C). After processing, take out the pork batters, put it into the packaging bag, boil it in 80 °C water bath for 20-30 min (the center temperature is 72 °C), take it out, cool it at room temperature, and then store it in a 0-4 °C refrigerator.

CONCLUSIONS

The study was to conducted to investigated the formation of functional and technological properties of pork by the influence of Vitamin D3 on the differential maternal level of pigs.

The overall test results are as follows:

1. High-dose VD_3 maternal feeding can improve the pork quality function and technological properties of offspring by regulating key genes and serum hormones related to adipose tissue deposition.

2. Maternal VD_3 status during pregnancy have long-lasting impact on meat quality function and technological properties in offspring pigs.

3. Maternal VD₃ supplementation have positive effects on healthfulness of fatty acid profiles of offspring pork.

4. By adjusting the maternal VD_3 level during pregnancy, the pork quality characteristics of offspring were improved, and the scientific feeding scheme of VD_3 in early pregnancy sows was optimized.

5. Maternal VD_3 status affected pH value, WHC, shear force, meat color and LF-NMR relaxation times in offspring pigs during postmortem storage, which changed meat quality attribute and eating quality through regulating meat quality index.

6. Maternal high-dose VD₃ (3200 IU/kg basal diet) supplementation could improve meat quality function and technological properties, and prolong the freezing storage time of pork of offspring.

7. Maternal high-dose VD₃ status and cold storage time influenced cooking loss, meat color, texture properties, and low-field NMR T_2 relaxation time of pork batters in offspring pigs.

These results will provide a scientific basis for the early nutritional regulation of pork quality and process-ability (by regulating the level of VD₃ in pregnant sows), and maternal high-dose VD₃ (32000 IU/kg basal diet) during pregnancy (41st day of pregnancy) could improve meat quality and processing performance in offspring pigs by altering lipid metabolism.

112

REFERENCES

1. Chilliard, Y., Dietary fat and adipose tissue metabolism in ruminants, pigs, and rodents: a review. *Journal of dairy science* **1993**, *76* (12), 3897-931.

2. Ding, C.; Gao, D.; Wilding, J.; Trayhurn, P.; Bing, C., Vitamin D signalling in adipose tissue. *The British journal of nutrition* **2012**, *108* (11), 1915-23.

3. Wei, S.; Zhang, L.; Zhou, X.; Du, M.; Jiang, Z.; Hausman, G. J.; Bergen, W. G.; Zan, L.; Dodson, M. V., Emerging roles of zinc finger proteins in regulating adipogenesis. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* **2013**, *70* (23), 4569-84.

4. Miao, Z.; Wang, S.; Wang, Y.; Guo, L.; Zhang, J.; Liu, Y.; Yang, Q., A Potential Linking between Vitamin D and Adipose Metabolic Disorders. *Canadian journal of gastroenterology & hepatology* **2020**, *2020*, 2656321.

5. Gregoire, F. M.; Smas, C. M.; Sul, H. S., Understanding adipocyte differentiation. *Physiological reviews* **1998**, *78* (3), 783-809.

6. Suganami, T.; Ogawa, Y., Adipose tissue macrophages: their role in adipose tissue remodeling. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **2010**, *88* (1), 33-9.

7. Du, M.; Wang, B.; Fu, X.; Yang, Q.; Zhu, M. J., Fetal programming in meat production. *Meat science* **2015**, *109*, 40-7.

8. Sbarbati, A.; Accorsi, D.; Benati, D.; Marchetti, L.; Orsini, G.; Rigotti, G.; Panettiere, P., Subcutaneous adipose tissue classification. *European journal of histochemistry : EJH* **2010**, *54* (4), e48.

9. Revelo, X. S.; Luck, H.; Winer, S.; Winer, D. A., Morphological and inflammatory changes in visceral adipose tissue during obesity. *Endocrine pathology* **2014**, *25* (1), 93-101.

10. Sarjeant, K.; Stephens, J. M., Adipogenesis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* **2012**, *4* (9), a008417.

11. Saely, C. H.; Geiger, K.; Drexel, H., Brown versus white adipose tissue: a minireview. *Gerontology* **2012**, *58* (1), 15-23.

12. Wehrli, N. E.; Bural, G.; Houseni, M.; Alkhawaldeh, K.; Alavi, A.; Torigian, D. A., Determination of age-related changes in structure and function of skin, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle with computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging,

113

and positron emission tomography. *Seminars in nuclear medicine* **2007**, *37* (3), 195-205.

13. Dix, C. F.; Barcley, J. L.; Wright, O. R. L., The role of vitamin D in adipogenesis. *Nutrition reviews* **2018**, *76* (1), 47-59.

14. Du, M.; Huang, Y.; Das, A. K.; Yang, Q.; Duarte, M. S.; Dodson, M. V.; Zhu, M. J., Meat Science and Muscle Biology Symposium: manipulating mesenchymal progenitor cell differentiation to optimize performance and carcass value of beef cattle. *Journal of animal science* **2013**, *91* (3), 1419-27.

15. Wang, W.; Seale, P., Control of brown and beige fat development. *Nature reviews*. *Molecular cell biology* **2016**, *17* (11), 691-702.

16. Harms, M.; Seale, P., Brown and beige fat: development, function and therapeutic potential. *Nature medicine* **2013**, *19* (10), 1252-63.

17. Rosen, E. D.; Spiegelman, B. M., Molecular regulation of adipogenesis. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology* **2000**, *16*, 145-71.

18. Du, M.; Yin, J.; Zhu, M. J., Cellular signaling pathways regulating the initial stage of adipogenesis and marbling of skeletal muscle. *Meat science* 2010, *86* (1), 103-9.

19. Yuan, Z.; Li, Q.; Luo, S.; Liu, Z.; Luo, D.; Zhang, B.; Zhang, D.; Rao, P.; Xiao, J., PPARgamma and Wnt Signaling in Adipogenic and Osteogenic Differentiation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Current stem cell research & therapy* **2016**, *11* (3), 216-25.

20. Tong, J.; Zhu, M. J.; Underwood, K. R.; Hess, B. W.; Ford, S. P.; Du, M., AMP-activated protein kinase and adipogenesis in sheep fetal skeletal muscle and 3T3-L1 cells. *Journal of animal science* **2008**, *86* (6), 1296-305.

21. Guo, L. P.; Miao, Z. G.; Ma, H. J.; Melnychuk, S., Effects of maternal vitamin D3 during pregnancy on FASN and LIPE mRNA expression in offspring pigs. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* **2020**, *158* (1-2), 128-135.

22. Guo, L.; Miao, Z.; Ma, H.; Melnychuk, S., Effects of maternal vitamin D3 concentration during pregnancy on adipogenic genes expression and serum

biochemical index in offspring piglets *Journal of Animal and Feed Science* **2020**, *29* (2), 125-131.

23. Uezumi, A.; Ito, T.; Morikawa, D.; Shimizu, N.; Yoneda, T.; Segawa, M.; Yamaguchi, M.; Ogawa, R.; Matev, M. M.; Miyagoe-Suzuki, Y.; Takeda, S.; Tsujikawa, K.; Tsuchida, K.; Yamamoto, H.; Fukada, S., Fibrosis and adipogenesis originate from a common mesenchymal progenitor in skeletal muscle. *Journal of cell science* **2011**, *124* (Pt 21), 3654-64.

24. Yang, Q. Y.; Liang, J. F.; Rogers, C. J.; Zhao, J. X.; Zhu, M. J.; Du, M., Maternal Obesity Induces Epigenetic Modifications to Facilitate Zfp423 Expression and Enhance Adipogenic Differentiation in Fetal Mice. *Diabetes* **2013**, *62* (11), 3727-3735.

25. Bowers, R. R.; Lane, M. D., A role for bone morphogenetic protein-4 in adipocyte development. *Cell Cycle* **2007**, *6* (4), 385-9.

26. Harper, G. S.; Pethick, D. W., How might marbling begin? *Australian journal of experimental agriculture* **2004**, *44* (7), 10.

27. Gulyaeva, O.; Dempersmier, J.; Sul, H. S., Genetic and epigenetic control of adipose development. *Biochimica et biophysica acta. Molecular and cell biology of lipids* **2019**, *1864* (1), 3-12.

28. Armulik, A.; Genove, G.; Betsholtz, C., Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. *Developmental cell* 2011, *21* (2), 193-215.

29. Farmer, S. R., Transcriptional control of adipocyte formation. *Cell metabolism*2006, 4 (4), 263-73.

30. Xu, S.; Chen, P.; Sun, L., Regulatory networks of non-coding RNAs in brown/beige adipogenesis. *Biosci Rep* **2015**, *35* (5).

31. Gupta, R. K.; Arany, Z.; Seale, P.; Mepani, R. J.; Ye, L.; Conroe, H. M.; Roby, Y. A.; Kulaga, H.; Reed, R. R.; Spiegelman, B. M., Transcriptional control of preadipocyte determination by Zfp423. *Nature* **2010**, *464* (7288), 619-23.

32. Janesick, A.; Blumberg, B., Endocrine disrupting chemicals and the developmental programming of adipogenesis and obesity. *Birth defects research. Part C, Embryo today : reviews* **2011**, *93* (1), 34-50.

33. Medina-Gomez, G.; Gray, S.; Vidal-Puig, A., Adipogenesis and lipotoxicity: role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) and PPARgammacoactivator-1 (PGC1). *Public health nutrition* **2007**, *10* (10A), 1132-7.

34. Feige, J. N.; Gelman, L.; Michalik, L.; Desvergne, B.; Wahli, W., From molecular action to physiological outputs: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors are nuclear receptors at the crossroads of key cellular functions. *Progress in lipid research* **2006**, *45* (2), 120-59.

35. Blanchard, P. G.; Moreira, R. J.; Castro, E.; Caron, A.; Cote, M.; Andrade, M. L.; Oliveira, T. E.; Ortiz-Silva, M.; Peixoto, A. S.; Dias, F. A.; Gelinas, Y.; Guerra-Sa, R.; Deshaies, Y.; Festuccia, W. T., PPARgamma is a major regulator of branched-chain amino acid blood levels and catabolism in white and brown adipose tissues. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental* **2018**, *89*, 27-38.

36. Wang, B.; Yang, Q.; Harris, C. L.; Nelson, M. L.; Busboom, J. R.; Zhu, M. J.; Du, M., Nutrigenomic regulation of adipose tissue development - role of retinoic acid: A review. *Meat science* **2016**, *120*, 100-106.

37. Rosen, E. D.; MacDougald, O. A., Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **2006**, *7* (12), 885-96.

38. Rosen, E. D.; Sarraf, P.; Troy, A. E.; Bradwin, G.; Moore, K.; Milstone, D. S.; Spiegelman, B. M.; Mortensen, R. M., PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro. *Molecular cell* **1999**, *4* (4), 611-7.

39. Brun, R. P.; Spiegelman, B. M., PPAR gamma and the molecular control of adipogenesis. *The Journal of endocrinology* **1997**, *155* (2), 217-8.

40. Luo, H.; Zhou, Y.; Hu, X.; Peng, X.; Wei, H.; Peng, J.; Jiang, S., Activation of PPARgamma2 by PPARgamma1 through a functional PPRE in transdifferentiation of myoblasts to adipocytes induced by EPA. *Cell Cycle* **2015**, *14* (12), 1830-41.

41. Chandra, V.; Huang, P.; Hamuro, Y.; Raghuram, S.; Wang, Y.; Burris, T. P.; Rastinejad, F., Structure of the intact PPAR-gamma-RXR- nuclear receptor complex on DNA. *Nature* **2008**, *456* (7220), 350-6.

42. Garin-Shkolnik, T.; Rudich, A.; Hotamisligil, G. S.; Rubinstein, M., FABP4 attenuates PPARgamma and adipogenesis and is inversely correlated with PPARgamma in adipose tissues. *Diabetes* **2014**, *63* (3), 900-11.

43. Tontonoz, P.; Spiegelman, B. M., Fat and beyond: the diverse biology of PPARgamma. *Annual review of biochemistry* **2008**, *77*, 289-312.

44. Prentice, K. J.; Saksi, J.; Hotamisligil, G. S., Adipokine FABP4 integrates energy stores and counterregulatory metabolic responses. *Journal of lipid research* **2019**, *60* (4), 734-740.

45. Jenkins-Kruchten, A. E.; Bennaars-Eiden, A.; Ross, J. R.; Shen, W. J.; Kraemer,
F. B.; Bernlohr, D. A., Fatty acid-binding protein-hormone-sensitive lipase interaction.
Fatty acid dependence on binding. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 2003, *278* (48), 47636-43.

46. Hofer, P.; Boeszoermenyi, A.; Jaeger, D.; Feiler, U.; Arthanari, H.; Mayer, N.; Zehender, F.; Rechberger, G.; Oberer, M.; Zimmermann, R.; Lass, A.; Haemmerle, G.; Breinbauer, R.; Zechner, R.; Preiss-Landl, K., Fatty Acid-binding Proteins Interact with Comparative Gene Identification-58 Linking Lipolysis with Lipid Ligand Shuttling. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2015**, *290* (30), 18438-53.

47. Qiao, Y.; Liu, L.; Yin, L.; Xu, L.; Tang, Z.; Qi, Y.; Mao, Z.; Zhao, Y.; Ma, X.; Peng, J., FABP4 contributes to renal interstitial fibrosis via mediating inflammation and lipid metabolism. *Cell Death Dis* **2019**, *10* (6), 382.

48. Hotamisligil, G. S.; Bernlohr, D. A., Metabolic functions of FABPs-mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Nature reviews. Endocrinology* **2015**, *11* (10), 592-605.

49. Hsiao, P. J.; Chiou, H. C.; Jiang, H. J.; Lee, M. Y.; Hsieh, T. J.; Kuo, K. K., Pioglitazone Enhances Cytosolic Lipolysis, beta-oxidation and Autophagy to Ameliorate Hepatic Steatosis. *Scientific reports* **2017**, *7* (1), 9030.

50. Du, M.; Tong, J.; Zhao, J.; Underwood, K. R.; Zhu, M.; Ford, S. P.; Nathanielsz, P. W., Fetal programming of skeletal muscle development in ruminant animals. *Journal of animal science* **2010**, *88* (13 Suppl), E51-60.

51. Miao, Z.; Zhu, F.; Zhang, H.; Chang, X.; Xie, H.; Zhang, J.; Xu, Z., Developmental patterns of FASN and LIPE mRNA expression in adipose tissue of growing Jinhua and Landrace gilts. *Czech J Anim Sci* **2010**, *55* (12), 557-564.

52. Qiao, Y.; Huang, Z.; Li, Q.; Liu, Z.; Hao, C.; Shi, G.; Dai, R.; Xie, Z., Developmental changes of the FAS and HSL mRNA expression and their effects on the content of intramuscular fat in Kazak and Xinjiang sheep. *Journal of genetics and* genomics = Yi chuan xue bao 2007, 34 (10), 909-17.

53. Smith, S.; Witkowski, A.; Joshi, A. K., Structural and functional organization of the animal fatty acid synthase. *Progress in lipid research* **2003**, *42* (4), 289-317.

54. Haemmerle, G.; Zimmermann, R.; Zechner, R., Letting lipids go: hormonesensitive lipase. *Current opinion in lipidology* **2003**, *14* (3), 289-97.

55. Pelleymounter, M. A.; Cullen, M. J.; Baker, M. B.; Hecht, R.; Winters, D.; Boone, T.; Collins, F., Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* **1995**, *269* (5223), 540-3.

56. Miao, Z.-G.; Wang, L.-J.; Xu, Z.-R.; Huang, J.-F.; Wang, Y.-R., Developmental patterns in hormone and lipid metabolism of growing Jinhua and Landrace gilts. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* **2008**, *88* (4), 7.

57. Salmeron, C.; Johansson, M.; Asaad, M.; Angotzi, A. R.; Ronnestad, I.; Stefansson, S. O.; Jonsson, E.; Bjornsson, B. T.; Gutierrez, J.; Navarro, I.; Capilla, E., Roles of leptin and ghrelin in adipogenesis and lipid metabolism of rainbow trout adipocytes in vitro. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Part A, Molecular & integrative physiology* **2015**, *188*, 40-8.

58. Hynes, G. R.; Jones, P. J., Leptin and its role in lipid metabolism. *Current opinion in lipidology* **2001**, *12* (3), 321-7.

59. Gilbert-Diamond, D.; Baylin, A.; Mora-Plazas, M.; Marin, C.; Arsenault, J. E.; Hughes, M. D.; Willett, W. C.; Villamor, E., Vitamin D deficiency and anthropometric

indicators of adiposity in school-age children: a prospective study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2010**, *92* (6), 1446-51.

60. Rao, K. R.; Padmavathi, I. J.; Raghunath, M., Maternal micronutrient restriction programs the body adiposity, adipocyte function and lipid metabolism in offspring: a review. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* **2012**, *13* (2), 103-8.

61. Flohr, J. R.; Woodworth, J. C.; Bergstrom, J. R.; Tokach, M. D.; Dritz, S. S.; Goodband, R. D.; DeRouchey, J. M., Evaluating the impact of maternal vitamin D supplementation on sow performance: II. Subsequent growth performance and carcass characteristics of growing pigs. *Journal of animal science* **2016**, *94* (11), 4643-4653.

62. Belenchia, A. M.; Jones, K. L.; Will, M.; Beversdorf, D. Q.; Vieira-Potter, V.; Rosenfeld, C. S.; Peterson, C. A., Maternal vitamin D deficiency during pregnancy affects expression of adipogenic-regulating genes peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) and vitamin D receptor (VDR) in lean male mice offspring. *European journal of nutrition* **2018**, *57* (2), 723-730.

63. Marcotorchino, J.; Tourniaire, F.; Landrier, J. F., Vitamin D, adipose tissue, and obesity. *Hormone molecular biology and clinical investigation* **2013**, *15* (3), 123-8.

64. Tripkovic, L.; Lambert, H.; Hart, K.; Smith, C. P.; Bucca, G.; Penson, S.; Chope, G.; Hypponen, E.; Berry, J.; Vieth, R.; Lanham-New, S., Comparison of vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 supplementation in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2012**, *95* (6), 1357-64.

65. Vieth, R.; Bischoff-Ferrari, H.; Boucher, B. J.; Dawson-Hughes, B.; Garland, C. F.; Heaney, R. P.; Holick, M. F.; Hollis, B. W.; Lamberg-Allardt, C.; McGrath, J. J.; Norman, A. W.; Scragg, R.; Whiting, S. J.; Willett, W. C.; Zittermann, A., The urgent need to recommend an intake of vitamin D that is effective. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2007**, *85* (3), 649-50.

66. Wacker, M.; Holick, M. F., Sunlight and Vitamin D: A global perspective for health. *Dermato-endocrinology* **2013**, *5* (1), 51-108.

67. Zerwekh, J. E., Blood biomarkers of vitamin D status. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2008**, *87* (4), 1087S-91S.

68. Hollis, B. W., Assessment of vitamin D nutritional and hormonal status: what to measure and how to do it. *Calcified tissue international* **1996**, *58* (1), 4-5.

69. DeLuca, H. F., Vitamin D: Historical Overview. *Vitamins and hormones* **2016**, *100*, 1-20.

70. Sassi, F.; Tamone, C.; D'Amelio, P., Vitamin D: Nutrient, Hormone, and Immunomodulator. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10* (11).

71. Khammissa, R. A. G.; Fourie, J.; Motswaledi, M. H.; Ballyram, R.; Lemmer, J.; Feller, L., The Biological Activities of Vitamin D and Its Receptor in Relation to Calcium and Bone Homeostasis, Cancer, Immune and Cardiovascular Systems, Skin Biology, and Oral Health. *BioMed research international* **2018**, *2018*, 9276380.

72. DeLuca, H. F., Overview of general physiologic features and functions of vitamin D. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2004**, *80* (6 Suppl), 1689S-96S.

73. Li, J.; Byrne, M. E.; Chang, E.; Jiang, Y.; Donkin, S. S.; Buhman, K. K.; Burgess, J. R.; Teegarden, D., 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D hydroxylase in adipocytes. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* **2008**, *112* (1-3), 122-6.

74. Pramono, A.; Jocken, J. W. E.; Essers, Y. P. G.; Goossens, G. H.; Blaak, E. E., Vitamin D and Tissue-Specific Insulin Sensitivity in Humans With Overweight/Obesity. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **2019**, *104* (1), 49-56.

75. Wamberg, L.; Christiansen, T.; Paulsen, S. K.; Fisker, S.; Rask, P.; Rejnmark, L.; Richelsen, B.; Pedersen, S. B., Expression of vitamin D-metabolizing enzymes in human adipose tissue -- the effect of obesity and diet-induced weight loss. *International journal of obesity* **2013**, *37* (5), 651-7.

76. Nimitphong, H.; Park, E.; Lee, M. J., Vitamin D regulation of adipogenesis and adipose tissue functions. *Nutrition research and practice* **2020**, *14* (6), 553-567.

77. Pelczynska, M.; Grzelak, T.; Walczak, M.; Czyzewska, K., Hypovitaminosis D and adipose tissue - cause and effect relationships in obesity. *Annals of agricultural and environmental medicine : AAEM* **2016**, *23* (3), 403-9.

78. Mai, X. M.; Chen, Y.; Camargo, C. A., Jr.; Langhammer, A., Cross-sectional and prospective cohort study of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and obesity in adults: the HUNT study. *American journal of epidemiology* **2012**, *175* (10), 1029-36.

79. Blum, M.; Dolnikowski, G.; Seyoum, E.; Harris, S. S.; Booth, S. L.; Peterson,
J.; Saltzman, E.; Dawson-Hughes, B., Vitamin D(3) in fat tissue. *Endocrine* 2008, *33* (1), 90-4.

80. Holick, M. F., The cutaneous photosynthesis of previtamin D3: a unique photoendocrine system. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* **1981**, 77 (1), 51-8.

81. Plum, L. A.; DeLuca, H. F., Vitamin D, disease and therapeutic opportunities. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery* **2010**, *9* (12), 941-55.

82. Saccone, D.; Asani, F.; Bornman, L., Regulation of the vitamin D receptor gene by environment, genetics and epigenetics. *Gene* **2015**, *561* (2), 171-80.

83. Dusso, A. S.; Brown, A. J.; Slatopolsky, E., Vitamin D. *American journal of physiology*. *Renal physiology* **2005**, *289* (1), F8-28.

84. Carlberg, C., Current understanding of the function of the nuclear vitamin D receptor in response to its natural and synthetic ligands. *Recent results in cancer research. Fortschritte der Krebsforschung. Progres dans les recherches sur le cancer* **2003**, *164*, 29-42.

85. Silvagno, F.; Pescarmona, G., Spotlight on vitamin D receptor, lipid metabolism and mitochondria: Some preliminary emerging issues. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* **2017**, *450*, 24-31.

86. Rosenstreich, S. J.; Rich, C.; Volwiler, W., Deposition in and release of vitamin D3 from body fat: evidence for a storage site in the rat. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **1971**, *50* (3), 679-87.

87. Mutt, S. J.; Hypponen, E.; Saarnio, J.; Jarvelin, M. R.; Herzig, K. H., Vitamin D and adipose tissue-more than storage. *Front Physiol* **2014**, *5*.

88. Blumberg, J. M.; Tzameli, I.; Astapova, I.; Lam, F. S.; Flier, J. S.; Hollenberg, A. N., Complex role of the vitamin D receptor and its ligand in adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2006**, *281* (16), 11205-13.

89. van der Meijden, K.; Lips, P.; van Driel, M.; Heijboer, A. C.; Schulten, E. A.; den Heijer, M.; Bravenboer, N., Primary human osteoblasts in response to 25hydroxyvitamin D3, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and 24R,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. *PloS one* **2014**, *9* (10), e110283.

90. Felicidade, I.; Sartori, D.; Coort, S. L. M.; Semprebon, S. C.; Niwa, A. M.; D'Epiro, G. F. R.; Biazi, B. I.; Marques, L. A.; Evelo, C. T.; Mantovani, M. S.; Ribeiro, L. R., Role of 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 in Adipogenesis of SGBS Cells: New Insights into Human Preadipocyte Proliferation. *Cellular physiology and biochemistry : international journal of experimental cellular physiology, biochemistry, and pharmacology* **2018**, *48* (1), 397-408.

91. Narvaez, C. J.; Simmons, K. M.; Brunton, J.; Salinero, A.; Chittur, S. V.; Welsh, J. E., Induction of STEAP4 correlates with 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulation of adipogenesis in mesenchymal progenitor cells derived from human adipose tissue. *J Cell Physiol* **2013**, *228* (10), 2024-36.

92. Mahajan, A.; Stahl, C. H., Dihydroxy-cholecalciferol stimulates adipocytic differentiation of porcine mesenchymal stem cells. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry* **2009**, *20* (7), 512-20.

93. Arner, P.; Spalding, K. L., Fat cell turnover in humans. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **2010**, *396* (1), 101-4.

94. Komai, A. M.; Brannmark, C.; Musovic, S.; Olofsson, C. S., PKA-independent cAMP stimulation of white adipocyte exocytosis and adipokine secretion: modulations by Ca2+ and ATP. *The Journal of physiology* **2014**, *592* (23), 5169-86.

95. Wood, R. J., Vitamin D and adipogenesis: new molecular insights. *Nutrition reviews* **2008**, *66* (1), 40-6.

96. Rosen, E. D.; Hsu, C. H.; Wang, X.; Sakai, S.; Freeman, M. W.; Gonzalez, F. J.; Spiegelman, B. M., C/EBPalpha induces adipogenesis through PPARgamma: a unified pathway. *Genes & development* **2002**, *16* (1), 22-6.

97. Mota de Sa, P.; Richard, A. J.; Hang, H.; Stephens, J. M., Transcriptional Regulation of Adipogenesis. *Comprehensive Physiology* **2017**, *7* (2), 635-674.

98. Sakuma, S.; Fujisawa, J.; Sumida, M.; Tanigawa, M.; Inoda, R.; Sujihera, T.; Kohda, T.; Fujimoto, Y., The involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinases in the 1alpha,25-dihydroxy-cholecalciferol-induced inhibition of adipocyte differentiation in vitro. *Journal of nutritional science and vitaminology* **2012**, *58* (1), 1-8.

99. Rayalam, S.; Della-Fera, M. A.; Ambati, S.; Yang, J. Y.; Park, H. J.; Baile, C. A., Enhanced effects of 1,25(OH)(2)D(3) plus genistein on adipogenesis and apoptosis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **2008**, *16* (3), 539-46.

100. Kong, J.; Li, Y. C., Molecular mechanism of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibition of adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* **2006**, *290* (5), E916-24.

101. Wang, H.; Eckel, R. H., Lipoprotein lipase: from gene to obesity. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* **2009**, *297* (2), E271-88.

102. Ji, S.; Doumit, M. E.; Hill, R. A., Correction: Regulation of Adipogenesis and Key Adipogenic Gene Expression by 1, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D in 3T3-L1 Cells. *PloS one* **2015**, *10* (7), e0134199.

103. Zhuang, H.; Lin, Y.; Yang, G., Effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on proliferation and differentiation of porcine preadipocyte in vitro. *Chemico-biological interactions* **2007**, *170* (2), 114-23.

104. Bikle, D. D., Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications. *Chemistry & biology* **2014**, *21* (3), 319-29.

105. Christakos, S.; Dhawan, P.; Verstuyf, A.; Verlinden, L.; Carmeliet, G., Vitamin
D: Metabolism, Molecular Mechanism of Action, and Pleiotropic Effects. *Physiological reviews* 2016, 96 (1), 365-408.

106. Wong, K. E.; Szeto, F. L.; Zhang, W.; Ye, H.; Kong, J.; Zhang, Z.; Sun, X. J.; Li, Y. C., Involvement of the vitamin D receptor in energy metabolism: regulation of uncoupling proteins. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* **2009**, *296* (4), E820-8.

107. Lee, H.; Bae, S.; Yoon, Y., Anti-adipogenic effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 are mediated by the maintenance of the wingless-type MMTV integration site/beta-catenin pathway. *Int J Mol Med* **2012**, *30* (5), 1219-24.

108. Ross, A. C.; Manson, J. E.; Abrams, S. A.; Aloia, J. F.; Brannon, P. M.; Clinton, S. K.; Durazo-Arvizu, R. A.; Gallagher, J. C.; Gallo, R. L.; Jones, G.; Kovacs, C. S.; Mayne, S. T.; Rosen, C. J.; Shapses, S. A., The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **2011**, *96* (1), 53-8.

109. Pereira-Santos, M.; Costa, P. R.; Assis, A. M.; Santos, C. A.; Santos, D. B., Obesity and vitamin D deficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* **2015**, *16* (4), 341-9.

110. Vranic, L.; Mikolasevic, I.; Milic, S., Vitamin D Deficiency: Consequence or Cause of Obesity? *Medicina* **2019**, *55* (9).

111. Freedman, B. I.; Wagenknecht, L. E.; Hairston, K. G.; Bowden, D. W.; Carr, J. J.; Hightower, R. C.; Gordon, E. J.; Xu, J.; Langefeld, C. D.; Divers, J., Vitamin d, adiposity, and calcified atherosclerotic plaque in african-americans. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **2010**, *95* (3), 1076-83.

112. Caron-Jobin, M.; Morisset, A. S.; Tremblay, A.; Huot, C.; Legare, D.; Tchernof, A., Elevated Serum 25(OH)D Concentrations, Vitamin D, and Calcium Intakes Are Associated With Reduced Adipocyte Size in Women. *Obesity* **2011**, *19* (7), 1335-1341.

113. Boon, N.; Hul, G. B.; Sicard, A.; Kole, E.; Van Den Berg, E. R.; Viguerie, N.; Langin, D.; Saris, W. H., The effects of increasing serum calcitriol on energy and fat metabolism and gene expression. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **2006**, *14* (10), 1739-46.

114. Fish, E.; Beverstein, G.; Olson, D.; Reinhardt, S.; Garren, M.; Gould, J.,
Vitamin D Status of Morbidly Obese Bariatric Surgery Patients. *J Surg Res* 2010, *164*(2), 198-202.

115. Beckman, L. M.; Earthman, C. P.; Thomas, W.; Compher, C. W.; Muniz, J.; Horst, R. L.; Ikramuddin, S.; Kellogg, T. A.; Sibley, S. D., Serum 25(OH) Vitamin D Concentration Changes After Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Surgery. *Obesity* **2013**, *21* (12), E599-E606.

116. Carrelli, A.; Bucovsky, M.; Horst, R.; Cremers, S.; Zhang, C. C.; Bessler, M.; Schrope, B.; Evanko, J.; Blanco, J.; Silverberg, S. J.; Stein, E. M., Vitamin D Storage

in Adipose Tissue of Obese and Normal Weight Women. *J Bone Miner Res* 2017, *32* (2), 237-242.

117. Wen, J.; Hong, Q.; Wang, X.; Zhu, L.; Wu, T.; Xu, P.; Fu, Z.; You, L.; Wang, X.; Ji, C.; Guo, X., The effect of maternal vitamin D deficiency during pregnancy on body fat and adipogenesis in rat offspring. *Scientific reports* **2018**, *8* (1), 365.

118. Bhat, M.; Noolu, B.; Qadri, S. S.; Ismail, A., Vitamin D deficiency decreases adiposity in rats and causes altered expression of uncoupling proteins and steroid receptor coactivator3. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* **2014**, *144 Pt B*, 304-12.

119. Walsh, J. M.; McGowan, C. A.; Kilbane, M.; McKenna, M. J.; McAuliffe, F. M., The relationship between maternal and fetal vitamin D, insulin resistance, and fetal growth. *Reproductive sciences* **2013**, *20* (5), 536-41.

120. Daraki, V.; Roumeliotaki, T.; Chalkiadaki, G.; Katrinaki, M.; Karachaliou, M.;
Leventakou, V.; Vafeiadi, M.; Sarri, K.; Vassilaki, M.; Papavasiliou, S.; Kogevinas,
M.; Chatzi, L., Low maternal vitamin D status in pregnancy increases the risk of
childhood obesity. *Pediatric obesity* 2018, *13* (8), 467-475.

121. Walker, G. E.; Ricotti, R.; Roccio, M.; Moia, S.; Bellone, S.; Prodam, F.; Bona, G., Pediatric obesity and vitamin D deficiency: a proteomic approach identifies multimeric adiponectin as a key link between these conditions. *PloS one* **2014**, *9* (1), e83685.

122. Kong, J.; Chen, Y.; Zhu, G.; Zhao, Q.; Li, Y. C., 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 upregulates leptin expression in mouse adipose tissue. *The Journal of endocrinology* **2013**, *216* (2), 265-71.

123. Scherer, P. E.; Williams, S.; Fogliano, M.; Baldini, G.; Lodish, H. F., A novel serum protein similar to C1q, produced exclusively in adipocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1995**, *270* (45), 26746-9.

124. Sun, X.; Zemel, M. B., Calcium and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulation of adipokine expression. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **2007**, *15* (2), 340-8.

125. Abbas, M. A., Physiological functions of Vitamin D in adipose tissue. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* **2017**, *165* (Pt B), 369-381.

126. Narvaez, C. J.; Matthews, D.; Broun, E.; Chan, M.; Welsh, J., Lean phenotype and resistance to diet-induced obesity in vitamin D receptor knockout mice correlates with induction of uncoupling protein-1 in white adipose tissue. *Endocrinology* **2009**, *150* (2), 651-61.

127. Kaneko, I.; Sabir, M. S.; Dussik, C. M.; Whitfield, G. K.; Karrys, A.; Hsieh, J. C.; Haussler, M. R.; Meyer, M. B.; Pike, J. W.; Jurutka, P. W., 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D regulates expression of the tryptophan hydroxylase 2 and leptin genes: implication for behavioral influences of vitamin D. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **2015**, *29* (9), 4023-35.

128. Nobre, J. L.; Lisboa, P. C.; Carvalho, J. C.; Martins, M. R.; Vargas, S.; Barja-Fidalgo, C.; de Moura, E. G.; de Oliveira, E., Leptin blocks the inhibitory effect of vitamin D on adipogenesis and cell proliferation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *General and comparative endocrinology* **2018**, *266*, 1-8.

129. Manna, P.; Jain, S. K., Vitamin D up-regulates glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) translocation and glucose utilization mediated by cystathionine-gamma-lyase (CSE) activation and H2S formation in 3T3L1 adipocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2012**, *287* (50), 42324-32.

130. Marcotorchino, J.; Gouranton, E.; Romier, B.; Tourniaire, F.; Astier, J.; Malezet, C.; Amiot, M. J.; Landrier, J. F., Vitamin D reduces the inflammatory response and restores glucose uptake in adipocytes. *Molecular nutrition & food research* **2012**, *56* (12), 1771-82.

131. Chun, R. F.; Lauridsen, A. L.; Suon, L.; Zella, L. A.; Pike, J. W.; Modlin, R. L.; Martineau, A. R.; Wilkinson, R. J.; Adams, J.; Hewison, M., Vitamin D-binding protein directs monocyte responses to 25-hydroxy- and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **2010**, *95* (7), 3368-76.

132. Querfeld, U.; Hoffmann, M. M.; Klaus, G.; Eifinger, F.; Ackerschott, M.; Michalk, D.; Kern, P. A., Antagonistic effects of vitamin D and parathyroid hormone

on lipoprotein lipase in cultured adipocytes. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN* **1999,** *10* (10), 2158-64.

133. Kawada, T.; Aoki, N.; Kamei, Y.; Maeshige, K.; Nishiu, S.; Sugimoto, E., Comparative investigation of vitamins and their analogues on terminal differentiation, from preadipocytes to adipocytes, of 3T3-L1 cells. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. A, Comparative physiology* **1990**, *96* (2), 323-6.

134. Larrick, B. M.; Kim, K. H.; Donkin, S. S.; Teegarden, D., 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D regulates lipid metabolism and glucose utilization in differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Nutrition research* **2018**, *58*, 72-83.

135. Chang, E.; Kim, Y., Vitamin D decreases adipocyte lipid storage and increases NAD-SIRT1 pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Nutrition* **2016**, *32* (6), 702-8.

136. Weber, K.; Erben, R. G., Differences in triglyceride and cholesterol metabolism and resistance to obesity in male and female vitamin D receptor knockout mice. *J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl)* **2013**, *97* (4), 675-83.

137. Matthews, D. G.; D'Angelo, J.; Drelich, J.; Welsh, J., Adipose-specific Vdr deletion alters body fat and enhances mammary epithelial density. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* **2016**, *164*, 299-308.

138. Cianferotti, L.; Demay, M. B., VDR-mediated inhibition of DKK1 and SFRP2 suppresses adipogenic differentiation of murine bone marrow stromal cells. *J Cell Biochem* **2007**, *101* (1), 80-8.

139. Kalbe, C.; Rehfeldt, C., [Aspects of prenatal development of muscle and adipose tissue: principles, regulation, and influence of maternal nutrition]. *Berliner und Munchener tierarztliche Wochenschrift* **2005**, *118* (11-12), 509-20.

140. Chango, A.; Pogribny, I. P., Considering maternal dietary modulators for epigenetic regulation and programming of the fetal epigenome. *Nutrients* **2015**, *7* (4), 2748-70.

141. Zhu, M. J.; Ford, S. P.; Nathanielsz, P. W.; Du, M., Effect of maternal nutrient restriction in sheep on the development of fetal skeletal muscle. *Biology of reproduction* **2004**, *71* (6), 1968-73.

142. Zhu, M. J.; Ford, S. P.; Means, W. J.; Hess, B. W.; Nathanielsz, P. W.; Du, M., Maternal nutrient restriction affects properties of skeletal muscle in offspring. *The Journal of physiology* **2006**, *575* (Pt 1), 241-50.

143. Symonds, M. E.; Stephenson, T., Maternal nutrition and endocrine programming of fetal adipose tissue development. *Biochemical Society transactions* 1999, *27* (2), 97-103.

144. Bonnet, M.; Cassar-Malek, I.; Chilliard, Y.; Picard, B., Ontogenesis of muscle and adipose tissues and their interactions in ruminants and other species. *Animal : an international journal of animal bioscience* **2010**, *4* (7), 1093-109.

145. Joe, A. W.; Yi, L.; Natarajan, A.; Le Grand, F.; So, L.; Wang, J.; Rudnicki, M. A.; Rossi, F. M., Muscle injury activates resident fibro/adipogenic progenitors that facilitate myogenesis. *Nature cell biology* **2010**, *12* (2), 153-63.

146. Hausman, G. J.; Thomas, G. B., Structural and histochemical aspects of perirenal adipose tissue in fetal pigs: relationships between stromal-vascular characteristics and fat cell concentration and enzyme activity. *Journal of morphology* **1986**, *190* (3), 271-83.

147. Yang, X. J.; Albrecht, E.; Ender, K.; Zhao, R. Q.; Wegner, J., Computer image analysis of intramuscular adipocytes and marbling in the longissimus muscle of cattle. *Journal of animal science* **2006**, *84* (12), 3251-8.

148. Martin-Gronert, M. S.; Fernandez-Twinn, D. S.; Bushell, M.; Siddle, K.; Ozanne, S. E., Cell-autonomous programming of rat adipose tissue insulin signalling proteins by maternal nutrition. *Diabetologia* **2016**, *59* (6), 1266-75.

149. Yuen, B. S.; Owens, P. C.; McFarlane, J. R.; Symonds, M. E.; Edwards, L. J.; Kauter, K. G.; McMillen, I. C., Circulating leptin concentrations are positively related to leptin messenger RNA expression in the adipose tissue of fetal sheep in the pregnant ewe fed at or below maintenance energy requirements during late gestation. *Biology of reproduction* **2002**, *67* (3), 911-6.

150. Marchix, J.; Alain, C.; David-Le Gall, S.; Acuna-Amador, L. A.; Druart, C.; Delzenne, N. M.; Barloy-Hubler, F.; Legrand, P.; Boudry, G., Maternal Linoleic Acid

Overconsumption Alters Offspring Gut and Adipose Tissue Homeostasis in Young but Not Older Adult Rats. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12* (11).

151. Crozier, S. R.; Harvey, N. C.; Inskip, H. M.; Godfrey, K. M.; Cooper, C.; Robinson, S. M.; Group, S. W. S. S., Maternal vitamin D status in pregnancy is associated with adiposity in the offspring: findings from the Southampton Women's Survey. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2012**, *96* (1), 57-63.

152. Morales, E.; Rodriguez, A.; Valvi, D.; Iniguez, C.; Esplugues, A.; Vioque, J.; Marina, L. S.; Jimenez, A.; Espada, M.; Dehli, C. R.; Fernandez-Somoano, A.; Vrijheid, M.; Sunyer, J., Deficit of vitamin D in pregnancy and growth and overweight in the offspring. *International journal of obesity* **2015**, *39* (1), 61-8.

153. Seipelt, E. M.; Tourniaire, F.; Couturier, C.; Astier, J.; Loriod, B.; Vachon, H.; Puceat, M.; Mounien, L.; Landrier, J. F., Prenatal maternal vitamin D deficiency sexdependently programs adipose tissue metabolism and energy homeostasis in offspring. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **2020**, *34* (11), 14905-14919.

154. Tint, M. T.; Chong, M. F.; Aris, I. M.; Godfrey, K. M.; Quah, P. L.; Kapur, J.; Saw, S. M.; Gluckman, P. D.; Rajadurai, V. S.; Yap, F.; Kramer, M. S.; Chong, Y. S.; Henry, C. J.; Fortier, M. V.; Lee, Y. S., Association between maternal mid-gestation vitamin D status and neonatal abdominal adiposity. *International journal of obesity* **2018**, *42* (7), 1296-1305.

155. Santamaria, C.; Bi, W. G.; Leduc, L.; Tabatabaei, N.; Jantchou, P.; Luo, Z. C.; Audibert, F.; Nuyt, A. M.; Wei, S. Q., Prenatal vitamin D status and offspring's growth, adiposity and metabolic health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The British journal of nutrition* **2018**, *119* (3), 310-319.

156. Schutkowski, A.; Max, D.; Bonn, M.; Brandsch, C.; Grundmann, S. M.; Hirche, F.; Staege, M. S.; Stangl, G. I., Vitamin D Does Not Play a Functional Role in Adipose Tissue Development in Rodent Models. *Molecular nutrition & food research* **2018**, *62* (4).

157. Wang, H.; Yu, X. D.; Huang, L. S.; Chen, Q.; Ouyang, F. X.; Wang, X.; Zhang, J., Fetal vitamin D concentration and growth, adiposity and neurodevelopment during infancy. *European journal of clinical nutrition* **2018**, *72* (10), 1396-1403.

158. Chaurasia, S.; Rao, T., Fetal Programming of Skeletal Muscle Development in Food Producing Animals-An Overview *Veterinary Research International* 2016, *4* (1),
6.

159. Beermann, D. H.; Cassens, R. G.; Hausman, G. J., A second look at fiber type differentiation in porcine skeletal muscle. *Journal of animal science* 1978, *46* (1), 125-32.

160. Karunaratne, J. F.; Ashton, C. J.; Stickland, N. C., Fetal programming of fat and collagen in porcine skeletal muscles. *Journal of anatomy* **2005**, *207* (6), 763-8.

161. Kuang, S.; Kuroda, K.; Le Grand, F.; Rudnicki, M. A., Asymmetric self-renewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. *Cell* **2007**, *129* (5), 999-1010.

162. Garcia, L. A.; King, K. K.; Ferrini, M. G.; Norris, K. C.; Artaza, J. N., 1,25(OH)2vitamin D3 stimulates myogenic differentiation by inhibiting cell proliferation and modulating the expression of promyogenic growth factors and myostatin in C2C12 skeletal muscle cells. *Endocrinology* **2011**, *152* (8), 2976-86.

163. Greenwood, P. L.; Hunt, A. S.; Hermanson, J. W.; Bell, A. W., Effects of birth weight and postnatal nutrition on neonatal sheep: II. Skeletal muscle growth and development. *Journal of animal science* **2000**, *78* (1), 50-61.

164. Daniel, Z. C.; Brameld, J. M.; Craigon, J.; Scollan, N. D.; Buttery, P. J., Effect of maternal dietary restriction during pregnancy on lamb carcass characteristics and muscle fiber composition. *Journal of animal science* **2007**, *85* (6), 1565-76.

165. Gao, J.; Nie, W.; Wang, F.; Guo, Y., Maternal Selenium Supplementation Enhanced Skeletal Muscle Development Through Increasing Protein Synthesis and SelW mRNA Levels of their Offspring. *Biological trace element research* **2018**, *186* (1), 238-248.

166. Padmavathi, I. J.; Rao, K. R.; Venu, L.; Ismail, A.; Raghunath, M., Maternal dietary chromium restriction programs muscle development and function in the rat offspring. *Experimental biology and medicine* **2010**, *235* (3), 349-55.

167. Confortim, H. D.; Jeronimo, L. C.; Centenaro, L. A.; Felipe Pinheiro, P. F.; Brancalhao, R. M.; Michelin Matheus, S. M.; Torrejais, M. M., Effects of aging and maternal protein restriction on the muscle fibers morphology and neuromuscular junctions of rats after nutritional recovery. *Micron* **2015**, *71*, 7-13.

168. Endo, I.; Inoue, D.; Mitsui, T.; Umaki, Y.; Akaike, M.; Yoshizawa, T.; Kato, S.; Matsumoto, T., Deletion of vitamin D receptor gene in mice results in abnormal skeletal muscle development with deregulated expression of myoregulatory transcription factors. *Endocrinology* **2003**, *144* (12), 5138-44.

169. Hines, E. A.; Coffey, J. D.; Starkey, C. W.; Chung, T. K.; Starkey, J. D., Improvement of maternal vitamin D status with 25-hydroxycholecalciferol positively impacts porcine fetal skeletal muscle development and myoblast activity. *Journal of animal science* **2013**, *91* (9), 4116-22.

170. Dwyer, C. M.; Fletcher, J. M.; Stickland, N. C., Muscle cellularity and postnatal growth in the pig. *Journal of animal science* **1993**, *71* (12), 3339-43.

171. Dwyer, C. M.; Stickland, N. C.; Fletcher, J. M., The influence of maternal nutrition on muscle fiber number development in the porcine fetus and on subsequent postnatal growth. *Journal of animal science* **1994**, *72* (4), 911-7.

172. Max, D.; Brandsch, C.; Schumann, S.; Kuhne, H.; Frommhagen, M.; Schutkowski, A.; Hirche, F.; Staege, M. S.; Stangl, G. I., Maternal vitamin D deficiency causes smaller muscle fibers and altered transcript levels of genes involved in protein degradation, myogenesis, and cytoskeleton organization in the newborn rat. *Molecular nutrition & food research* **2014**, *58* (2), 343-52.

173. Abrams, G. D.; Feldman, D.; Safran, M. R., Effects of Vitamin D on Skeletal Muscle and Athletic Performance. *The Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons* **2018**, *26* (8), 278-285.

174. Zhou, H.; Chen, Y.; Lv, G.; Zhuo, Y.; Lin, Y.; Feng, B.; Fang, Z.; Che, L.; Li, J.; Xu, S.; Wu, D., Improving maternal vitamin D status promotes prenatal and postnatal skeletal muscle development of pig offspring. *Nutrition* **2016**, *32* (10), 1144-52.

175. Thayer, M. T.; Nelssen, J. L.; Langemeier, A. J.; Morton, J. M.; Gonzalez, J. M.; Kruger, S. R.; Ou, Z.; Makowski, A. J.; Bergstrom, J. R., The effects of maternal dietary supplementation of cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) and 25(OH)D3 on sow and progeny performance. *Translational animal science* **2019**, *3* (2), 692-708.

176. Salter, A. M., The effects of meat consumption on global health. *Revue* scientifique et technique **2018**, *37* (1), 47-55.

177. Wood, J. D.; Enser, M.; Fisher, A. V.; Nute, G. R.; Richardson, R. I.; Sheard, P. R., Manipulating meat quality and composition. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **1999**, *58* (2), 363-70.

178. ISTRATI, D; VIZIREANU, C; DIMA, F, Efficiency of different type of tenderization for improving technological properties of bovine biceps femoris muscle. *Scientific Papers. Series D. Animal Science* **2014**, *LVII*, 6.

179. Hausman, G. J.; Dodson, M. V.; Ajuwon, K.; Azain, M.; Barnes, K. M.; Guan, L. L.; Jiang, Z.; Poulos, S. P.; Sainz, R. D.; Smith, S.; Spurlock, M.; Novakofski, J.; Fernyhough, M. E.; Bergen, W. G., BOARD-INVITED REVIEW: The biology and regulation of preadipocytes and adipocytes in meat animals. *Journal of animal science* **2009**, *87* (4), 1218-1246.

180. Hunt, M. R.; Garmyn, A. J.; O'Quinn, T. G.; Corbin, C. H.; Legako, J. F.; Rathmann, R. J.; Brooks, J. C.; Miller, M. F., Consumer assessment of beef palatability from four beef muscles from USDA Choice and Select graded carcasses. *Meat science* **2014**, *98* (1), 1-8.

181. Bauer, A.; Scheier, R.; Eberle, T.; Schmidt, H., Assessment of tenderness of aged bovine gluteus medius muscles using Raman spectroscopy. *Meat science* **2016**, *115*, 27-33.

182. Aaslyng, M. D.; Bejerholm, C.; Ertbjerg, P.; Bertram, H. C.; Andersen, H. J., Cooking loss and juiciness of pork in relation to raw meat quality and cooking procedure. *Food Quality and Preference* **2003**, *14* (4), 277-288.

183. Miao, Z. G.; Zhang, L. P.; Fu, X.; Yang, Q. Y.; Zhu, M. J.; Dodson, M. V.; Du, M., Invited review: mesenchymal progenitor cells in intramuscular connective tissue

development. *Animal : an international journal of animal bioscience* **2016**, *10* (1), 75-81.

184. Houbak, M. B.; Ertbjerg, P.; Therkildsen, M., In vitro study to evaluate the degradation of bovine muscle proteins post-mortem by proteasome and mu-calpain. *Meat science* **2008**, *79* (1), 77-85.

185. Magnabosco, C. U.; Lopes, F. B.; Fragoso, R. C.; Eifert, E. C.; Valente, B. D.; Rosa, G. J.; Sainz, R. D., Accuracy of genomic breeding values for meat tenderness in Polled Nellore cattle. *Journal of animal science* **2016**, *94* (7), 2752-60.

186. D'Souza, D. N.; Mullan, B. P., The effect of genotype, sex and management strategy on the eating quality of pork. *Meat science* **2002**, *60* (1), 95-101.

187. Ventanas, S.; Ruiz, J.; Garcia, C.; Ventanas, J., Preference and juiciness of Iberian dry-cured loin as affected by intramuscular fat content, crossbreeding and rearing system. *Meat science* **2007**, *77* (3), 324-30.

188. Mancini, R. A.; Kropf, D. H.; Hunt, M. C.; Johnson, D. E., Effects of endpoint temperature, pH, and storage time on cooked internal color reversion of pork longissimus chops. *Journal of Muscle Foods* **2005**, *16* (1), 11.

189. Uhlirova, L.; Tumova, E.; Chodova, D.; Vlckova, J.; Ketta, M.; Volek, Z.; Skrivanova, V., The effect of age, genotype and sex on carcass traits, meat quality and sensory attributes of geese. *Asian-Australasian journal of animal sciences* **2018**, *31* (3), 421-428.

190. Jia, N.; Kong, B. H.; Liu, Q.; Diao, X. P.; Xia, X. F., Antioxidant activity of black currant (Ribes nigrum L.) extract and its inhibitory effect on lipid and protein oxidation of pork patties during chilled storage. *Meat science* **2012**, *91* (4), 533-539.

191. Mitsumoto, M.; Arnold, R. N.; Schaefer, D. M.; Cassens, R. G., Dietary versus postmortem supplementation of vitamin E on pigment and lipid stability in ground beef. *Journal of animal science* **1993**, *71* (7), 1812-6.

192. Vieira, C.; Diaz, M. T.; Martinez, B.; Garcia-Cachan, M. D., Effect of frozen storage conditions (temperature and length of storage) on microbiological and sensory quality of rustic crossbred beef at different states of ageing. *Meat science* **2009**, *83* (3), 398-404.

193. Leygonie, C.; Britz, T. J.; Hoffman, L. C., Impact of freezing and thawing on the quality of meat: review. *Meat science* **2012**, *91* (2), 93-8.

194. Xia, X.; Kong, B.; Liu, Q.; Liu, J., Physicochemical change and protein oxidation in porcine longissimus dorsi as influenced by different freeze-thaw cycles. *Meat science* **2009**, *83* (2), 239-45.

195. Fjelkner-Modig, S.; Tornberg, E., Water distribution in porcine M. longissimus dorsi in relation to sensory properties. *Meat science* **1986**, *17* (3), 213-31.

196. Zhang, M. C.; Li, F. F.; Diao, X. P.; Kong, B. H.; Xia, X. F., Moisture migration, microstructure damage and protein structure changes in porcine longissimus muscle as influenced by multiple freeze-thaw cycles. *Meat science* **2017**, *133*, 10-18.

197. Van Oeckel, M. J.; Warnants, N.; Boucque, C. V., Comparison of different methods for measuring water holding capacity and juiciness of pork versus on-line screening methods. *Meat science* **1999**, *51* (4), 313-20.

198. Kim, G. D.; Jung, E. Y.; Lim, H. J.; Yang, H. S.; Joo, S. T.; Jeong, J. Y., Influence of meat exudates on the quality characteristics of fresh and freeze-thawed pork. *Meat science* **2013**, *95* (2), 323-9.

199. Wang, S.; Li, C.; Xu, X.; Zhou, G., Effect of fasting on energy metabolism and tenderizing enzymes in chicken breast muscle early postmortem. *Meat science* **2013**, *93* (4), 865-72.

200. Wilborn, B. S.; Kerth, C. R.; Owsley, W. F.; Jones, W. R.; Frobish, L. T., Improving pork quality by feeding supranutritional concentrations of vitamin D3. *Journal of animal science* **2004**, *82* (1), 218-24.

201. Duffy, S. K.; Kelly, A. K.; Rajauria, G.; Jakobsen, J.; Clarke, L. C.; Monahan, F. J.; Dowling, K. G.; Hull, G.; Galvin, K.; Cashman, K. D.; Hayes, A.; O'Doherty, J. V., The use of synthetic and natural vitamin D sources in pig diets to improve meat quality and vitamin D content. *Meat science* **2018**, *143*, 60-68.

202. Wiegand, B. R.; Sparks, J. C.; Beitz, D.; Parrish, F. C.; Horst, R. L.; Trenkle, A. H.; Ewan, R. C., Short-term feeding of vitamin D3 improves color but does not change tenderness of pork-loin chops. *Journal of Animal Science* **2002**, *80* (8), 2116-2121.

203. Whipple, G.; Koohmaraie, M., Calcium chloride marination effects on beef steak tenderness and calpain proteolytic activity. *Meat science* **1993**, *33* (2), 265-75.

204. Montgomery, J. L.; King, M. B.; Gentry, J. G.; Barham, A. R.; Barham, B. L.; Hilton, G. G.; Blanton, J. R., Jr.; Horst, R. L.; Galyean, M. L.; Morrow, K. J., Jr.; Wester, D. B.; Miller, M. F., Supplemental vitamin D3 concentration and biological type of steers. II. Tenderness, quality, and residues of beef. *Journal of animal science* **2004**, *82* (7), 2092-104.

205. Han, J. C.; Yang, X. D.; Zhang, T.; Li, H.; Li, W. L.; Zhang, Z. Y.; Yao, J. H., Effects of 1alpha-hydroxycholecalciferol on growth performance, parameters of tibia and plasma, meat quality, and type IIb sodium phosphate cotransporter gene expression of one- to twenty-one-day-old broilers. *Poultry science* **2009**, *88* (2), 323-9.

206. Cerisuelo, A.; Baucells, M. D.; Gasa, J.; Coma, J.; Carrion, D.; Chapinal, N.; Sala, R., Increased sow nutrition during midgestation affects muscle fiber development and meat quality, with no consequences on growth performance. *Journal of animal science* **2009**, *87* (2), 729-39.

207. Zhao, Y.; Jin, C.; Xuan, Y.; Zhou, P.; Fang, Z.; Che, L.; Xu, S.; Feng, B.; Li, J.; Jiang, X.; Lin, Y.; Wu, Effect of maternal or post-weaning methyl donor supplementation on growth performance, carcass traits, and meat quality of pig offspring. *Journal of the science of food and agriculture* **2019**, *99* (5), 2096-2107.

208. Miao, Z. G.; Wang, L. J.; Xu, Z. R.; Huang, J. F.; Wang, Y. R., Developmental changes of carcass composition, meat quality and organs in the Jinhua pig and Landrace. *Animal : an international journal of animal bioscience* **2009**, *3* (3), 468-73. 209. Laville, E.; Sayd, T.; Terlouw, C.; Chambon, C.; Damon, M.; Larzul, C.; Leroy, P.; Glenisson, J.; Cherel, P., Comparison of sarcoplasmic proteomes between two groups of pig muscles selected for shear force of cooked meat. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **2007**, *55* (14), 5834-41.

210. Kim, H. W.; Yan, F. F.; Hu, J. Y.; Cheng, H. W.; Kim, Y. H., Effects of probiotics feeding on meat quality of chicken breast during postmortem storage. *Poultry science* **2016**, *95* (6), 1457-64.

211. Wallace, A. M.; Gibson, S.; de la Hunty, A.; Lamberg-Allardt, C.; Ashwell, M., Measurement of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the clinical laboratory: current procedures, performance characteristics and limitations. *Steroids* **2010**, *75* (7), 477-88.

212. O'Fallon, J. V.; Busboom, J. R.; Nelson, M. L.; Gaskins, C. T., A direct method for fatty acid methyl ester synthesis: application to wet meat tissues, oils, and feedstuffs. *Journal of animal science* **2007**, *85* (6), 1511-21.

213. Jin, C. L.; Gao, C. Q.; Wang, Q.; Zhang, Z. M.; Xu, Y. L.; Li, H. C.; Yan, H. C.; Wang, X. Q., Effects of pioglitazone hydrochloride and vitamin E on meat quality, antioxidant status and fatty acid profiles in finishing pigs. *Meat science* **2018**, *145*, 340-346.

214. Waheed, S.; Hasnain, A.; Ahmad, A.; Tarar, O. M.; Yaqeen, Z.; Ali, T. M., Effect of Botanical Extracts on Amino Acid and Fatty Acid Profile of Broiler Meat. *Braz J Poultry Sci* **2018**, *20* (3), 507-515.

215. Hong, G. P.; Ko, S. H.; Choi, M. J.; Min, S. G., Effect of glucono-delta-lactone and kappa-carrageenan combined with high pressure treatment on the physico-chemical properties of restructured pork. *Meat science* **2008**, *79* (2), 236-43.

216. Choi, M. J.; Min, S. G.; Hong, G. P., Effects of pressure-shift freezing conditions on the quality characteristics and histological changes of pork. *Lwt-Food Sci Technol* **2016**, *67*, 194-199.

217. Xu, Y.; Huang, J. C.; Huang, M.; Xu, B. C.; Zhou, G. H., The effects of different chilling methods on meat quality and calpain activity of pork muscle longissimus dorsi. *J Food Sci* **2012**, *77* (1), C27-32.

218. Straadt, I. K.; Rasmussen, M.; Andersen, H. J.; Bertram, H. C., Aging-induced changes in microstructure and water distribution in fresh and cooked pork in relation to water-holding capacity and cooking loss - A combined confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) and low-field nuclear magnetic resonance relaxation study. *Meat science* **2007**, *75* (4), 687-95.

219. Zhang, M.; Xia, X.; Liu, Q.; Chen, Q.; Kong, B., Changes in microstructure, quality and water distribution of porcine longissimus muscles subjected to ultrasound-assisted immersion freezing during frozen storage. *Meat science* **2019**, *151*, 24-32.

220. Zhang, M. C.; Xia, X. F.; Liu, Q.; Chen, Q.; Kong, B. H., Changes in microstructure, quality and water distribution of porcine longissimus muscles subjected to ultrasound-assisted immersion freezing during frozen storage. *Meat science* **2019**, *151*, 24-32.

221. Harris, C. L.; Wang, B.; Deavila, J. M.; Busboom, J. R.; Maquivar, M.; Parish, S. M.; McCann, B.; Nelson, M. L.; Du, M., Vitamin A administration at birth promotes calf growth and intramuscular fat development in Angus beef cattle. *J Anim Sci Biotechno* **2018**, *9*.

222. Wang, B.; Fu, X.; Liang, X.; Wang, Z.; Yang, Q.; Zou, T.; Nie, W.; Zhao, J.; Gao, P.; Zhu, M. J.; de Avila, J. M.; Maricelli, J.; Rodgers, B. D.; Du, M., Maternal Retinoids Increase PDGFRalpha(+) Progenitor Population and Beige Adipogenesis in Progeny by Stimulating Vascular Development. *EBioMedicine* **2017**, *18*, 288-299.

223. Lee, Y. H.; Petkova, A. P.; Mottillo, E. P.; Granneman, J. G., In vivo identification of bipotential adipocyte progenitors recruited by beta3-adrenoceptor activation and high-fat feeding. *Cell metabolism* **2012**, *15* (4), 480-91.

224. Sinclair, K. D.; Allegrucci, C.; Singh, R.; Gardner, D. S.; Sebastian, S.; Bispham, J.; Thurston, A.; Huntley, J. F.; Rees, W. D.; Maloney, C. A.; Lea, R. G.; Craigon, J.; McEvoy, T. G.; Young, L. E., DNA methylation, insulin resistance, and blood pressure in offspring determined by maternal periconceptional B vitamin and methionine status. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **2007**, *104* (49), 19351-6.

225. Bellows, C. G.; Wang, Y. H.; Heersche, J. N.; Aubin, J. E., 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulates adipocyte differentiation in cultures of fetal rat calvaria cells: comparison with the effects of dexamethasone. *Endocrinology* **1994**, *134* (5), 2221-9.

226. Vu, D.; Ong, J. M.; Clemens, T. L.; Kern, P. A., 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D induces lipoprotein lipase expression in 3T3-L1 cells in association with adipocyte differentiation. *Endocrinology* **1996**, *137* (5), 1540-4.

227. Menendez, C.; Lage, M.; Peino, R.; Baldelli, R.; Concheiro, P.; Dieguez, C.; Casanueva, F. F., Retinoic acid and vitamin D(3) powerfully inhibit in vitro leptin

secretion by human adipose tissue. *The Journal of endocrinology* **2001**, *170* (2), 425-31.

228. Shi, H.; Norman, A. W.; Okamura, W. H.; Sen, A.; Zemel, M. B., 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 modulates human adipocyte metabolism via nongenomic action. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **2001**, *15* (14), 2751-3.

229. Jakobsen, J.; Maribo, H.; Bysted, A.; Sommer, H. M.; Hels, O., 25hydroxyvitamin D3 affects vitamin D status similar to vitamin D3 in pigs--but the meat produced has a lower content of vitamin D. *The British journal of nutrition* **2007**, *98* (5), 908-13.

230. Flohr, J. R.; Tokach, M. D.; Dritz, S. S.; DeRouchey, J. M.; Goodband, R. D.; Nelssen, J. L.; Bergstrom, J. R., An evaluation of the effects of added vitamin D3 in maternal diets on sow and pig performance. *Journal of animal science* **2014**, *92* (2), 594-603.

231. Guo, L.; Miao, Z.; Melnychuk, S.; Ma, H., Effects of maternal vitamin D-3 on quality and water distribution in pork of offspring pigs during frozen storage. *J Anim Feed Sci* **2020**, *29* (4), 330-337.

232. Fisher, A. V.; Enser, M.; Richardson, R. I.; Wood, J. D.; Nute, G. R.; Kurt, E.; Sinclair, L. A.; Wilkinson, R. G., Fatty acid composition and eating quality of lamb types derived from four diverse breed x production systems. *Meat science* **2000**, *55* (2), 141-7.

233. Simopoulos, A. P., The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. *Experimental biology and medicine*2008, *233* (6), 674-88.

234. Hu, F. B.; Manson, J. E.; Willett, W. C., Types of dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease: a critical review. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* **2001**, *20* (1), 5-19.

235. Katan, M. B., Nutritional interventions: the evidence. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **2000**, *59* (3), 417-8.

236. Liu, H. W.; Zhou, D. W., Influence of pasture intake on meat quality, lipid oxidation, and fatty acid composition of geese. *Journal of animal science* **2013**, *91* (2), 764-71.

237. Scherer, T.; O'Hare, J.; Diggs-Andrews, K.; Schweiger, M.; Cheng, B.; Lindtner, C.; Zielinski, E.; Vempati, P.; Su, K.; Dighe, S.; Milsom, T.; Puchowicz, M.; Scheja, L.; Zechner, R.; Fisher, S. J.; Previs, S. F.; Buettner, C., Brain insulin controls adipose tissue lipolysis and lipogenesis. *Cell metabolism* 2011, *13* (2), 183-94.
238. Buettner, C.; Camacho, R. C., Hypothalamic control of hepatic glucose production and its potential role in insulin resistance. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America* 2008, *37* (4), 825-40.

239. Gangloff, A.; Bergeron, J.; Lemieux, I.; Tremblay, A.; Poirier, P.; Almeras, N.; Despres, J. P., Relationships between circulating 25(OH) vitamin D, leptin levels and visceral adipose tissue volume: results from a 1-year lifestyle intervention program in men with visceral obesity. *International journal of obesity* **2019**.

240. Leung, P. S., The Potential Protective Action of Vitamin D in Hepatic Insulin Resistance and Pancreatic Islet Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Nutrients* **2016**, *8* (3), 147.

241. Semenkovich, C. F., Regulation of fatty acid synthase (FAS). *Progress in lipid research* **1997**, *36* (1), 43-53.

242. Yao, Y.; Zhu, L.; He, L.; Duan, Y.; Liang, W.; Nie, Z.; Jin, Y.; Wu, X.; Fang, Y., A meta-analysis of the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and obesity. *International journal of clinical and experimental medicine* **2015**, *8* (9), 14977-84.

243. Huang, Q. C.; Xu, Z. R.; Han, X. Y.; Li, W. F., Effect of dietary betaine supplementation on lipogenic enzyme activities and fatty acid synthase mRNA expression in finishing pigs. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **2008**, *140* (3-4), 11. 244. Suzuki, K.; Inomata, K.; Katoh, K.; Kadowaki, H.; Shibata, T., Genetic correlations among carcass cross-sectional fat area ratios, production traits, intramuscular fat, and serum leptin concentration in Duroc pigs. *Journal of animal science* **2009**, *87* (7), 2209-15.

245. Chen, J.; Yang, X.-J.; Tong, H.; Chen, J.; Zhao, R.-Q., Expressions of FAS and HSL mRNA in longissimus dorsi muscle and their relation to intramuscular fat contents in pig *Journal of Agricultural Biotechnology* **2004**, *12* (04), 5.

246. Barber, M. C.; Ward, R. J.; Richards, S. E.; Salter, A. M.; Buttery, P. J.; Vernon, R. G.; Travers, M. T., Ovine adipose tissue monounsaturated fat content is correlated to depot-specific expression of the stearoyl-CoA desaturase gene. *Journal of animal science* **2000**, *78* (1), 62-8.

247. Savage, A. W.; Warriss, P. D.; Jolley, P. D., The amount and composition of the proteins in drip from stored pig meat. *Meat science* **1990**, *27* (4), 289-303.

248. Savell, J. W.; Mueller, S. L.; Baird, B. E., The chilling of carcasses. *Meat science* **2005**, *70* (3), 449-59.

249. Jouki, M.; Khazaei, N., Effects of Storage Time on Some Characteristics of Packed Camel Meat in Low Temperature. *International Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances* **2011**, *3* (6), 460-464.

250. Chun, J. Y.; Min, S. G.; Hong, G. P., Effects of High-Pressure Treatments on the Redox State of Porcine Myoglobin and Color Stability of Pork During Cold Storage. *Food Bioprocess Tech* **2014**, *7* (2), 588-597.

251. Cheah, P. B.; Ledward, D. A., Inhibition of metmyoglobin formation in fresh beef by pressure treatment. *Meat science* **1997**, *45* (3), 411-8.

252. Xia, T.; Liu, D.; Xu, X.; Zhou, G.; Shao, J., Application of Low-field Nuclear Magnetic resonanace in determing water contents and other related quality characteristics of meat products: A review (in chinese). *The Food Industry* **2011**, *32* (21), 253-256.

253. McDonnell, C. K.; Allen, P.; Duggan, E.; Arimi, J. M.; Casey, E.; Duane, G.; Lyng, J. G., The effect of salt and fibre direction on water dynamics, distribution and mobility in pork muscle: a low field NMR study. *Meat science* **2013**, *95* (1), 51-8.

254. Pearce, K. L.; Rosenvold, K.; Andersen, H. J.; Hopkins, D. L., Water distribution and mobility in meat during the conversion of muscle to meat and ageing and the impacts on fresh meat quality attributes--a review. *Meat science* **2011**, *89* (2), 111-24.

255. Farouk, M. M.; Swan, J. E., Effect of rigor temperature and frozen storage on functional properties of hot-boned manufacturing beef. *Meat science* 1998, 49 (2), 233-47.

256. Hector, D. A.; Brew-Graves, C.; Hassen, N.; Ledward, D. A., Relationship between myosin denaturation and the colour of low-voltage-electrically-stimulated beef. *Meat science* **1992**, *31* (3), 299-307.

257. Rahelic, S.; Puac, S.; Gawwad, A. H., Structure of beef Longissimus dorsi muscle frozen at various temperatures: Part 1-histological changes in muscle frozen at -10, -22, -33, -78, -115 and -196 degrees C. *Meat science* **1985**, *14* (2), 63-72.

258. Lagerstedt, A.; Enfalt, L.; Johansson, L.; Lundstrom, K., Effect of freezing on sensory quality, shear force and water loss in beef M. longissimus dorsi. *Meat science* **2008**, *80* (2), 457-61.

259. Farouk, M. M.; Wieliczko, K. J.; Merts, I., Ultra-fast freezing and low storage temperatures are not necessary to maintain the functional properties of manufacturing beef. *Meat science* **2004**, *66* (1), 171-9.

260. Zhang, Z.; Regenstein, J. M.; Zhou, P.; Yang, Y., Effects of high intensity ultrasound modification on physicochemical property and water in myofibrillar protein gel. *Ultrasonics sonochemistry* **2017**, *34*, 960-967.

261. Sanchez-Alonso, I.; Martinez, I.; Sanchez-Valencia, J.; Careche, M., Estimation of freezing storage time and quality changes in hake (Merluccius merluccius, L.) by low field NMR. *Food Chemistry* **2012**, *135* (3), 1626-1634.

262. Renou, J. P.; Monin, G.; Sellier, P., Nuclear magnetic resonance measurements on pork of various qualities. *Meat science* **1985**, *15* (4), 225-33.

263. Anon, M. C.; Calvelo, A., Freezing rate effects on the drip loss of frozen beef. *Meat science* **1980**, *4* (1), 1-14.

264. Hong, G. E.; Kim, J. H.; Ahn, S. J.; Lee, C. H., Changes in Meat Quality Characteristics of the Sous-vide Cooked Chicken Breast during Refrigerated Storage. *Korean journal for food science of animal resources* **2015**, *35* (6), 757-64.

265. Cheng, S.; Wang, X.; Yang, H.; Lin, R.; Wang, H.; Tan, M., Characterization of moisture migration of beef during refrigeration storage by low-field NMR and its

relationship to beef quality. *Journal of the science of food and agriculture* **2020**, *100* (5), 1940-1948.

266. Guo, L. P.; Miao, Z. G.; Ma, H. J.; Melnychuk, S., Effects of maternal vitamin D-3 status on quality traits of longissimus dorsi muscle in offspring pigs during postmortem storage. *Livestock Science* **2021**, *243*.

267. Risvik, E., Sensory properties and preferences. *Meat science* 1994, *36* (1-2), 6777.

268. Kumar, Y.; Yadav, D. N.; Ahmad, T.; Narsaiah, K., Recent Trends in the Use of Natural Antioxidants for Meat and Meat Products. *Compr Rev Food Sci F* **2015**, *14* (6), 796-812.

269. Lee, Y. S.; Youm, G.; Owens, C. M.; Meullenet, J. F., Optimization of consumer acceptability and sensory characteristics for marinated broiler breast meat. *J Food Sci* **2011**, *76* (8), S478-84.

270. Wang, D. Y.; Dong, H.; Zhang, M. H.; Liu, F.; Bian, H.; Zhu, Y. Z.; Xu, W. M., Changes in actomyosin dissociation and endogenous enzyme activities during heating and their relationship with duck meat tenderness. *Food Chemistry* **2013**, *141* (2), 675-679.

271. Kang, Z. L.; Zhu, D. Y.; Li, B.; Ma, H. J.; Song, Z. J., Effect of pre-emulsified sesame oil on physical-chemical and rheological properties of pork batters. *Food Sci Tech-Brazil* **2017**, *37* (4), 620-626.

272. Martinez-Arellano, I.; Severiano-Perez, P.; Fernandez, F. J.; Ponce-Alquicira, E., Changes in the physicochemical and sensory characteristics in raw and grilled ovine meat. *Journal of the science of food and agriculture* **2013**, *93* (7), 1743-50.

273. Maqsood, S.; Abushelaibi, A.; Manheem, K.; Kadim, I. T., Characterisation of the lipid and protein fraction of fresh camel meat and the associated changes during refrigerated storage. *J Food Compos Anal* **2015**, *41*, 212-220.

274. Trabelsi, I.; Ben Slima, S.; Ktari, N.; Triki, M.; Abdehedi, R.; Abaza, W.; Moussa, H.; Abdeslam, A.; Ben Salah, R., Incorporation of probiotic strain in raw minced beef meat: Study of textural modification, lipid and protein oxidation and color parameters during refrigerated storage. *Meat science* **2019**, *154*, 29-36.

275. Lund, M. N.; Lametsch, R.; Hviid, M. S.; Jensen, O. N.; Skibsted, L. H., High-oxygen packaging atmosphere influences protein oxidation and tenderness of porcine longissimus dorsi during chill storage. *Meat science* **2007**, *77* (3), 295-303.

276. Sirinivasan, S.; Xiong, Y. L.; Decker, E. A., Inhibition of protein and lipid oxidation in beef heart surimi-like material by antioxidants and combinations of pH, NaCl, and buffer type in the washing media. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **1996**, *44* (1), 119-125.
APPENDICES

Item	Gestation			Lactation	Offspring	
	LD	ND	HD	Luciation	28-90 d	91-150 d
Formulated	200	800	3200	800	1215	1215
Analyzed	202	803	3210	802	1218	1219

Supplemental table 1 Analyzed dietary VD₃ levels (IU/kg)¹

¹ Dietary VD₃ levels were analyzed by using a combination of HPLC and mass spectrometry.

Supplemental table 2 Feed intake for sows and offspring pigs

Item	Treatment				D 1
	LD	ND	HD	S.E.M.	<i>P</i> -value
Gestation sows (d 41 to birth)					
ADFI, kg	3.43	3.47	3.49	0.151	0.198
Lactation sows (d 0 to d 28)					
ADFI, kg	5.01	5.05	5.08	0.410	0.323
Lactation piglets (d 0 to d 28, weaning)					
ADFI, g	183.98	185.97	191.02	7.610	0.448
	Growing pig	glets (d 28	to d 150)		
ADFI, kg	2.31	2.35	2.34	0.110	0.122

SEM, Standard error of the mean. ADFI, average daily feed intake.

Application testifies

By studying the effects of different VD₃ levels during pregnancy on lipid metabolism, meat quality characteristics and processing performance of offspring pigs, we determined that changing the VD₃ level of pregnant sows can effectively improve the quality characteristics and processing performance of offspring pork, and screened the best VD₃ addition level of pregnant sows (3200 IU/kg basic diet). The results will provide a scientific theoretical basis for the early nutritional regulation of pork quality during fetal period by regulating maternal dietary VD₃ status.

Our research results have been applied in Chinese pig breeding enterprises, such as Ji'an Nonghao Agricultural Development Co., Ltd, Henan heiyuan agriculture and animal husbandry technology Co., Ltd, and Chunfa farm in Shenqiu County. The application of the technology in these enterprises has obviously improved growth performance, meat quality of pigs, and the economic benefits of enterprises.

Application Testify

Application	Ji'an Nonghao Agricultural Development Co., Ltd
Enterprise	
Postal address	Chengxi Industrial Park, Jishui County, Ji'an City, Jiangxi Province, China
Starting and ending time	Sep, 6, 2020-now
Contact Person	Sun Shumeng (+86 17770662977)

Our enterprise has utilized the technology of Nutritional regulation of vitamin D_3 in pregnant sows to improve the quality of offspring pork. The technology can significantly regulate intramuscular fat content (from 1.62% to 2.54%), water holding capacity (from 75.58% to 79.62%) in offspring. Meanwhile, it can also improve meat color, shear force and meat quality attributes in offspring pigs. In our enterprise, the technology of adjusting maternal vitamin D_3 level during pregnancy to improve the quality characteristics of offspring pork has been widely used.

Ji'an Nonghao A

Topment Co., Ltd

Application Testify

Application	Henan heiyuan agriculture and animal husbandry		
Enterprise	technology Co., Ltd		
Postal address	No. 26, Jingwu Road, Jinshui District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, China		
Starting and Nov,12, 2020-now			
ending time			
Contact Person	Liu Quanzheng (+86 18638799699)		

Our enterprise has utilized the technology of Nutritional regulation of vitamin D_3 in pregnant sows to improve the quality of offspring pork from Nov 12, 2020 to now. The technology can significantly improve the growth performance, meat quality characteristics (intramuscular fat content, meat color, shear force, water holding capacity, fatty acid composition), eating quality and meat storage time in offspring pigs. The application of this technology in the company has significantly improved the economic benefits of the company of our company.

Henan heiyuan agriculture and mimal husbandry technology Co., Ltd

147

Application Testify

Application Enterprise	Chunfa farm in Shenqiu County
Postal address	Yuanzhuang administrative village, Baiji Town, Shenqiu County, Henan Province
Starting and ending time	Nov, 25, 2020-now
Contact Person	Yang Zhigang (+86 15294774629)

Our farm has utilized the technology of maternal vitamin D_3 levels during pregnancy to improve the growth performance, meat quality of offspring from Nov 25, 2020 to now. The technology increased the growth performance, improved intramuscular fat content, meat color, shear force, fatty acid composition of longissimus muscle, and meat quality in offspring. The application of this technology in our farm has significantly improved the economic benefits by about 10%.

